#### **ROADMAP • OPEN ACCESS**

## The 2022 Plasma Roadmap: low temperature plasma science and technology

To cite this article: I Adamovich et al 2022 J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 55 373001

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

#### You may also like

- LOCALIZATION AND BROADBAND FOLLOW-UP OF THE GRAVITATIONAL-WAVE TRANSIENT GW150914 B. P. Abbott, R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott et al.
- <u>LTP LISA technology package:</u> <u>Development challenges of a spaceborne</u> <u>fundamental physics experiment</u> R Gerndt and (forthe entire LTP Team)
- Narrowband Searches for Continuous and Long-duration Transient Gravitational Waves from Known Pulsars in the LIGO-Virgo Third Observing Run R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott, F. Acernese et al.





DISCOVER how sustainability intersects with electrochemistry & solid state science research



This content was downloaded from IP address 3.149.243.106 on 13/05/2024 at 09:32

IOP Publishing

J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 55 (2022) 373001 (55pp)

#### Roadmap

# The 2022 Plasma Roadmap: low temperature plasma science and technology

I Adamovich<sup>1</sup>, S Agarwal<sup>2</sup>, E Ahedo<sup>3</sup>, L L Alves<sup>4</sup>, S Baalrud<sup>5</sup>, N Babaeva<sup>6</sup>, A Bogaerts<sup>7</sup>, A Bourdon<sup>8</sup>, P J Bruggeman<sup>9,\*</sup>, C Canal<sup>10</sup>, E H Choi<sup>11</sup>, S Coulombe<sup>12</sup>, Z Donkó<sup>13</sup>, D B Graves<sup>14,15</sup>, S Hamaguchi<sup>16</sup>, D Hegemann<sup>17</sup>, M Hori<sup>18</sup>, H-H Kim<sup>19</sup>, G M W Kroesen<sup>20</sup>, M J Kushner<sup>21</sup>, A Laricchiuta<sup>22</sup>, X Li<sup>23</sup>, T E Magin<sup>24</sup>, S Mededovic Thagard<sup>25</sup>, V Miller<sup>26</sup>, A B Murphy<sup>27</sup>, G S Oehrlein<sup>28</sup>, N Puac<sup>29</sup>, R M Sankaran<sup>30</sup>, S Samukawa<sup>31</sup>, M Shiratani<sup>32</sup>, M Šimek<sup>33</sup>,

N Tarasenko<sup>34</sup>, K Terashima<sup>35</sup>, E Thomas Jr<sup>36</sup>, J Trieschmann<sup>37</sup>, S Tsikata<sup>38</sup>, M M Turner<sup>39</sup>, I J van der Walt<sup>40</sup>, M C M van de Sanden<sup>20,41</sup> and T von Woedtke<sup>42,43</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, United States of America

<sup>2</sup> Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Colorado School of Mines, Golden, CO, 80401, United States of America

<sup>3</sup> Equipo de Propulsión Espacial y Plasmas (EP2), Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Leganés, Spain

<sup>4</sup> Instituto de Plasmas e Fusão Nuclear, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade de Lisboa, Av. Rovisco Pais, 1049-001 Lisboa, Portugal

<sup>5</sup> Department of Nuclear Engineering and Radiological Sciences, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109, United States of America

<sup>6</sup> Joint Institute for High Temperatures, Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow 125412, Russia

<sup>7</sup> Research Group PLASMANT, Department of Chemistry, University of Antwerp, Universiteitsplein 1, B-2610 Wilrijk-Antwerp, Belgium

<sup>8</sup> Laboratoire de Physique des Plasmas (LPP), CNRS, Sorbonne Université, Ecole Polytechnique, Institut Polytechnique de Paris, 91120 Palaiseau, France

<sup>9</sup> Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, United States of America

<sup>10</sup> Biomaterials, Biomechanics and Tissue Engineering Group, Department of Materials Science and Engineering, and Research Centre for Biomedical Engineering (CREB), Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya (UPC), Av. Eduard Maristany 10-14, 08019 Barcelona, Spain

<sup>11</sup> Plasma Bioscience Research Center, Department of Electrical and Biological Physics, Kwangwoon University, 20 Kwangwon-Ro, Nowon-Gu, Seoul 01897, Republic of Korea

<sup>12</sup> Catalytic and Plasma Process Engineering, Department of Chemical Engineering, McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada

<sup>13</sup> Wigner Research Centre for Physics, Konkoly-Thege Miklos Street 29-33, Budapest H-1121, Hungary

<sup>14</sup> Princeton Plasma Physics Laboratory, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08543, United States of America

<sup>15</sup> Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, Princeton University, 50-70 Olden Street, Princeton, NJ 08540, United States of America

<sup>16</sup> Center for Atomic and Molecular Technologies, Osaka University, 2-1 Yamadaoka, Suita, Osaka 565-0871, Japan

<sup>17</sup> Advanced Fibers, Empa, Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials Science and Technology, 9014 St. Gallen, Switzerland

<sup>18</sup> Plasma Nanotechnology Research Center, Nagoya University, Nagoya 464-8603, Japan

<sup>19</sup> National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology (AIST), 16-1 Onogawa, Tsukuba, Ibaraki 305-8569, Japan

<sup>20</sup> Department of Applied Physics, Eindhoven University of Technology, PO Box 513, 5600 MB Eindhoven, The Netherlands

<sup>21</sup> Electrical Engineering and Computer Science Department, University of Michigan, 1301 Beal Ave, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-2122, United States of America

\* Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.



<sup>22</sup> CNR Institute for Plasma Science and Technology (ISTP) Bari Section, Bari, Italy

<sup>23</sup> State Key Laboratory of Electrical Insulation and Power Equipment, Xi'an Jiaotong University, No. 28 Xianning West Road, Xi'an, Shaanxi Province 710049, People's Republic of China

<sup>24</sup> Aeronautics and Aerospace Department, von Karman Institute for Fluid Dynamics, 1640 Rhode-St-Genèse, Belgium

<sup>25</sup> Department of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering, Clarkson University, PO Box 5705, Potsdam, NY 13699-5705, United States of America

<sup>26</sup> Department of Microbiology and Immunology, and Institute for Molecular Medicine and Infectious Disease, Drexel University, College of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA, United States of America

<sup>27</sup> CSIRO Manufacturing, PO Box 218, Lindfield, NSW 2070, Australia

<sup>28</sup> Department of Material Science and Engineering, and Institute for Electronics and Applied Physics, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, United States of America

<sup>29</sup> Institute of Physics, University of Belgrade, Pregrevica 118, 11080 Belgrade, Serbia

<sup>30</sup> Department of Nuclear, Plasma, and Radiological Engineering, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL 61801, United States of America

<sup>31</sup> Tohoku University, 2-1-1 Katahira Aoba-ku Sendai, Miyagi 980-8577, Japan

<sup>32</sup> Faculty of Information Science and Electrical Engineering, Kyushu University, Fukuoka 819-0395, Japan

<sup>33</sup> Department of Pulse Plasma Systems, Institute of Plasma Physics of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic

<sup>34</sup> B. I. Stepanov Institute of Physics, National Academy of Sciences of Belarus, 68-2 Nezalezhnasti Avenue, Minsk 220072, Belarus

<sup>35</sup> Department of Advanced Materials Science, Graduate School of Frontier Sciences, The University of Tokyo, 5-1-5 Kashiwanoha, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8561, Japan

<sup>36</sup> Department of Physics, Auburn University, Auburn, AL 36849, United States of America

<sup>37</sup> Theoretical Electrical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Kiel University, Kaiserstraße 2, 24143 Kiel, Germany

<sup>38</sup> ICARE, CNRS, 1C avenue de la Recherche Scientifique, F-45100 Orléans, France

<sup>39</sup> School of Physical Sciences and NCPST, Dublin City University, Dublin 9, Ireland

<sup>40</sup> Applied Chemistry Division, The South African Nuclear Energy Corporation SOC Ltd, PO Box 582, Pretoria 0001, South Africa

<sup>41</sup> Dutch Institute for Fundamental Energy Research (DIFFER), PO Box 6336, 5600 HH Eindhoven, The Netherlands

<sup>42</sup> Leibniz Institute for Plasma Science and Technology (INP Greifswald), Felix-Hausdorff-Straße 2, 17489 Greifswald, Germany

<sup>43</sup> Greifswald University Medicine, 17475 Greifswald, Germany

E-mail: adamovich.1@osu.edu, sagarwal@mines.edu, eduardo.ahedo@uc3m.es, llalves@ist.utl.pt, baalrud@umich.edu, nybabaeva@gmail.com, annemie.bogaerts@uantwerpen.be, anne.bourdon@lpp.polytechnique.fr, pbruggem@umn.edu, cristina.canal@upc.edu, ehchoi@kw.ac.kr, sylvain.coulombe@mcgill.ca, donko.zoltan@wigner.hu, dgraves@pppl.gov, hamaguch@ppl.eng.osaka-u.ac.jp, hdirk@ethz.ch, hori@nuee.nagoya-u.ac.jp, hyun-ha.kim@aist.go.jp, g.m.w.kroesen@tue.nl, mjkush@umich.edu, annarita.laricchiuta@cnr.it, xwli@mail.xjtu.edu.cn, magin@vki.ac.be, smededov@clarkson.edu, vam54@drexel.edu, tony.murphy@csiro.au, oehrlein@umd.edu, nevena@ipb.ac.rs, rmohan@illinois.edu, samukawa@ifs.tohoku.ac.jp, siratani@ed.kyushu-u.ac.jp, simek@ipp.cas.cz, n.tarasenko@ifanbel.bas-net.by, kazuo@plasma.k.u-tokyo.ac.jp, etjr@auburn.edu, jt@tf.uni-kiel.de, sedina.tsikata@cnrs-orleans.fr, miles.turner@dcu.ie, jaco.vanderwalt@necsa.co.za, M.C.M.v.d.Sanden@tue.nl and woedtke@inp-greifswald.de

Received 22 December 2021, revised 11 March 2022 Accepted for publication 15 March 2022 Published 5 July 2022



#### Abstract

The 2022 Roadmap is the next update in the series of Plasma Roadmaps published by *Journal of Physics* D with the intent to identify important outstanding challenges in the field of low-temperature plasma (LTP) physics and technology. The format of the Roadmap is the same as the previous Roadmaps representing the visions of 41 leading experts representing 21 countries and five continents in the various sub-fields of LTP science and technology. In recognition of the evolution in the field, several new topics have been introduced or given more prominence. These new topics and emphasis highlight increased interests in plasma-enabled additive manufacturing, soft materials, electrification of chemical conversions, plasma propulsion, extreme plasma regimes, plasmas in hypersonics, data-driven plasma science and technology and the contribution of LTP to combat COVID-19. In the last few decades, LTP science and technology has made a tremendously positive impact on our society. It is our hope that this roadmap will help continue this excellent track record over the next 5–10 years.

Keywords: low temperature plasma, roadmap, plasma science and technology, plasma diagnostics, plasma modeling, plasma material processing, plasma applications

(Some figures may appear in color only in the online journal)

#### Contents

Introduction	4
1. New plasma excitation and generation approaches	6
2. Extreme plasma regimes	8
3. Plasma–liquid interactions	10
4. Dusty plasmas	12
5. Atomic layer etching (ALE) and deposition	14
6. Nanostructures and nanomaterials	16
7. Additive manufacturing (AM) and coatings	18
8. Plasma engineering of soft materials and biomaterials	20
9. Medical plasma applications	22
10. Contribution of plasma to combat COVID-19	24
11. Plasma agriculture and innovative food cycles	26
12. Plasma pollution control	28
13. Electrification of chemical conversions	30
14. Plasma propulsion (PP)	32
15. Plasma assisted combustion and hypersonics	34
16. Thermal plasma applications	36
17. Plasma diagnostics	38
18. Theory, modeling and simulations	40
19. Diagnostics and modeling of plasma-surface interactions	42
20. Atomic, molecular and transport data	44
21. Data-driven plasma science and technology	46
Acknowledgments	48
References	49

#### Introduction

The Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics published the first and second Plasma Roadmap in 2012 and 2017, respectively [1, 2]. The 2022 Roadmap is the next update in the series of Plasma Roadmaps and consists of a series of short, formalized sections representing the visions of 41 leading experts representing 21 countries and five continents in the various subfields of low-temperature plasma (LTP) science and technology. The intention of the roadmap series is to identify outstanding challenges and provide guidance to the field of LTP physics and technology for colleagues, funding agencies, and government institutions and hopefully contribute to the field a more solid base for identifying needs in resources. The format of the 2022 Roadmap remains similar to the 2017 edition with two authors per section, as identified in each section, enabling a broad perspective for each subtopic. While each section is authored by different experts, one of the editors last minute contributed as a co-author to a second section that was originally assigned to a colleague who was unfortunately unable to contribute. Finally, as in the previous edition, author names are listed in alphabetical order.

In this roadmap, the focus is on LTPs. Even if some common basic phenomena exist between all types of plasmas, specific topics related to fusion plasmas, laser-induced plasmas, high energy density plasmas, beam-produced plasmas or space plasmas, while potentially touched upon in the context of LTPs, are not part of this roadmap. LTPs are usually generated by applying a voltage difference across electrodes to a gas or liquid. The resulting plasma is a quasi-neutral medium composed of positive and negative ions, electrons, photons and neutral (reactive) species. LTPs can be obtained at various pressures, usually from near vacuum to atmospheric pressure although higher density gasses are also studied. The ionization degree of LTPs is usually rather small but can reach up to 100% in thermal arc discharges, pulsed magnetron discharges, plasma thrusters or nanosecond pulsed plasmas in dense gasses or liquids. Interestingly, even at typical ionization degrees of 10<sup>-6</sup>-10<sup>-4</sup>, LTP properties differ substantially from those of a neutral gas. The name 'low-temperature plasma' finds its origin in the usually low gas temperature, i.e. the temperature of heavy species (ions and neutrals), which is much less than the electron temperature. This thermal nonequilibrium is a key parameter of LTPs as energetic electrons colliding with neutral species efficiently produce radicals and excited species. The obtained chemical reactivity at low gas temperatures is one of the main characteristics of LTPs and is of great interest for different applications. Nonetheless, the gas temperature and the level of thermal non-equilibrium of LTPs may vary. For example, thermal plasmas, which are typically also considered to be LTPs, operate usually close to thermal and chemical equilibrium with a gas and electron temperature of a few tens of thousands of Kelvin. A second key characteristic of LTPs is related to the charged species of different masses and energies present in these plasmas. In particular, close to surfaces, non-neutral sheaths are formed and the acceleration of ions in these sheaths can deliver fluxes of energetic ions to substrates. The tailoring and control of the production of ions and their energy upon arrival at a substrate augmented with reactive neutral chemistry enables a large diversity of surface etching and deposition applications. Finally, magnetic fields can be used to confine LTPs. The resulting dynamics of low-temperature magnetized plasmas is often very complex with various instabilities, mostly because electrons are magnetized whereas ions are often not or only partially magnetized.

In the last few decades, LTP science and technology has made a tremendous impact on our society. For example, the entire microelectronics industry is enabled by plasma-surface interactions which deposit and remove materials up to nanometer resolutions in the fabrication of microprocessors. More recently, electric propulsion systems are gaining importance for motion control of satellites orbiting Earth enabling our global communication and navigation (GPS) network. These are just two of the many possible examples illustrating the diversity of applications of LTPs at reduced pressure. At atmospheric pressure, thermal plasmas are widely applied in industry for welding and material processing. Dielectric barrier discharge plasmas have been used for several decades for ozone generation in water treatment plants. With the continued development in the generation of low-temperature nonequilibrium plasmas at atmospheric pressure a broad range of new application areas has emerged in the last decade including the establishment of new multidisciplinary research fields such as plasma medicine and plasma agriculture which are highlighted in this roadmap. We want to highlight that most current impactful LTP applications in industry have no alternative. When alternative methods exist, plasma processes are often considered, at first, as expensive either in equipment, energy consumption or due to the need of skilled operators. Therefore, most LTP research focuses on conditions not accessible by alternative technologies, where the unique properties of plasma processes are beneficial for the targeted applications or provide a green alternative. For example, LTPs provide significant opportunities for decarbonizing industrial processes. In this context, benchmarking plasma technologies with competing alternatives remains exceedingly important.

Low temperatures plasmas can be seen as a very complex system involving many often mutually interacting processes studied in the fields of electrodynamics, fluid mechanics, thermodynamics, chemistry, atomic and molecular physics, heat and radiation transfer, material and surface science, chemical engineering, electrical engineering and recently even biology and medicine. To understand and control nonequilibrium plasma processes, the bottleneck is usually to correctly identify the key phenomena involved. The study of LTPs needs to take into account spatial and temporal scales that span several orders of magnitude imposing many challenges for both modeling and diagnostics of which recent advances and remaining challenges are addressed in several sections of this roadmap.

While the format of the 2022 Roadmap remained identical as the 2017 Roadmap, in recognition of the evolution of our research field in the last 5 years, several new section topics have been introduced and the focus has changed in sections already included in the previous roadmap. In view of the increasing interest in additive manufacturing (AM) and plasma processing of soft materials including biomaterials we included two new sections on these topics. The LTP field has also actively responded to the challenges introduced by the COVID-19 pandemic due to the ability of plasmas to inactivate virus but also its long-term potential for medical treatments including contributions to vaccine development as discussed in a new dedicated section on this topic. In addition, plasmas in hypersonics have gained significant interest in view of their applications in planetary entry and cruise vehicles, as well as the demise of man-made space debris and are addressed in a dedicated section combined with plasma assisted combustion.

Motivated by recent scientific developments we also included specific sections on hot topics on 'diagnostics and modeling of plasma-surface interactions' and 'data-driven plasma science and technology'. Dusty plasmas, electrification of chemical conversions, plasma propulsion (PP) and extreme plasma regimes, while already part of the previous roadmap, have now been included as separate sections in recognition of the growing or continued extensive efforts in these topical areas in our research community. The inclusion of these new sections led to the reorganization of several topics covered in the 2017 Plasma Roadmap. This led for example to the inclusion of validation and particle transport in the modeling and atomic and molecular data section. The 2022 Roadmap does not have separate sections on flow control, plasmas in analytical chemistry and plasma metamaterials anymore. The descriptions on these topics in the 2017 Roadmap remain aligned with current research activities and new developments have been touched upon in other sections of the Roadmap.

The recent achievements of our community highlighted in the Roadmap define the LTP community as a highly innovative field with many advances in a broad range of applications. The exceedingly broad range of societal impact areas from space exploration to health care and sustainability and energy applications provides our community with opportunities to continue to diversify our research field while recognizing that targeted new efforts and initiatives for diversifying the researcher demographics would be welcome. While more opportunities for interdisciplinary collaborations

The success of many innovations in plasma science for a broader range of applications, as indicated for several applications in the 2022 Roadmap, requires plasma process optimization and scale up to enable a smooth translation from the laboratory scale research to industry and society. The development of fully predictive computational models that are physics and chemistry based, but also have the robustness to be used for design and optimization of devices remains a key priority. This requires a community wide effort involving code verification and validation and atomic and molecular data generation, curation, and validation. Recent international benchmark studies of codes used to model low-pressure magnetized plasmas and atmospheric pressure streamers illustrate that our community is ready to embrace the introduction of much needed community-wide developed reference benchmark cases involving complex phenomena as instabilities or wave propagation. In the last decade, the development of open-access databases with standardized atomic and molecular input data has been very beneficial for our community. The next step includes a joint effort of the atomic, molecular, and optical physics (AMO) and the plasma communities to measure or calculate missing data required to describe key elementary processes, and propose recommendations of reaction mechanisms to be used. Finally, due to the multiscale and multi-physics nature of LTPs, the comparison of experiments and simulations remains challenging.

Our community could benefit from more intense collaborations between experts working on plasma source development, diagnostics, and modeling and include more systematically sensitivity analysis and uncertainty quantification approaches. Developing such frameworks and more accessible computational and experimental capabilities would also enable us to more effectively train a new generation of scientists in fundamental LTP science that would be able to tackle many societal challenges in the coming decades and would be well placed to take on leadership roles in academia, research institutes and private R&D.

Anne Bourdon and Peter Bruggeman Editors of the 2022 Plasma Roadmap

## 1. New plasma excitation and generation approaches

Nikolai Tarasenko<sup>1</sup> and Peter Bruggeman<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Physics, Minsk, Belarus

<sup>2</sup> University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, United States of America

#### Status

The development of novel approaches to excite and generate plasma discharges has been motivated by the unique needs of the increasingly large amount of application areas being tackled by plasma technology. New plasma generation approaches are often required to generate plasmas in dense media including high pressure gases or liquids and pulsed generation of plasmas by ultra-high electric fields with durations as small as hundreds of picoseconds [3, 4].

In recent years, several combined discharge-laser approaches have been proposed for the fabrication of composite nanomaterials with specified parameters such as hybrid, doped and alloyed nanostructures [5]. Most approaches are based on the generation of discharges in and in contact with liquids (see section 3) as well as laser-induced plasmas in liquids [6]. Another nice example of a plasma source innovation based on a new theoretical concept is the low pressure inductively coupled array (INCA) source as shown in figure 1, where collisionless electron heating is enabled by periodically structured vortex fields, which produce certain electron resonances in velocity space [7]. A key advantage of the source is that the array can be scaled up to arbitrary dimensions while keeping its electrical characteristics.

In spite that low pressure plasma sources are being developed for semiconductor processing for decades and atmospheric pressure micro-plasmas became a corner stone of the LTP research field, there continue to be innovative developments in plasma excitation with as goal to control reactive species generation through pulse modulation and waveform tailoring techniques [8]. Ongoing efforts to optimize plasma excitation and sources are being pursued for a variety of applications including thruster source design for electric propulsion [9], plasma chemistry for nitrogen fixation [10], surface discharge reactors for efficient water treatment [11], gliding arc (GA) discharges with innovative electrode configurations for CO<sub>2</sub> conversion [12], a novel pin-hole plasma source in liquid for production of chemically active species [13], or atmospheric pressure glow discharges (APGDs) for inactivation of microorganisms [14]. In addition to plasma source design motivated by applications, new plasma generation approaches have also been motivated by fundamental plasma physics. There has been, for example, substantial progress in magnetized dusty plasma experiments (MDPXs) with as goal to understand the impact of the magnetic field on the coupling between the plasma and the charged dust particles which is of critical importance in space physics but also

![](_page_6_Picture_9.jpeg)

**Figure 1.** Photograph of the INCA source during operation (insert) and front view of the coils used to excite the plasma. Reproduced from [7]. © IOP Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved.

![](_page_6_Figure_12.jpeg)

Figure 2. Overview of plasma excitation and generation approaches currently being explored.

laboratory plasmas [15] (see also section 4). A summary of different plasma generation approaches is given in figure 2.

#### Current and future challenges

Despite the particular interest from an application perspective in a broad range of plasma sources, the often unique properties of the larger variety of plasma sources lead to many interesting unsolved questions. For example, many mechanisms underlying the breakdown processes and plasma formation in a complex molecular gas composition or even multiphase environment, especially with novel excitation approaches, remain to be explored. Many processes at atmospheric pressure or in dense media occur on sub-nanosecond up to microsecond timescales, which make the control of the breakdown process and resulting plasma parameters an exceedingly complex task. Our understanding of the initial ionization processes in dense media remains incomplete and we have insufficient collisional cross section data to describe the breakdown process or the process might not be fully described by the conventional Paschen or Meek breakdown criteria.

Recent studies explained the ability to create near full ionization on nanosecond timescales in pulsed nanosecond plasmas [16] and ultrafast gas heating in air but many aspects of such processes remain unclear particularly in more complex gas mixtures and dense media. Streamer formation and propagation has been studied for decades but their often-random nature remains an exceptional challenge for experimental studies and many efforts recently have focused on the development of plasma sources that enable the production of guided streamers in plasmas jets or smart multiple streamer experiments that enable the stabilization of a single streamer [17]. However, our understanding of surface ionization waves (SIWs) and streamer discharges on dielectric surfaces is just emerging. The strong interaction with surfaces can lead to self-organizing behavior, most likely resulting from memory effects associated with surface charge patterns or streamer-streamer interactions. Control of such behavior to enable homogeneous surface treatment or exploit advantages of self-organized patterns for deliberate inhomogeneous treatments remain out of reach. This self-organization behavior and plasma instabilities at elevated pressures lead also to challenges for plasma source scale-up at atmospheric pressure as required for many emerging applications.

Different plasma generation approaches lead to an equally broad range of chemical reaction conditions and products that can be formed even if the discharge is initiated in the same liquid/gas environment. While it is well established that desired plasma reactions can be initiated by channeling the electron energy into desired excitations that can be favored by the application of specific discharge excitation approaches, currently available predictive capabilities are not able to optimize plasma applications. Many applications require unique plasma excitation properties with high demands on power supplies. A smoother translation from research in the lab to industry put significant demand on plasma sources from a perspective of portability, scale up ability, energy efficiency and reliability.

### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The further development of stabilized plasma sources allowing reproducible plasma formation in space and time would significantly enhance the capability for detailed mapping of temporal and spatial evolution of the plasma generation. To study the inception, propagation, and dynamics of streamers in the volume or along the dielectric surfaces their guiding by a weak laser-induced pre-ionization can be applied. Both electrical and optical measurements with ns or even sub-ns temporal resolution can be applied to deduce a broad range of relevant plasma parameters. The further development and a more widespread implementation of three-dimensional plasma codes might be helpful to model the generation of filamentary plasmas and self-organization.

To meet the challenges related to achieving desired plasma processing conditions for specific applications, a detailed control of the plasma parameters might be needed and can be attained by voltage waveform tailoring requiring modifications and advances in power supply and delivery circuits. The threshold of translating technologies from the research lab to industry can possibly be lowered for low pressure plasmas by a continued focus on power supply development compatible with existing industrial equipment such as explored for voltage waveform tailoring and high power impulse magnetron sputtering (HiPIMS). Plasma processes and parameters are strongly linked to plasma generation and might benefit from more extensive datasets correlating plasma excitation and plasma properties which could be enabled by new development in diagnostics (see section 17). All these challenges would benefit of the further development of predictive modeling capabilities to overcome the often trial and error approach used for the development of novel plasma generation approaches.

Several applications such as electric propulsion and medical applications require miniaturization or portability of the plasma sources. While many low-pressure plasma material processing have been scaled-up successfully, scale up of plasma sources at high pressures for large scale applications becomes an increasingly important and deciding factor in the future success of novel plasma applications explored to date (see for example sections 11–13). As plasma instabilities put inherent limitations on power density and plasmas dimensions, this will require dedicated plasma source and process design allowing for easy parallelization of plasma sources as successfully achieved for AC excitation used in corona treatment and ozonizers but needs to be extended to a broader range of different excitation sources. As energy efficiency is often a key challenge for plasma technology, an efficient coupling of the electrical energy into the plasma is crucial.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The continued expansion of plasma-enabled applications, including interdisciplinary research areas require the development of new and unique plasma generation approaches. Plasma source design will undoubtedly remain a hot topic in the field of plasma technologies in the foreseeable future. Significant effort is needed to further optimize and extend plasma excitation approaches by detailed studies of the physical and chemical processes particularly at high pressure and in/near dense media. The complexity and variety of the accompanying processes requires further progress in diagnostic techniques as well as plasma modeling. In addition, progress in the design of power sources towards the miniaturization and portability of plasma generation systems as well as source and reactor designs that enable easy scale up will facilitate new plasmabased technological applications.

#### 2. Extreme plasma regimes

#### Kazuo Terashima<sup>1</sup> and Scott Baalrud<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The University of Tokyo, Chiba, Japan
 <sup>2</sup> University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, United States of America

#### Status

Advances in plasma science and technology are often preceded by the introduction of sources that enable access to new regimes. Historically, vacuum pumps allowed pioneers of the discipline to create low density plasma sources with modest dc energy supplies, which led to the development of efficient lighting and eventually dramatic improvements in microelectronics processing. The 2017 Plasma Roadmap summarized how the development of pulsed plasmas (with sub 50 ns electrical or optical excitation) and microplasmas (scales from 1 to 1000  $\mu$ m) have opened new areas of research by enabling generation of plasmas in previously unexplored media, including liquids, supercritical fluids (SCFs), and dense plasmas at interfaces. In the past 5 years this field has advanced significantly through the creation of plasmas in an expanding multitude of phases of matter [18], including high-pressure sparks [19], laser breakdown of high-pressure gases [20], plasmaliquid interfaces [21], and cavitating bubbles [22], as well as by advancing the ability to diagnose and model these plasmas. This research has changed the concept of what constitutes a 'plasma', expanding it beyond the traditional notion of an ionized gas into ionized states of liquids, SCFs, and multiphase media.

This section focuses on two active directions for exploring extreme states of LTPs (extreme LTP): low temperature (cryogenic plasmas from 300 K down to a few K), and high density (above atmospheric pressure in the gas phase or produced from condensed media) [18]; as illustrated in figure 3. Both examples illustrate how pulsed sources enable the production of plasmas in regimes that are traditionally condensed matter states. Although recombination occurs, rapid pulsation generates an essentially steady-state plasma at density and temperature conditions that would be liquids, solids, or SCFs at thermal equilibrium. The fundamental physics of such novel non-equilibrium plasmas is not well understood and should be advanced to explore their potentially promising properties. At the same time, these novel plasmas are being applied to industrial processes, such as etching [18], materials processing [18, 23], and chemical synthesis [18] with applications in biotechnology and medicine. It is also expected to be applied as a new frontier space environment simulator, such as that for ice planets in the outer solar system [24].

#### Current and future challenges

Extremes of low temperature and high density pose new challenges in diagnostics and modeling (see also sections 17–21). One of the largest current experimental challenges is that the sizes of such extreme plasmas are very small, typically to microspaces (<1 mm) (microplasma) and nanospaces (<1  $\mu$ m) (nanoplasma). Therefore, improved spatial resolution is required for plasma diagnostics. In addition, the damage to the reactors and walls caused by these plasmas and the impurities caused by them are serious problems. These current issues will continue to be serious also in the future.

An essential challenge in modeling is that interactions between some species (particularly ions) are strongly correlated. The strength of correlations can be estimated from the coupling strength parameter,  $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} = \phi_{\alpha\beta} (a_{\alpha\beta}) / k_{\rm B} T$ , where  $\phi_{\alpha\beta}(a_{\alpha\beta})$  is the interaction potential evaluated at the average distance between particles of species  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . Interactions are strongly correlated when  $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} > 1$ ; liquids are typically characterized by coupling parameters in the 10 s and solids in the 100 s. Plasma theory, modeling and experimental techniques have largely been developed from the perspective that plasmas are weakly correlated. For instance, the common kinetic and fluid equations (such as the Boltzmann equation) are based on the expansion parameter:  $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} \ll 1$ . Such methods are the basis for transport models and how we interpret many diagnostic measurements. The ability to model and measure extreme LTPs will require significant developments to these foundational concepts.

Advances in strongly coupled plasmas have been made outside of the traditional LTP field, primarily in the context of dense plasmas that arise in inertial confinement fusion, or in ultracold and non-neutral plasmas [25]. Although some of these developments can be applied to extreme LTPs, there are also important differences that limit the connection. When strong ion coupling is encountered in fusion contexts, electrons are often in a Fermi degenerate state. Another important distinction is the prominent role of neutrals in extreme LTPs. For instance, recent work by Hagelaar et al [26] has shown that electron-electron collisions in plasmas above atmospheric pressure are significantly influenced by the presence of neutrals. The same physics would also be expected to influence ion-ion collisions when the ion-neutral mean free path is less than approximately a Debye length; see figure 4. This defines a strong charge-neutral coupling regime where charge particle interactions are altered by neutrals.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

As mentioned in the section above, in general, these novel extreme plasmas have (a) a very small size of the plasma reaction field, (b) most of the plasmas are pulsed plasmas, which are transient phenomena in time, and (c) the energy density of the plasma is often large. As a result, plasma diagnostics and plasma process applications face significant difficulties in the present and the future. To solve problem (a), large-scale integration of small plasmas is expected. Through the development of plasma televisions, we have already acquired sufficient expertize in the technology of large-scale integration of plasmas, and future developments are expected. Regarding issues (a) and (b), improvement of spatial and temporal resolution of various plasma diagnostic methods, especially spectroscopic methods, is expected, and steady efforts are being made. As

![](_page_9_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 3. Two promising extreme plasma regimes: plasmas in high-pressure conditions above atmospheric pressure including SCFs plasmas and plasmas in cryogenic temperature conditions below room temperatures including cryoplasmas.

![](_page_9_Figure_4.jpeg)

**Figure 4.** Parameter space of strong ion-ion coupling at room temperature (gray shaded region), and strong charge-neutral coupling (green shaded region). Both regimes are encountered in cryoplasmas and high-pressure plasmas, including SCF plasmas. Here, the electron and ion neutral mean free path was estimated using a constant cross section value of  $\sigma \approx 2 \times 10^{-19}$  m<sup>-3</sup>.

for issue (c), the development of alloys and ceramic materials with high resistance to plasma damage is desired. In addition, ideas for new material selection, such as the use of superconducting materials as electrode materials, are also desired.

Because of the difficulty of diagnostic access, modeling is likely to be especially important for progress. Although microscopic physics, such as interactions, can be modeled by adapting the molecular dynamics (MD) techniques used in analytical chemistry and dense plasmas, modeling the macroscopic scale of experiments will require significant developments in numerical methods and kinetic theory. Particle-in-cell (PIC) techniques are perhaps the most common method used in LTPs. These solve a Boltzmann equation that applies only when the plasma is weakly coupled, and the numerical methods make assumptions, such as assigning large macroparticle weights and setting spatial resolution to a Debye length, that also only apply at weak coupling. Macroscopic scale simulations might be achieved by combining aspects of MD and PIC in a hybrid format. Alternatively, advances in plasma theory are providing accurate kinetic equations that can model strong correlation physics relevant to extreme LTP states [27, 28]. New approaches to kinetic simulations may follow if efficient algorithms can be developed to numerically solve these equations. It is also important to note that extreme LTP states interact strongly with boundaries [29, 30], and that photoionization and radiation transport can be significant [31, 32]. Accounting for these provides further challenges for theory and simulations.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Plasmas generated in extremes of low temperature or high density represent fundamentally new states that exhibit novel physical properties that can be utilized in applications. This research field is currently in an early exploratory stage but is already yielding beneficial applications in materials synthesis and materials processing. Advances in foundational science and modeling will be required to realize the full potential of this developing research field.

#### 3. Plasma-liquid interactions

#### Milan Šimek<sup>1</sup> and Mark J Kushner<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Institute of Plasma Physics of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic
 <sup>2</sup> University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, United States of America

#### Status

Plasmas sustained directly in liquids or interacting with liquids are being intensively investigated to address fundamental properties (e.g. plasma-to-liquid transport of reactive species, electron solvation), synthesis of novel nanomaterials and a growing use of plasma activated liquids in medicine, agriculture and environmental applications. These activities address both polar (e.g. water, ethanol, methanol) and non-polar (e.g. hydrocarbons with only C–C and C–H bonds, N<sub>2</sub>/Ar/He) liquids under conditions ranging from ambient to cryogenic. However, research during the past 5 years has been dominated by plasmas interacting with water, aerosols or aqueous solutions motivated, in part, by the rapid development of plasma medicine and agriculture, and synthesis of materials.

Nanosecond discharges in cryogenic liquid nitrogen were used to synthesize new materials, such as an energetic non-molecular form of nitrogen-rich materials [33]. Highresolution imaging (down to one micron and tens of picoseconds) and spectrometric diagnostics have enabled new insights into the coupled phenomena that control the initiation of ns discharges in liquid water [34]. A new mechanism for the multiplication of electrons inside electric-field-stretched nanovoids in water was proposed and computationally investigated, emphasizing the key role of secondary electron emission inside the cavity [35].

Progress has also been made in understanding plasmachemical processes at the plasma–liquid interface. This progress includes predictive modeling of the interfacial behavior of hydroxyl radicals and solvated electrons delivered to and created at the boundary of aqueous solutions [36], experimental measurements of oxygen atoms produced above the water surface and penetrating into the bulk liquid [37], studies of reactive oxygen species induced oxychlorine chemistry in saline solutions [38], evidence of modification of dissolved biomarkers in complex liquid media [39], role of ultrafast photochemistry at the gas–liquid interface [40], and production of nitrogen compounds such as ammonia and nitrate ions from active nitrogen species impinging on the water surface [41].

The synthesis of new materials, and nanomaterials in particular, from plasma-driven solution electrolysis (PDSE) has emerged as a new research area [42]. PDSE augments conventional electrochemistry by replacing one (or both) electrodes with a plasma in contact with the liquid. This configuration enables large fluxes of electrons (or ions) to impinge on the surface to produce, for example, a highlyreducing environment. Plasma produced radicals or stable species that hydrolyze in solution are also introduced. PDSE is being investigated for synthesis of nanoparticles and chemical conversion [43]. Much of the focus of research in PDSE is on creating non-equilibrium conditions at the plasma–liquid interface, and on the disposition of solvated electrons [44].

The investigation of plasma-self-organization of SIWs on liquid surfaces has contributed to improved understanding of mechanisms and transport processes of these unique structures [21]. The investigation of plasma activation of aerosols and droplets has produced advanced in our understanding of plasma–liquid interfacial transport and methods to customize the chemical reactivity of the droplets for applications such as high-nitrate liquid fertilizer [45] and ammonia production [46] (see also section 12).

#### Current and future challenges

Considerable uncertainty remains about processes underlying formation of microfilaments from electric field-stretched nanovoids during breakdown of discharges in polar liquids. Modeling of electron acceleration and multiplication in the cavitation-controlled environment remains to be a challenge of fundamental importance. Novel diagnostic approaches performed with sub-ns and micron resolution are required to identify signatures differentiating the direct breakdown from bubble-assisted breakdown. It is also important to clarify the dynamics of formation of sub-micron sized bubbles in periodic discharges which may impact successive discharges. Microbubbles have long charge-stabilized lifetimes and may form suspensions that would decrease potential barriers to breakdown (eventually leading to changes in the discharge mechanism). A related challenge is understanding the mechanisms of pulsed discharges in immiscible liquids composed of layers of polar and non-polar fluids.

Optimizing plasmas in contact with liquids for applications requires a better understanding of the transport of plasma-produced species into the liquid, while accounting for the dynamics of the gas-liquid and plasma-liquid interfaces. These dynamics include deformation of the liquid surface, plasma induced convection in the liquid, heating of the liquid and subsequent change in the saturated vapor layer, temperature dependence of Henry's laws constants, the consequences of photoionizing and photo-dissociating radiation and processes involving solvated electrons. The role of adsorption on transport into the liquid of plasmaproduced species is poorly understood in spite of analogues of adsorption on aerosols studied in atmospheric chemistry. Understanding this transport will require deconstructing complex interface interactions into elementary processes (e.g. photon-driven processes) influencing charge transfer, interfacial instabilities, fluid flows and chemical activation. Experimental and theoretical efforts should include not only simple liquids (such as deionized/distilled water or saline), but also liquids with complex organic and inorganic content (such as nutrition media, solutions containing lipids/proteins).

There are many potential applications of these fundamental plasma–liquid processes, particularly in research related to electrification of the chemical industry and synthesis of nanomaterials. Each have their own challenges. For example, plasma-assisted wastewater treatment to remove pharmaceutical pollutants is challenged by low energy efficiency. Except for niche applications or production of high value materials, scaleup of plasma–liquid systems to municipal or industrial scales require significant improvements in efficiency, ranging from optimized impedance matching of pulsed power delivered to the plasma–liquid system, to optimizing transport of plasma produced species to the liquid interface. The latter may be achieved by leveraging plasma-to-liquid systems having large surface-to-volume ratios such as thin films or droplets, or systems with high rates of mixing.

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Due to the complex multi-phase nature of plasmas in liquids or plasmas interacting with liquids, a major experimental challenge is improving reproducibility of measurements, to capture single-shot events or devising better statistical methods to analyze the data. This challenge results from the filamentary nature of the micro-discharges, instability of plasma– liquid interface, uncontrolled plasma-produced convection in the liquid, drift during long-duration experiments (temperature, liquid conductivity and composition, liquid pH). Standard noise-reduction techniques will likely not address this complexity. Progress may be made by applying machine learning analysis and techniques constrained by the known physics.

New in-situ, real-time techniques are required to determine absolute densities of transient species in the liquid phase and in the saturated vapor layer with a time and spatial resolution that are compatible with characteristic plasma scales. These measurements may utilize short pulse (fs/ps/ns) laser-based techniques to overcome high rates of collisional broadening and quenching. Although developing, for example, in-liquid laser diagnostics for real-time measurements will be extremely challenging, there are few alternatives to obtain measurements of transient and short-lived species. The need for these diagnostics is particularly great in PDSE and plasma-touching conditions where electron solvation occurs, and where the accompanying reactive boundary layers may be only tens of nm thick. In-liquid dissociative processes at the plasma-liquid interface (due to charge exchange, photolysis and energetic particle bombardment) likely lead to Franck-Condon heated fragments, in analogy to gas phase hot-atom chemistry. The possible in-liquid non-equilibrium resulting from these events should be investigated and quantified. The roles of photolysis and photoionization, and possible in-liquid hot-electron production, by vacuum ultraviolet (VUV) photons incident from surface-touching plasmas are poorly understood. The use of second harmonic generation (SHG) and sum frequency generation (SFG) to interrogate plasma-solid interactions is a burgeoning field, techniques which can also be applied to the liquid surface. These techniques would also aid investigation of self-organization.

A great challenge in the modeling of the plasma-liquid boundary and in-liquid discharges is the lack of fundamental reaction rate and cross-section data developed specifically for the liquid phase. Models now typically rely on gas-phase

![](_page_11_Figure_7.jpeg)

**Figure 5.** Rapid progress in understanding plasma liquid interactions requires significant improvements in fundamental data, ranging from adsorption probabilities to ion mobilities. The complexity of current systems makes such measurements difficult. Deconstructing complex experiments into *unit-operations* akin to swarm and beam experiments will be required to make unambiguous measurements of fundamental parameters. These efforts must be augmented by theory and computations (e.g. MD).

data whose extrapolation to the condensed phase is questionable. The equivalent of classical swarm and scattering experiments and generalized theoretical expressions would advance plasma–liquid modeling. A focus on modeling transport from the gas phase into the liquid is required while accounting for adsorbed layers, energetic particles, testing the validity of equilibrium assumptions (such as Henry's law limits at the surface) and atomistic processes. In addition to modeling of plasma, leveraging high-performance-computing for MD and quantum chemical simulations may be necessary to obtain atomistic data (e.g. accommodation coefficients, rates of solvation) (see figure 5). The onset of convection in the liquid by plasma generated forces is poorly understood from both modeling and experimental perspectives.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The complexity of plasmas in liquids or in contact with liquids, difficulties with reproducibility and the inter-related fundamental processes ask for a more deliberate systematic approach to the investigation of these phenomena. The LTP field has greatly benefited from standard plasma sources to enable lab-to-lab comparisons and to establish well characterized baselines. A similar set of standard configurations for plasma-liquid studies would serve the field well. Investigation of gas phase plasmas has advanced by decomposing the system into a set of relatively independent fundamental processes that can be individually studied. Plasma-liquid interactions would similarly benefit from such a deconstruction. Doing so might require specialized experiments and modeling to isolate the fundamental process for study. Widespread applications require technology advances in scaling plasma treatment of liquids to industrially interesting flow rates with high efficiency. Diagnostic-based control will be needed to address the synergy between the plasma-activated species and in-liquid components (e.g. organics, cells).

#### 4. Dusty plasmas

#### E Thomas Jr<sup>1</sup> and G M W Kroesen<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Auburn University, Auburn, United States of America
 <sup>2</sup> Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven, The Netherlands

#### Status

Dusty (complex) plasmas are four-component systems in which charged, solid particulate matter (i.e. 'dust' particles) joins the background of electrons, ions, and neutral atoms. The dust particles are typically nanometers to micrometers in diameter and become charged due to the direct collection of electrons and ions or a variety of other energetic processes, e.g. thermionic emission or photocharging. Irrespective of the charging mechanism, the net charge on the dust particles, from tens of charges for nm-sized particles up to thousands of charges for micron-sized particles, combined with the resultant low charge-to-mass ratio couples the dust to the plasma. Dusty plasma research originated in attempts to understand dust formation and transport in the solar system [47, 48]. Upon the discovery of dust generation in reactive plasmas, the field rapidly evolved into a distinct sub-discipline that has both fundamental scientific interest and important impacts for plasma applications [49, 50]. One can distinguish between studies using larger particles (micrometers), where fundamental understanding has been able to mature longer, and studies of small particles (nanometers), where fundamental understanding has only recently begun to develop. Figure 6 shows an example of a dusty plasma of micrometer-sized particles in a laboratory experiment.

The large size and low charge-to-mass ratio of the dust particles, means that dusty plasmas can exist from weakly to strongly coupled regimes, while being directly imaged using conventional high-speed camera technologies. Consequently, dusty plasmas not only enable kinetic-level measurements of plasma phenomena, the access to a wide range of coupling regimes allow these systems to serve as analogues for fluid and soft-matter systems and a platform to investigate problems in statistical physics [51, 52].

Dust particles can form from the gas phase in reactive plasmas and remain a critical source of contamination. Furthermore, in plasma processing equipment, dust particles are generated by wear and tear, charged negatively by free electrons, and then trapped in the plasma glow. However, the ability to selectively form and process nanodust (sizes less than 100 nm) to enhance the structural, electrical, or mechanical properties of materials is a rapidly emerging industry [53–55]. With the shrinking feature sizes in the semiconductor industry, the 'killer' particle size has decreased from microns to nanometers (see sections 5 and 6). This implies that the electrical charging mechanisms have to be revisited because, at these sizes, particles may exhibit positive and negative charges.

![](_page_12_Picture_9.jpeg)

**Figure 6.** Photograph of dust waves in an argon plasma in the MDPX device. This illustrates the fluid-like properties that can be investigated using dusty/complex plasmas. Photo: Wittenberg University and Auburn University.

#### **Current and future challenges**

Dusty/complex research has made significant advances in both the ability to manipulate the particles in laboratory and industrial settings as well as achieving a degree of predictive capabilities to understand particle formation and dynamics. While the study of dusty plasmas consisting of micrometer-sized particles is well-advanced, much work remains to be done on plasmas containing nanoparticles. Ongoing and future work is needed in areas such as:

Controlling particle synthesis and morphology. One of the most exciting and challenging areas of research is the synthesis of nanoparticles in reactive plasmas. This provides insight to questions ranging from the initial processes in solar system formation to improvements in the structural strength of microelectronics. These problems involve detailed understanding of dynamics of free electrons and ions as well as the hundreds of underlying chemical pathways that drive particle formation. In most studies, the particles form spherical particles or agglomerates of spherical particles. Developing new processes that could lead to controlling the particle morphology (e.g. nanorods or other complex shapes) has the potential to create new applications for nanodusty plasmas and is explored in greater detail in section 6.

Determination of particle charge. The real-time, *in-situ* determination of the particle charge has been a challenge. For example, figure 7 shows an example of an experimental

![](_page_13_Picture_2.jpeg)

**Figure 7.** Dust particles falling in a plasma afterglow. The electrodes on the sides induce a static electrical field, which allows the study of charging, de-charging and drift of dust particles. This knowledge is used for the prediction of particle behavior in lithography-related plasmas. Photo: Eindhoven University of Technology. Reproduced with the permission of Bart van Overbeeke Fotografie.

setup to determine particle charge from electrostatic deflection [56]. While there are numerous advanced models for estimating the particle charge, complementary experimental investigations with sufficiently small error bars to definitively distinguish among the models remain elusive. Moreover, as research extends into new regimes, e.g. nanoparticles, magnetized plasmas, high pressure/atmospheric pressure plasmas, where orbit motion limited based models are no longer valid, new experimental and theoretical techniques must be developed.

Beyond electrostatic levitation and confinement. The majority of ground-based, laboratory dusty plasma studies are based on a 'zero-order' force model in which the gravitational force on the micron-sized dust particles is balanced by an electrostatic levitation force. As research interests expand to focus on smaller (nm) particles, microgravity systems [57], magnetized plasmas [15], and/or strong ion-flow dominated systems where ion-dust or dust–dust forces are comparable in strength to electrostatic forces, it is critical to develop a more complete understanding of these forces.

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

In order to address the challenges identified above, new advances in theoretical, computational, and experimental techniques are required. Some of the most critical needs are in the three areas identified below.

Self-consistent, multi-scale modeling. A critical challenge in the study of the dusty/complex plasmas is the lack of fully self-consistent models. Whether considering either mass ( $m_{dust} \sim 10^{15} m_{electron}$ ) or charge-to-mass ( $q_{dust}/m_{dust} \sim 10^{-11} q_e/m_e$ ) ratios, these wide differences challenge the ability to create models that can describe these systems. Developing new open-source computational tools, coupled with new theoretical approaches that also include modules that incorporate chemical pathways for particle growth studies, is an important need for the research community.

*Diagnostic developments.* As in all parts of plasma physics, the development of new diagnostic tools is a constant need. For dusty/complex plasmas, there are two particular needs. First, for nanoparticle systems, the development of real-time, submicron imaging diagnostics will be of great value. Possibly based on pulsed ultraviolet (UV) light sources, in order to minimize photocharging of the particles, such tools may provide new insights into the coupling between the dust particles and the plasma. Second, the development of new techniques that allow experimenters to non-perturbatively determine the charge on the dust grains is critical to differentiate among the various charging models.

*Extending dusty plasmas.* As the types of LTP systems expand to new regimes, this provides opportunities to extend the application of the dusty plasma concept, tools, and analysis techniques to these systems. The formation of so-called 'misty' plasmas that involve charged liquid-droplets [58], 'dust' particles consisting of active matter [59], and beyond, inorganic materials, controlling and trapping micron-sized, airborne bioaerosols and pathogens [60] offer new opportunities to everage the advances made in dusty plasma research to other physical systems.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The study and application of dusty/complex plasmas remains a vibrant area of scientific research. As the field has grown over the past three decades, there has been somewhat of a self-separation among the various subtopics, i.e. dusty plasmas in space and astrophysical systems, complex plasmas as analogues for soft-matter systems, and nanodust as an industrial commodity in plasma manufacturing. Each of these areas relies on a basic understanding of the coupling between charged, solid particulate matter and the surrounding plasma and future efforts need to be made for these different communities of researchers to re-engage with each other. For a robust future of dusty/complex plasma research and applications, we believe researchers will need to form collaborative networks that unite experimental, theoretical, and computational tools to solve the challenging, multi-scale problems that arise this in work.

#### Roadmap

#### 5. Atomic layer etching (ALE) and deposition

#### Seiji Samukawa<sup>1</sup> and Gottlieb Oehrlein<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Tohoku University, Miyagi, Japan
 <sup>2</sup> University of Maryland, College Park, United States of America

#### Status

Realizing manufacturing of 7 nm advanced semiconductor technology has been enabled by revolutionary advances in patterning, the emergence of 3D devices and integration. Now, logic device roadmaps predict significant change in the form and nature for 3 and 2 nm generation devices referred to as 3/2 nm (e.g. III-V's, SiGe, Ge, nanowires, nanosheets and heterogeneous complementary-field effect transistor (FET)) and discussion of novel memory with a host of novel materials is commonplace. Even with these changes, fabrication technology will need to address ultrahigh aspect ratios (ARs), damage-free processing and the maintenance of complex profiles through many process steps. During the last decade, a great deal of efforts have focused on achieving atomic-scale etching and deposition processes in semiconductor fabrication, i.e. ALE [61, 62] and atomic layer deposition (ALD) [63, 64]. The major challenges associated with these techniques are related to smaller dimensions, higher ARs, and a larger set of materials. Another major theme in semiconductor processing that is coming to the forefront is manufacturing of increasingly 3D structures as lateral features are approaching dimensions that are just a few nanometers for scaled down devices (see also section 6).

The 2017 Roadmap pointed out many essential challenges in the area of plasma etching and deposition. As we will see from the description below, most of the challenges articulated in the 2017 Roadmap still apply, and in fact have increased, e.g. driven by higher AR, more materials against which etching selectivity is required, or need for area-selective deposition. The achievement of atomically abrupt material selectivity in ALE using novel chemical precursors, isotropic ALE processes for a number of important materials, along with impressive demonstrations of area (material) selective deposition for a significant number of materials are important advances.

#### Current and future challenges

As indicated, interest in ALE has increased considerably in the last decade [61–64]. Although some of the recent work can more accurately be termed nano-scale layer-by-layer etching, it is undeniable that the nanoelectronics industry is seeking etch solutions that remove materials with atomic precision, high selectivity between materials, and leaving the unetched material atomically pristine. With respect to plasmaenhanced ALE, these techniques can be classified into ion energy assisted etch methods to directionally etch Si, SiO<sub>2</sub>, Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub>, and organic polymers. Neutral-beam-enhanced ALE (NBALE) has attracted attention as one method to address the challenges of atomic precision plasma processing because of eliminating the incidence of charged particles and UV photons on the substrate [65, 66]. These attributes enable precise nano-processing, while suppressing the formation of defects at the atomic layer level. Sub 6 nm Fin-FETs produced in this way are shown in figure 8(a) and for a 3/2 nm heterogeneous complementary-FET in figure 8(b) [65, 66]. Especially, 3 and 2 nm generation devices require bonding of heterogeneous channel materials (for example, Si/Ge, Si/GaN). Then, atomic layer neutral beam thinning and bonding technology for channel materials are required [66].

Area selective deposition (ASD) is an enabling technology that because of its substrate sensitivity has advantages relative to traditional ALD processes [67, 68]. Many enhanced processing challenges are made difficult by the highly heterogeneous chemical make-up of the surfaces of complex substrates that are required for advanced devices. For these situations, material selective deposition enabled by ASD, is a key advantage. While selective deposition processes have long been used in the semiconductor industry, such high-temperature reactions are not suitable for many materials. Low substrate temperature processes can be realized using plasma excitation and achieve high materials sensitivity of growth. An example of the performance of area-selective deposition of TiN is illustrated in figure 9 [69]. The process consists of several cycles that include dosing with inhibitor molecules at the start of every ALD cycle-in their case aromatic molecules which gave good metal/dielectric selectivity because of their strong and selective adsorption on transition metal surfaces [63].

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

With plasma processing increasingly requiring atomic level precision, future developments will greatly benefit from research in several areas. The fundamentals of materialplasma interaction at the atomic scale (in particular during ALE and ASD) are not well understood. Surface analytical techniques for ALE and ASD, can help in this regard. The ion energy in many industrial plasma sources may be too high for atomic-precision materials processing. The ion energy can be reduced by pulsing the radiofrequency (RF) sources. Irrespective of the plasma source, better control over ion energy and angular distribution (IEAD) and the electron energy distribution is needed [70]. One of the key issues in processing of high AR structures is the lack of knowledge of key factors which limit processing as a function of AR. This is related to the lack of knowledge of both neutral and ionic (neutral beam) species fluxes, and their composition and energies within such structures as a function of AR, and the surface-chemical mechanisms that are operative and limit processing. One of the challenges is the development of physical/chemical characterizations of these parameters as a function of AR for increasingly diverse material sets and structures. An additional complication is that these effects are highly sensitive to the exact layout and material design of the microscopic structures that are

## **Advanced CMOS Technology**

![](_page_15_Picture_3.jpeg)

![](_page_15_Picture_4.jpeg)

Figure 8. Advanced complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) devices fabricated by NBALE. © 2007 IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from [65]. © 2004 IEEE. Reprinted, with permission, from [66].

![](_page_15_Figure_7.jpeg)

Figure 9. Demonstration of selective deposition  $\sim 6$  nm TiN on SiO<sub>2</sub> and Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> areas of a nanoscale pattern with Co and Ru non-growth areas. Reproduced with permission from [69]. CC BY-NC 4.0.

being produced. Comprehensive computational simulations of such processes are producing important insights, and validation of these approaches will be required [71] (see also section 19). Atomistic modeling of ALE processes can leverage significant advances that have been achieved in the application of computational modeling methods to ALD processes. For an example of this to thermal ALE of aluminum oxide thin films, the reader is referred to the work by Yun *et al* [72]. They describe for this problem the application of density functional theory (DFT) -based electronic structure calculations and evaluate possible reaction pathways and kinetic parameters using kinetic Monte Carlo methods. This appears prototypical, and extensions to energy-driven directional ALE approaches may be possible.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Plasma materials processing remains one of the vital technologies for nanoelectronics fabrication. The need for atomiclevel precision for many plasma etching and deposition processes has been accepted by industry, and has prompted the development and exploration of techniques that enable better control of the ion/neutral-beam energy and angular distribution, electron energy distribution, reactive neutral to ion flux ratio, e.g. by using novel precursors for more effective surface functionalization [73], and the UV photon flux [65, 66]. Future advances in the field will benefit from good fundamental understanding of low energy synergistic (<20 eV) ion-radical interactions with materials. Although the emphasis here has been on ALE and ASD that are controlled by plasma pulsing, other techniques to achieve atomic scale control, such as self-assembled structures, also show promise. One of the key enablers of advanced etching and deposition processes is the use of self-limited surface reactions. The computational work [71] mentioned in the last section can be viewed as exemplary for the general value and opportunity of simulation approaches to investigate many issues connected with advanced etching and deposition approaches that may be impossible or impractical to examine directly experimentally, and impact future scientific and technological advances.

#### 6. Nanostructures and nanomaterials

David Graves<sup>1</sup> and Sylvain Coulombe<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Princeton University, Princeton, United States of America
 <sup>2</sup> McGill University, Montréal, Canada

#### Status

As noted in the 2017 Roadmap [74], plasma nanomaterial synthesis complements methods such as solution, vapor phase and aerosol processing. The interest in nanostructures and nanomaterials has only grown in recent years due to applications ranging from advanced electronics to sensors and healthrelated applications. Plasma for nanomaterial processing has many potentially powerful roles for both organic and inorganic materials. Plasma can be created and maintained in an enormous number of ways and the corresponding set of effects on nanostructured surfaces and particles is equally large. For example, the degree of gas and surface heating can range from negligible to large. Plasma-generated ions and reactive radical alter both gas phase precursor formation as well as directly alter surface conditions. Plasma creates photons, typically from the visible to the vacuum UV. There are widely documented effects of synergies in plasma materials processing. But in addition, the types of plasma and the conditions under which plasma is generated can vary dramatically as well. Plasma can be maintained in a steady- or quasi-steady state or it can be pulsed and transient. It can be relatively homogeneous and uniform, or it can form filaments or jets. Particles and surfaces in contact with plasma can be solid or liquid. The net result is a virtually limitless set of conditions to explore to find some approximately optimal set of design and operating parameters for the nanomaterial synthesis or processing task at hand.

One set of approaches to use plasma for nanostructured materials is referred to as 'atomic layer processing'. Atomic scale etching of a surface with plasma can be performed (see section 5), but the use of plasma for approximate atomic layer addition or deposition is better developed and will be stressed here [63]. Another set of approaches discussed in this article focuses on the formation and transport of nanostructured materials directly in the plasma environment, with the aim to produce 0D (nanoparticles), 1D (nanotubes), 2D (nanosheets and flakes) and 3D nanomaterials. The challenge of creating nanostructured materials is now emerging as a key theme in the semiconductor industry as new, post-silicon materials, sculpted with atomic scale precision, are increasingly in demand. The need for plasma processes for fabricating defectfree nanostructured materials is a cross-cutting demand in multiple fields. Plasma synthesis of nanostructured materials enables current and near-future technological materials, but we also discuss how our insatiable needs for performance and increased emphasis on sustainability drive new developments in the field.

#### Current and future challenges

In the burgeoning area of plasma-assisted ALD (PALD), important advances in understanding how to minimize damage from energetic ions and the unwanted redeposition of ALD reaction species have been made [63, 75]. One promising recent development exploits the ability of gentle plasmas to chemically activate otherwise chemically inert surfaces. This has been shown for 2D van der Waals materials through the plasma-generation of reactive sites at surfaces, but little is known about these effects in other systems [76]. Further, recent studies in plasma etching have shown the importance of plasma-generated UV and VUV photons in surface chemistry but this effect has not been extensively explored to date in PALD [77]. The role of the energy flux density of species impacting the surface in controlling nanostructure has begun to be explored but much work remains [78, 79].

Nanomaterial synthesis in thermal plasma reactors is studied since the 1990s, with an initial focus on refractory materials [80]. The thermal plasma was initially used as a source of heat and momentum and conditions for nuclei formation and growth, but gradually more for complex high-temperature chemistry. Non-equilibrium, cold plasmas provide milder heating conditions that permit the synthesis of organic nanomaterials and core-shell nanostructures of vastly different materials, and a finer control of the surface chemistry which is essential for stabilization and compatibilization with a host matrix [81]. Precursors include solid targets, micronsized particles, aerosols, slurries, liquids and gases. Pulsed laser ablation of solid targets in gases and liquids (another plasma-based approach) [82] provides additional versatile environments for nanomaterial synthesis, and deposition of nanoparticles over nanomaterials [83]. One particular area of fast-growing interest is the synthesis of 2D nanomaterials. Such novel materials which consist of thin layers-thickness possibly down to one atomic layer with nanometers extent in the other two dimensions offer high surface atoms-to-bulk atom ratios, adaptable surface chemistry and quantum effects of interest to quantum information science and catalysis, to name a few promising applications.

A corollary of the above-mentioned wide range of processing conditions and associated parameter sensitivity is the need to maintain tight control of the plasma. This can be challenging since plasma is a highly non-linear state of matter and small changes in conditions or seemingly minor external perturbations can alter plasma dynamics significantly and ultimately, the properties of the nanostructured materials. Automation, machine learning and artificial intelligence [84] are today's tools to integrate with plasma processing and online diagnostic equipment. But our ability to characterize the produced nanomaterials *in-situ*, for rapid screening purposes at the very least, often becomes a bottleneck.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Plasma synthesis of nanostructures and nanomaterials involves understanding and controlling the bidirectional

![](_page_17_Figure_2.jpeg)

**Figure 10.** Schematic view of the vast realm of plasma source-precursor combinations for nanostructure/nanomaterial synthesis (left) and possible outcomes of plasma-nanostructure/nanomaterial interactions in an application context (right). Non-exhaustive list of science, engineering and system tools required for the development of a sustainable plasma-based nanostructure/nanomaterial technology.

interactions between at least two states of matter (solid and plasma) and sometimes, all four. A vast realm of complex nanostructures and nanomaterials can be produced and stabilized under equilibrium and non-equilibrium conditions. Recent research has shown that the intrinsic properties and performances of materials may be altered when placed in contact with the plasma (e.g. plasma-catalysis [85], see also sections 19). This leads to the important new caveat that the plasma-material interactions require a system view, to optimize both the synthesis and utilization conditions. This nourishes the perpetual need for more complex multi-phase modeling and in-situ diagnostics under very challenging conditions (sections 17 and 18). Furthermore, the synthesis of nanostructures and nanomaterials may not be possible with a unique plasma source, even when the densities and fluxes of species, and electron and heavy species temperatures are carefully designed, thus requiring combinations of plasma sources. The design of the next generation of plasma processes requires a system's view where the plasma reactor is also used to evaluate the early performance of the produced nanostructures and nanomaterials (figure 10, see also section 1). Plasma-catalysis is an active research and development area where in-situ diagnostics of the plasma-catalyst interactions and catalyst material evolution have begun to be reported (e.g. operando Diffuse Reflectance Infrared Fourier Transform spectroscopy (DRIFTS) [86]). A necessary next step to accelerate material discovery in this field will be the integration of the plasma synthesis and plasma-catalysis reactors.

Though most nanostructures/materials produced through plasma processing aim for high energy, material, device and/or system efficiencies, little attention has been paid thus far to the sustainability of the raw materials, products and plasma processes. As new opportunities for plasma processing arise with the electrification of the chemical processing and manufacturing industries, there is a need to rapidly adopt a life cycle view on the energy and material flows, as well as transformation steps [87]. A paradigm shift is required so that concepts such as design-for-no-waste and maximum resource utilization efficiency become hard-coded design criteria. Similar to the emerging field of plasma medicine, a field that was enabled through collaborative work amongst physicists, engineers, biologists and physicians, sustainable plasma processing for nanostructure/materials will thrive by reaching out to researchers that focus on system design, life cycle analysis and socio-economic impact.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The synthesis of nanomaterials and nanostructures continues to be a vector of innovation in plasma source and reactor design. Notable commercial-scale successes have arisen since the birth of microelectronics to today's nanomaterials production facilities, but numerous challenges remain to unlock the full potential of plasma processing. The understanding and control of plasma chemistry as well as plasma-solid and plasma-liquid interactions with extreme fluxes of energy and reactive species, often under non-equilibrium conditions and with multiple states of matter present, remains a cornerstone for the successful development of applications. There is a need to integrate automation, learning and decisionmaking tools capable of handling numerous operating parameters with fewer but more sophisticated measurements to guide accelerated material discovery. A system's view is required, notably to meet the increasingly coupled synthesis and material performance requirements, and overall sustainability of the material journey. The transition from fossil fuels to renewable electricity provides new opportunities to plasma processing for nanostructures and nanomaterials.

R Mohan Sankaran<sup>1</sup> and Anthony B Murphy<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, United States of America
 <sup>2</sup> CSIRO Manufacturing, Lindfield, Australia

7. Additive manufacturing (AM) and coatings

#### Status

Plasmas are widely applied to produce thin-film coatings on surfaces. Low-pressure plasmas are employed in industrial processes such as magnetron sputtering, filtered arc deposition, plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition, and ALD to deposit metals, ceramics, diamond-like carbon, polymers, and many other materials [88]. Innovation continues; for example, HiPIMS [89] allows the production of higher density films, and section 5 addresses recent advances in ALD. Thermal plasmas are routinely implemented in plasma spraying to deposit thicker (up to mm) coatings [90]. Non-thermal, atmospheric-pressure plasmas are increasingly being used to avoid the need for a vacuum vessel, but material quality and large-area, uniform deposition remain challenging [91].

The recent emergence of AM has stimulated interest in plasma-assisted coating processes that would follow the American Society for Testing and Materials definition of AM, i.e. 'joining materials to make objects from 3D model data, usually layer upon layer, as opposed to subtractive manufacturing methodologies, such as traditional machining' [92]. In traditional coating processes, the precursor is generated in the gas phase, and only a small fraction is ultimately deposited on the substrate. In addition, the deposition is not typically controlled spatially, and any shape or pattern that may be desired in the fabricated material requires additional process steps to remove the undesired regions. Benefits of AM include minimized material waste and the production of customized parts and structures that are intricate and complex, often not attainable by more traditional subtractive techniques. AM has rapidly expanded from creating smaller prototypes, usually from polymeric materials to larger parts and other materials such as metals. Commercial opportunities have emerged in, for example, electronics, automotive, aerospace, and medical industries.

Both non-thermal and thermal plasmas are applied in AM strategies [93, 94]. Non-thermal plasmas play a diverse range of roles that can be organized by their position in the process flow (figure 11). Prior to deposition of a layer, non-thermal plasmas enable surface modification of temperature-sensitive substrates such as polymers through processes including surface cleaning, chemical functionalization, surface coatings, and changes to the surface energy. Most of these processes are aimed at improving adhesion to avoid delamination of materials in subsequent deposition steps. Several companies, such as Reylon Plasma, Essentium, and Innophysics, now incorporate non-thermal plasmas for this purpose, towards the ultimate goal of 3D printing polymers. More recently, non-thermal plasmas have been applied during deposition, to treat the liquid or aerosol feed, droplets generated from a nozzle [95], or

![](_page_18_Figure_9.jpeg)

**Figure 11.** Current and emerging schemes for incorporating non-thermal plasmas in AM. Large-volume plasmas can apply a coating or modify a surface before deposition, or sinter a film after deposition. Spatially localized plasmas can be applied to treat and modify, for example, liquid or aerosol precursors, in-flight droplets, or a deposited film.

the film immediately upon deposition. In addition to enhancing adhesion, in this case, the plasma can drive physical processes, such as charging, evaporation, and heating, or chemical processes, such as reduction/oxidation, degradation, and etching. Following deposition, non-thermal plasmas can replace thermal processes for sintering films to remove organic constituents and crystallize the material.

The application of thermal plasmas in AM, as also noted in section 16, includes the production of metal powders by spheroidization of particles in an rf plasma [96] or break-up of a wire by a plasma jet. The metal powders are then printed as part of an AM process, such as laser powder-bed fusion. Thermal plasmas are now directly implemented in the layerby-layer fabrication of metal parts by wire-arc AM, a process that is closely related to arc welding. Wire-arc AM is relatively well-established, and commercial systems are available from, for example, Norsk Titanium, MX3DAM, and AML3D.

#### Current and future challenges

Despite the recent emergence of commercial applications of plasmas in AM, several challenges remain. Non-thermal plasmas have been limited to the deposition of films or pre- or posttreatment of layers deposited by non-plasma methods. There are very few, if any, examples of layer-by-layer assembly to build 3D structures. Deposition rates are often low, making 3D fabrication time-consuming. More broadly, there is a need for AM to expand to more metals, alloys, and other materials such as ceramics and composites. While thermal plasma processes such as wire-arc AM have made substantial inroads with metals, control of microstructure and the deposition of graded structures remain challenging. The combination of hard and soft materials is also of interest, but because of temperature considerations, would be better addressed by nonthermal plasmas. Finally, spatial resolution is typically limited to the size of the plasma source, which at best is usually in the sub-mm range for non-thermal plasmas and of order 1 mm for thermal plasmas.

At a more fundamental level, plasma processes are very complex, especially when they involve multiple phases such as aerosol particles (solid) or droplets (liquid) in a gas flow or a solid wire evaporating into the gas phase and depositing onto

![](_page_19_Figure_2.jpeg)

**Figure 12.** (a) Schematic diagram and (b) photo of a wire-arc AM system, with the diagram showing the elements of a digital twin. A machine-learning-based model (the digital twin) runs in parallel with the physical process, receives input from process diagnostics and controls and corrects the process in real-time. Modified from [97]. © IOP Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved.

a solid part. The interactions can be two-way; for example, the plasma species react with the aerosol or the solid wire to cause evaporation, and the generated vapor affects the plasma and species production. Challenges in plasma-liquid and plasmaparticle interactions are considered in more detail in sections 3 and 6, respectively. In wire-arc AM, there are several challenges associated with the production of complex metal structures, which accentuate the interactions between the arc and metal [97]. The structure geometry alters, for example, the flow of shielding gas, the magnetic field induced by the current flow, and the current density at the arc-metal interface, which in turn affect the heat transfer to the structure. Such plasmametal interactions reduce the value of standard approaches to modeling arc welding that approximate the arc by estimated heat flux distributions and instead favor models that explicitly include the arc and its interactions with the metal. Computational models of the AM processes are thus needed to address the interaction of the plasma with the surface, phase changes, large spatial gradients, and rapid time variation.

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Two important directions are being pursued to address the complexity of plasma processes in AM. The first is real-time diagnostics. The diagnostics must be non-invasive because of the confined geometries and lack of access that usually apply, and thus, spectroscopic methods have been the most common. However, interpretation of the spectra to provide information about complex multi-phase phenomena is often based on correlations rather than physical understanding. For example, in laser-induced-plasma-based AM, data-driven machine-learning approaches are required to link the composition of mixed-material deposits to optical emission spectra [98]. The incorporation of a detailed physical understanding in machine learning (i.e. physics-informed modeling [99] rather than data-driven modeling) will improve reliability and broaden the applicability of such methods.

The second is computational modeling. Improvements in handling of the coupling of the physical and chemical phenomena occurring during deposition with different time and length scales are needed to improve predictive capabilities and help optimize the process. Beyond this goal, models will be an important component in real-time process control. Here, machine learning will be a critical factor.

Wire-arc AM provides a good example. The large differences in length and time scales between the arc and molten metal (sub-millimeter and millisecond) and the part (meter and minute) processes mean that a full computational simulation of the building of a part is beyond current capabilities. In any case, sophisticated physics-based models do not run in real-time. A potential approach is to use simulations to teach or provide constraints to a machine-learning model (physics-informed modeling [99]). A long-term goal is an integration of machine-learning-based models and process diagnostics to produce a digital twin of the process (figure 12) [100].

In the specific case of non-thermal plasmas, the challenges for 3D structures include how to improve deposition rates and the spatial resolution of the deposited material. These issues are being addressed by combining printing approaches with plasmas. For example, plasmas have been used to sinter printed films of nanoparticles. Alternatively, particle-free inks have elicited interest to avoid organic stabilizers that must be removed after printing, and plasmas are uniquely capable of converting them after printing at low temperature (<150 °C), which is compatible with a wide range of substrates, including polymers that have low glass transition temperatures ( $T_g$ ) [101, 102].

#### **Concluding remarks**

Progressing from single-layer deposition processes to AM of 3D structures is a challenging task. Wire-arc AM has achieved this goal for large-scale metal structures. For non-thermal plasmas, multiple layer deposition is possible, but 3D structures are more challenging. Advances in process design, process control (including diagnostics and modeling), materials, and spatial resolution are all required. In the meantime, hybrid processes in which the plasma is used, for example, to postor pre-process materials deposited by other means, will continue to dominate.

## 8. Plasma engineering of soft materials and biomaterials

Dirk Hegemann<sup>1</sup> and Cristina Canal<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Empa, St. Gallen, Switzerland

<sup>2</sup> Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya (UPC), Barcelona, Spain

#### Status

The interactions of the plasma gas-phase with soft matter include penetration of energetic ions, electrons and photons in the material, as well as bond breaking, collision cascades near the surface, and diffusion and extend beyond the characteristic plasma-hard material interfacial region [2], encompassing larger penetration and diffusion depths.

Soft matter refers to organic materials with complex structural and dynamic properties between those of rigid solids and fluids. Materials in this category are polymers, colloids, gels, and include biomacromolecules such as polypeptides, all being often employed as biomaterials. Such soft materials are aimed to augment or replace partially or totally any tissue, organ or function of the body, in order to maintain or improve the quality of life of the individual.

Due to the relatively weak intermolecular interaction, thermal fluctuations, external fields and boundary effects strongly influence the structure and properties of soft matter, and thus, soft matter must have special consideration when exploring their interaction with a complex system such as non-equilibrium LTPS, also requiring efficient plasma diagnostics and modeling (see sections 17-19). This section considers essentially the family of polymeric soft biomaterials that are plasma-engineered to support the interaction with biological systems for therapeutic or diagnostic medical purposes. These include hydrogels, scaffolds or microfluidic devices for wound care, tissue engineering and implants, to name a few. Expected advancement in the field relies on the improved understanding of direct plasma-soft matter interaction as well as on the controlled surface functionalization by plasma deposition.

#### Current and future challenges

Surface modification of biopolymers by LTP has traditionally focused on improving wettability and introducing surface functionalities fostering interaction with cells [103]. The development of plasma sources at atmospheric pressure (see section 1) has allowed the treatment of liquids (see section 3) and soft materials, paving the way for new medical applications, i.e. wound healing or cancer treatment (see also section 9) [104–106]. In plasma treatment of soft materials, the interaction with water is highly relevant [107]. Plasma engineering is a well-suited and versatile tool to adjust biomaterial properties and the related water interaction regarding wettability, water layering/structuring, absorption/swelling/uptake,

![](_page_20_Figure_11.jpeg)

**Figure 13.** Current strategies related to treatment of hydrogels for applications in plasma medicine: (top) hydrogels are used as surrogates of tissues to investigate the penetration depth of plasmas, as screens for certain reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (RONS) during plasma treatment, or (bottom) in liquid solution with ability to crosslink, they are employed to generate and deliver RONS locally to the diseased site.

and stability/degradation, to provide the medium for the transport of active substances (RONS, drugs) and biomolecules. In this sense, two main areas are of interest that associate critical challenges:

(a) Plasma treatment of hydrated polymer networks (hydrogels) is an emerging area that requires increasing the understanding on fundamental mechanisms underlying the chemistry in the interaction with plasmas-liquid biopolymers. So far, plasma treatment of hydrogels (figure 13) has focused on: (1) model systems for the living tissues; or (2) as vehicles for the delivery of reactive species, both for medical applications [108] (see also section 9). The penetration depth of plasmas during treatment of biological tissues has been modeled with different natural biopolymer thin films as skin surrogates [108], revealing non-uniform distribution of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (RONS) from plasmas in the films. Relatively high penetration depths are observed together with delayed formation of secondary species within the hydrogel. In another approach, plasma treatment of biopolymers in solution with the ability to crosslink in the body is envisaged as a method of delivering RONS to the diseased site by injection (see section 9). Plasma jet treatment of diluted solutions of natural polymers [109] can generate RONS within them superior to water or conventional saline solutions. The release of RONS generated by plasmas in liquid polymer solutions and their crosslinking ability is still in its infancy and can be of interest in different biomedical applications such as for anticancer therapies.

![](_page_21_Figure_2.jpeg)

Advancements in plasma deposition technology

**Figure 14.** Representation of advanced surface functionalities important for biomaterials. While surface modifications are well studied, the controlled structuring of the near-surface region enables novel surface characteristics based on the combination of different functionalities and related water interaction.

(b) Advanced plasma polymer film architectures (see also section 6) deposited on soft materials are to be further developed that combine different functionalities at the nanoscale as well as providing strategies to enhance their stability to meet today's challenges for a healthy life [2, 110–112].

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

In plasma engineering of hydrogels, technological advances need to associate compact and mild sources allowing the treatment of relatively large volumes (up to 100 ml) in short times to produce high amounts of RONS without damaging the polymer structure and designed to operate in a surgical room.

Besides, advancements in the deposition of plasma polymer films towards multifunctional surfaces are pursued (figure 14). While uniformly functionalized surfaces, variations in topography, and lateral gradients in functional group density represent established technologies, novel nanopatterning techniques allow the deposition of dual plasma polymer films yielding chemical differences, e.g. carboxyl and amine groups, in patterned polymeric features with dimensions down to about 20–30 nm in height [113]. Such sub-micron patterns match specific sub-cellular structures and might control the presentation of proteins to single cell arrays. Most of all, the controlled structuring of the near-surface region adds another dimension to be exploited for novel surface characteristics. Nanoporous films provide a high functional surface area, e.g. for lubricant-infused slippery surfaces [114]. Furthermore, the ordering of water molecules at the surface has a direct influence on the interaction with biological systems. Modulating the interfacial water structure by a deliberate plasma polymer film architecture, as an example, enhances the control over the initial protein adsorption [115]. To this end, vertical gradients to stabilize functional groups and thus the outermost water-interacting layer, buried interfaces in the subsurface for the nanoconfinement of water molecules, amphiphilic, zwitterionic, and hydrogel-like layers are investigated using nanoscale control over plasma deposition processes and copolymerization [112]. Such plasma coatings with retained chemical functionalities can be combined with biodegradable, drug-releasing and/or antimicrobial substrates, when water is allowed to reach their interface. Advances in anti-biofouling, controlled protein adsorption, and cell growth can thus be expected requiring further investigations into water interaction and water structure.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The emergence and increasing applications of biopolymers, and novel applications arising from their engineering with LTP is opening a novel field with many challenges ahead. Plasmaengineered hydrogels treated to deliver the right amount of RONS in the right place have great potential to support medical therapies. Together with the advances in nanostructuring of soft materials using plasma deposition technologies to yield multifunctional surfaces great prospects can be expected in the field.

#### 9. Medical plasma applications

Eun Ha Choi<sup>1</sup> and Thomas von Woedtke<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Kwangwoon University, Seoul, Republic of Korea

<sup>2</sup> Leibniz Institute for Plasma Science and Technology

(INP Greifswald), Greifswald, Germany

<sup>3</sup> Greifswald University Medicine, Greifswald, Germany

#### Status

Based on comprehensive physical and biological research as well as advanced technical development, the first cold atmospheric plasma (CAP, LTPs operating near room temperature) devices are CE-certified as medical devices since 2013. In chronic wound healing, CAP application is now on its way to clinical routine. Acceleration of wound healing by CAP treatment was proven in vitro and in vivo, which is based not only on antisepsis, but mainly on direct stimulation of tissue regeneration. This huge effort in clinical plasma application was accompanied by a deeper understanding of molecular mechanisms of plasma-tissue interaction [116]. Plasma devices are also used to treat infective and/or inflammatory skin diseases like herpes zoster, atopic eczema, acne, or athlete's foot and actinic keratosis, a precancerous skin disease. These applications remain rather sporadic to date. More preclinical and clinical research will enable the extension of clinical applications of plasma medicine as well as enhance the adaptation and/or extend certifications of respective plasma devices. The insight of the essential role of RONS for biological plasma effects makes it possible to name plasma medicine as a field of applied redox biology [117]. Water and biological molecules inside the cells or tissues could be excited and-directly by plasma-produced UV radiation [118] or via secondary reactions—converted to OH, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, NO and NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> and other RONS (see also section 3). These plasma-induced reactions are the fastest processes occurring during the plasma exposure of cells. Additionally, the plasma-produced RONS are transported inside the cells or tissues by diffusion processes, which occur on a much larger time scale. In general, both processes are very important in the interaction of plasma with biological cells or tissues. According to the concept of oxidative eustress and distress, the intensity of CAP application and, consequently, impact of RONS is decisive for inducing stimulating or inactivation effects on cells and tissue (figure 15). The concentration as well as the rate of RONSinduced reactions can be influenced by plasma parameters and might be enhanced by physical parameters like electrical fields and UV radiation, but depends also on the type of cells and the cellular environment. Plasma-induced cell inactivation is of particular importance because CAP can inactivate cancer cells in a redox dependent manner. The application of plasma in oncology is a highly promising and growing field currently in the stage of preclinical and clinical research [119].

![](_page_22_Figure_10.jpeg)

**Figure 15.** Plasma medicine as applied redox biology following the concept of oxidative eustress and distress. The intensity of reactive oxygen and nitrogen impact can be determined by plasma source characteristics, but also depends on cellular characteristics and the cellular environment. Reproduced with permission from [117]. © 2019 The Author(s).

#### Current and future challenges

The standardization of medical CAP devices has been started in IEC TC62D by identifying characteristics that are critical for safe usage: plasma gas temperature, ozone level, nitrogen oxide level, H2O2 level, UV level, electrical current, electrical leakage, electrical insulation, usage error, electromagnetic compatibility (EMC), electrostatic discharge potential and inspection of device prior to use. In general, dosing and control of plasma application in medical applications might be the most important outstanding challenge as already identified in the 2017 Plasma Roadmap [2]. In the last 5 years, more insight was gained into the dependence of RONS composition, plasma density and electron temperatures on target characteristics and plasma-target interactions [120]. A continuous real time in situ plasma monitoring with feedback control of device input could be the key for stable and constant plasma and treatment conditions. Following the increasing establishment of clinical CAP applications, plasma devices will have to be adapted to specific application fields with laparoscopic and endoscopic applications potentially the most challenging because of the specific environmental conditions [121].

As it was pointed out in the 2017 Plasma Roadmap [2], effects of CAP causing cancer cell death are accompanied by influences on immune cells leading to systemic tumor-specific immunity [122]. This has not only consequences with regard to possible systemic effects of local CAP application leading to so-called abscopal plasma effects. It could open up new strategies for CAP-based vaccination in oncology [123]. It is reported that orally administered plasma treated liquids (PTLs) are able to inhibit progressive tumor growth without reduction in body weight, although showing tumor size and weights reduction in the chemo-resistant lung cancer

![](_page_23_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 16. Cocktail of NAP reactive species for oral administration of cancer therapy. Reproduced from [124]. © IOP Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved.

xenograft mice model [124]. To date, orally administrated PTL has been only tested for non-small cell lung cancer and using fixed concentrations of RONS like  $H_2O_2$ ,  $NO_2^-$  and  $NO_3^-$ . Moving forward, we need to focus on assessing the impact of different RONS concentrations in PTL and study its effect on patient-derived xenograft mouse models for promising plasma cancer therapy (figure 16). Nonetheless, the potential of PTL as a possible novel and self-contained therapeutic principle has been shown with many promising applications including the treatment of disseminated abdominal tumors to be explored [125]. Our understanding of plasma–liquid interactions made an enormous progress in the last 5 years [2] (see also section 3), but it remains necessary to further substantiate the application conditions and the main challenge to overcome is the classification of PTL from a regulatory point of view.

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Future challenges include standardization of plasma sources and treatment doses for biological and medical applications since these are one of the most important topics in plasma medicine. This would be expected to guide and guarantee safety and effectiveness of CAP application to health and hygiene. The physical and technical challenges in plasma device adaptation and optimization are in the development of compact and miniaturized tools not only for plasma treatment but also for monitoring varying plasma and target characteristics during treatment. Based on both plasma and target monitoring the aim must be a more 'dynamic' adaptation of plasma parameters to actual (short-term) characteristics of the target considering specific therapeutic goals. Here, the dependence of specific biological effects on specific plasma characteristics have to be further investigated with specific regard to short-term variations of plasma parameters and its consequences for (long-term) biological effects. Nowadays, there are different modeling approaches available that are very useful to simulate direct interaction of plasma components with single biomolecules up to complex biological tissue models [126]. Combining these modeling approaches with laboratory experiments in vitro and-if possible-in vivo research will give much more insight into details of plasma interaction with biological systems. For effective data processing and device control, innovative methods of robotics, machine learning and artificial intelligence have to be made available for plasma medicine [127, 128]. To get closer toward a solution of the 'dose' challenge it has to be kept in mind that according to the actual stage of knowledge biological plasma effects are indeed mainly based on plasma-generated RONS but it is not clarified yet whether or to what extent single RONS are specifically responsible for distinct biological effects. It could be useful to establish whether biological effects could be correlated with a general redox potential hence depending not on individual RONS but on their reactivity. Here, current developments in redox sensors [129] might be helpful to detect plasma-caused oxidative stress in situ and correlate such data both with plasma parameters and resulting biological effects.

#### **Concluding remarks**

CAP application in medicine has developed from an idea, driven by plasma physicists, to an interdisciplinary research field with growing acceptance in the medical community. To fully understand the interrelationship between plasma and biological cells and tissues, preclinical and clinical trials should be conducted and evaluated. For this, standards as well as comprehensible test protocols should be established. As one of the next steps, international standardization of CAP sources for medical application with regard both to its technical parameters (beyond the general regulations for medical devices) and to its biological performance will be crucial for harmonization of research efforts and for a sound transfer of medical CAP technology to industry and, finally, to the patients. To expand the plasma medicine field more, the community must focus on nurturing and supporting the new generation of researchers and engineers related to plasma science.

#### 10. Contribution of plasma to combat COVID-19

#### Vandana Miller<sup>1</sup> and Masaru Hori<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Drexel University, Philadelphia, United States of America<sup>2</sup> Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan

#### Status

In late 2019, coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), the pandemic caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), emerged as a new global health emergency. It has affected every country in the world, shutting down economies, and causing greater than 200 million infections and more than 4.3 million deaths [130]. The virus is transmitted between people through inhalation of virus-laden respiratory droplets. The clinical course of a person infected with SARS-CoV-2 is highly variable, ranging from asymptomatic infection to mild upper respiratory tract illnesses to respiratory failure and death [131]. Rapidly emerging genetic variants are also contributing to its ongoing high transmissibility, even causing breakthrough infections in the vaccinated, and keeping scientists, clinicians and governments on their toes in search of urgent solutions to combat this pandemic. The medical community is focusing its efforts on improving the safety and efficacy of vaccines and developing new therapeutics.

Investigations are also ongoing to identify novel methods to mitigate the virus in the environment to break the transmission cycle and thereby prevent infections. Since the discovery of the plasma-type ozone generator by Werner von Siemens in 1857, ozone has been used in many countries to purify and disinfect water supplies (see also section 12). In 1968, a prototype of a sterilizer for surgical instruments by RF plasma under low pressure using hydrogen peroxide was developed, which is now commonly used in medical practice [132] (see also section 9). With advancements in science and technology, plasma has shown efficacy in inactivating viruses and even prions, which are the cause of the dangerous mad cow disease (bovine spongiform encephalopathy) [133, 134]. Therefore, research that expands the use of LTP for the inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 is important for systematizing the effects of plasma on pathogenic microorganisms and furthering the academic development of the field of plasma biotechnology. It would also contribute toward elucidating the mechanism of action of LTP for other medical applications (section 9). Recently, the immunomodulatory effects of LTP have also been described, stimulating investigations for uses in immunotherapy of many diseases [123]. We believe LTP can play a vital role in both preventative and therapeutic strategies against COVID-19 because of its synergistic anti-microbial and immunomodulatory effects.

#### Current and future challenges

Viruses are essentially particles consisting of nucleic acids and proteins without cytoplasm or other structures. Most viruses

![](_page_24_Figure_9.jpeg)

Figure 17. Approach for SARS-CoV-2 inactivation by LTP.

have a capsid that surrounds the nucleic acid with (as in SARS-CoV-2) or without an outer envelope derived from the host cell membrane which is composed mainly of phospholipids. They use the host cellular machinery to replicate therefore are hard to treat.

The scientific community mobilized in response to SARS-CoV-2, publishing its genetic sequence in 4 months and developing vaccines within 12 months which have reduced hospitalizations and deaths; however, the pathogenesis of COVID and immune responses against this virus are still not fully understood. A huge logistical challenge for working with this virus is that it is a highly infectious, biosafety level 3 pathogen requiring specialized containment facilities to work with in the laboratory. This precludes investigations that test the efficacy of disinfection strategies against the free virus in aerosols. There are few animal models of this disease (with some limitations), further constraining disease progression and therapeutic efficacy studies. These challenges offer the LTP community exciting new opportunities to work toward novel approaches to combat this disease.

For LTP technology to be accepted as a viable solution for viral inactivation and as a therapeutic alternative to other, better accepted technologies, several questions must be resolved. Crucial among them is the issue of key effector(s) and their mechanism(s) of action. How do electrons, ions, radicals, and light generated by plasma affect viruses (direct exposure)? Are plasma-conditioned inorganic and organic solutions effective in inactivating viruses (indirect exposure)? To what extent is there a difference in response between capsid structures and envelope-free structures to plasma? Since LTP composition from different devices is vastly different, lack of this knowledge serves as a source of confusion among non-plasma communities. The secondary outcome of this ignorance is the difficulty in defining dose required for a specific effect, the common lingo for most biomedical devices. Furthermore, it impedes the identification of safe operating parameters necessary for approvals by regulatory agencies.

The unanswered questions offer new opportunities to apply LTP for inactivation of different viruses (figure 17).

![](_page_25_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 18. Use of LTP for mitigation of epidemics and pandemics by viruses and scientific areas for further exploration.

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

A key mode of intervention for reducing the societal impact of SARS-CoV-2 infection remains epidemiological i.e. prevention of spread. Here, the path for incorporation of LTP technology into existing infrastructure is relatively easy. Inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 on surfaces was recently demonstrated by Chen et al [135]. While not tested on intact virus, Bisag et al show the susceptibility of naked SARS-CoV-2 RNA genome [136]. What is exciting is that the anti-viral properties of LTP in aerosols against the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus are already demonstrated [137], suggesting that rapid inactivation of other viruses in air is possible. Thus, integration of LTP into existing heating, ventilation and air-conditioning systems is conceivable. A few studies have suggested that genome degradation and protein modifications may be responsible for viral inactivation (reviewed in [138]). Better understanding of LTP effectors and their targets would allow for device improvements for environmental mitigation of the virus. Figure 18 shows the scheme of the LTP for virus pandemic prevention.

Conceptually, developments in LTP science would also facilitate its adoption into biological prophylactic and therapeutic strategies for COVID. Further understanding of how LTP alters SARS-CoV-2 specifically would allow explorations into enhanced antigenicity of the modified viral particles as a vaccine candidate. Better definition of the 'dose' required for direct anti-viral effects may permit device development for a safe therapeutic whereby virus in the upper respiratory tract may be targeted. As our knowledge of the disease and its resolution improves and the immunomodulatory effects of LTP against viruses are better understood, LTP application in patients may serve the dual purpose of reducing the viral burden, simultaneously stimulating protective immune responses—in essence serving as an autologous vaccine [138]. This would also address the continued challenge of mutational variants of SARS-CoV-2. For safe delivery of LTP effectors, of course, demonstration of short- and long-term safety would be a vital step. Hence, LTP could become the simplest form of personalized precision medicine against COVID. Eventually, as the systematized science of plasma–virus interactions develops, it is expected to revolutionize not only medicine but also the livestock industry, for the inactivation of SARS-CoV-2, the swine flu virus and bird flu viruses among them.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed numerous deficiencies in our knowledge of and ability to handle infections by novel pathogens. The LTP group has risen to the challenge and has presented unique solutions to many of the practical problems that populations are facing worldwide. Numerous laboratories started investigating the most effective use of LTPchemical-free, rapid disinfection of masks and other fomites. Device development for disinfection of different environments and even for treatment of patients became another area of active development. Lessons learned from work in cancer are being explored for application in SARS-CoV-2 disease. The international LTP community also responded by increasing collaborative work among interdisciplinary investigators. Together, these efforts will contribute to improving the fundamental understanding of LTP and its interaction with biological molecules, cells and tissues that would translate into clinical applications in many diseases.

#### Roadmap

#### 11. Plasma agriculture and innovative food cycles

Nevena Puač<sup>1</sup> and Masaharu Shiratani<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia
 <sup>2</sup> Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan

#### Status

Research on the application of plasma in agriculture emerged in the last two decades using LTPs operating at low pressure. While these low-pressure plasmas are still successfully used for the treatment of various types of seeds to increase germination [139–141], the majority of the applications nowadays rely on the atmospheric pressure plasmas [141–143]. Significant momentum was gained with the development of a large range of non-equilibrium atmospheric pressure discharge devices for applications in plasma medicine (section 9) [2, 117, 144]. The established important role of RONS in plasma medicine (section 9) [144] was transferred and forms the foundation of the new discipline of plasma agriculture [117]. To date, more than 2000 papers per year are being published in the field of plasma agriculture.

The field of plasma agriculture is highly multidisciplinary and complex including the use of plasmas to treat seeds (figure 19) to enhance germination, enable decontamination or coat seeds. In addition, plasmas enable plant and plant tissue treatments including biotechnology applications in the realm of plant originated pharmaceutical and cosmetic compounds or are being used to treat liquids leading the generation of plasma activated water (PAW) [145, 146] (section 3) which enables pathogen control and nitrogen fixation. Lately, research into utilizing plasmas for tackling foodborne bacteria and specific viruses is also gaining momentum for food preservation and decontamination [147, 148]. These activities are already extensive and every day new research is added.

The importance of the field of plasma agriculture continues to increase due to the increasing demand for food caused by population growth and further enhanced by reduced agricultural production due to climate change. In fact, to recover the food production reduction in a conventional way, the Food and Agriculture Organization predicts the requirement of an additional synthetic nitrogen fertilizer, whose synthesis leads to an increase of 1.6 billion tons  $CO_2$  emission further increasing the impact on society. Plasma technology has the potential to be a green alternative and bring added value to the conventional agricultural processes by improving the sustainability of agriculture and reducing adverse effects on the environment.

#### Current and future challenges

Recently reported results in plasma treatments of seeds, plants, PAW production and food and packaging processing show great promise. Nonetheless, many experiments were (and continue to be) conducted with very different plasma systems, different treatment protocols and a wide range of processing conditions, making the comparison and consequently systematic progress in the field difficult. It has been shown that seeds of different plants might require a unique set of treatment parameters to be effective and that not the same plasma systems and operation conditions can be used for treatments of seeds, plant tissue, decontamination/activation of water and food processing. This leads to yet further challenge in atmospheric pressure plasma source design (section 1). The major challenge remains the development of scaled up energy efficient processing based on atmospheric pressure plasma technology (section 1). We can define several remaining scientific challenges that need to be addressed to enable progress in the field. The fundamental mechanisms responsible for the desired plasma-induced effects on seeds and plants remain elusive. Figure 20 shows an example of plasmainduced stress on plants and potential resulting genetic and epigenetic changes. Whether unique properties of different varieties of seeds/plants produce different responses to the same set of plasma treatment parameters remain to be determined. The next important step is to assess whether these similarities and differences in response to plasma parameters can be used to define standard procedures and protocols that can be broadly implemented in agriculture. At the same time, we need to identify economic and environmental benefits and drawbacks of the LTP technologies in comparison with established technologies such as chemical fertilizers and pesticides by detailed comparative studies. The theoretical limit of energy consumption of non-thermal plasma nitrogen fixation is less than half of energy efficiency of the Haber-Bosch process, whereas the realized  $NO_x$  production efficiency based on plasma-dissipated power is recently found to be comparable with that of the current the Haber-Bosch process [149, 150]. It also significantly reduces the CO<sub>2</sub> footprint of the process. Furthermore, the most important challenge for LTPs to penetrate the food industry is to meet the required standards for the quality and safety of plasma treated foods [148].

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The existing and future challenges in the field of plasma agriculture demand significant advances in fundamental research and technological development. The optimization of LTPs parameters used for direct plasma application or indirect through the application of PAW is important. The chemically active environment (gas or liquid) containing RONS interact with cell membranes, signaling pathways and mechanisms that lead to the plasma-induced effects aiming to speed up and increase plant growth and resulting in better yields, while protecting plants from bacteria, fungus and animal pests. LTP offers alterations of DNA methylation of seeds [151], which indicates that LTP can be developed as a novel method

![](_page_27_Picture_2.jpeg)

Figure 19. Atmospheric pressure DBD for corn seed treatment.

![](_page_27_Picture_4.jpeg)

(a)

![](_page_27_Figure_6.jpeg)

(b)

**Figure 20.** (a) 5 years old Plumeria from seed (left) without and (right) with plasma irradiation, and (b) Potential interaction between genetic and epigenetic variation in plants under plasma induced stress.

of epigenetic control. Therefore, in fundamental research the development of complex models and extensive diagnostics to characterize LTP systems will be a paramount in the determination of the LTP interactions with seeds, plants and food products (sections 17 and 18). Unlike in the case of plasma medicine (sections 9), where plasma sources do not need to be scaled up, we need to work on more suitable configurations and geometries of LTP sources together with the development of power supplies in order to meet technological demands at the scale of future markets. These prototypes will need procedures and protocols defined for the end user. The applications of LPTs in food and packaging processing require significant advances in the research of the quality and safety characteristics of plasma treated foods. It is important to identify in the food chain where plasma technology could have the largest potential for translation to the industrial scale. All this needs to be developed within the existing regulatory framework while delivering on energy consumption with food safety and quality in mind. Detailed comparisons of LTPs with competing technologies, both established and innovative processes, to assess plasma strengths and weaknesses are crucially important.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Plasma Agriculture is a developing research field with several important challenges that need to be addressed. These challenges encompass both scientific and technological aspects and require a concerted effort of the multidisciplinary research community. Process optimization and scale up remain a significant technological challenge. The scientific challenges include the determination of roles of plasma originated RONS in signaling pathways and mechanisms for better plant yield or protection from pathogens, especially in food processing where off target effects such as food oxidation is undesired. The nutritional value of plant food products obtained when LTPs were used before or during the growth process must be carefully studied. Therefore, the development of new plasma sources, their detailed characterization, complemented with detailed models will be a paramount in meeting the scientific and technological challenges. The LTP community, together with colleagues from agriculture, life sciences, food industry and regulatory agencies are needed to add LTP technology to the new standards of agricultural and food processing.

#### 12. Plasma pollution control

#### Hyun-Ha Kim<sup>1</sup> and Selma Mededovic Thagard<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology (AIST), Tsukuba, Japan

2 Cl. 1. J. H. H. B. H. H. H. H. H. H.

<sup>2</sup> Clarkson University, Potsdam, United States of America

#### Status

Electrical discharge plasma, and LTP in particular, has been playing a critical role in pollution control for over a century with electrostatic precipitation (ESP) and ozone generation remaining the dominant environmental applications of LTPs. Electrostatic precipitators remove dust from flue gases at large volumetric flowrates and continue to do so with unparalleled efficiency. Recent modernization efforts of these devices that included implementation of many new methods significantly increased their efficiency for cleaning particulate matter in the sub-micron range [152]. The COVID-19 pandemic has prompted renewed interest in ESP for indoor air control, in particular collection and inactivation of harmful respiratory nanoparticles and biocontaminants such as bioaerosols and viruses [153] (see also section 10).

Ozone is an important oxidative species for the removal of pollutants and microorganisms in gaseous and aqueous streams. For most commercial applications ozone is generated in a dielectric barrier discharge without additional byproducts. The size of the ozone market has been steadily increasing which has focused the research on improving the efficiency and lowering the cost of ozone production [154]. Other established and emerging areas of gaseous pollution control include removal of ppm levels of acid gases (nitrogen oxides  $(NO_x)$ , sulfur oxides  $(SO_x)$ , etc), greenhouse gases such as perfluorocarbons, volatile organic compounds (toluene, TCA, TCE), ozone-depletion substances including freons and halons, toxic gases (mercury, dioxins, etc), and microorganisms. Highly efficient processes combine LTP with a catalyst, and those are driven by a large amount of research in the area of plasma catalysis which is currently experiencing an unprecedented growth and has become the mainstream plasma process for gaseous pollution control [155]. Since 1990, over a dozen pilot scale and full-scale plasma reactor systems have been demonstrated for flue gas cleaning,  $NO_x$  and  $SO_x$  abatement and deodorization of malodorous gases. Figure 21 shows two examples of industrial-scale plasma facilities for deodorization of odorant concentrations below 10 ppm.

A renewed interest into the application of LTPs for the treatment of drinking and wastewater to either remove toxic contaminants or inactivate microorganisms has resulted in the development of highly efficient bench- and pilot-scale plasma reactor systems [156]. Today, plasma-based water treatment is considered the leading technology for the destruction of toxic per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in groundwater [11].

![](_page_28_Figure_11.jpeg)

**Figure 21.** Large-scale application of plasma deodorization facilities in Japan: (a) pulsed plasma chemical process with  $30\ 000\ nm^3\ h^{-1}$  processing capacity (b) surface plasma chemical process with 9500 nm<sup>3</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> capacity. Reproduced with permission from Dr Hosokawa of Masuda Research Co.

#### Current and future challenges

Industries are facing increasingly stringent environmental regulations and demand improved technologies for effluent cleanup. Coincidentally, LTP research efforts for nearly all applications remain focused on improving the process efficiency and selectivity and lowering the cost of the treatment through power supply and plasma reactor optimization.

The future of ESP is highly dependent on the energy policy and the size of the ESP market is expected to decrease with transition from fossil fuels to green renewable resources. Increasing the efficiency of ozone generation in both smalland large-scale plasma reactors has been an ongoing research effort. Both models and experiments have been used to optimize the operation of dielectric barrier discharge (DBD) reactors for ozone production including the electrode geometry, dielectric properties, operating pressure, gas temperature, and power modulation [157, 158]. Ozone production efficiency is also strongly dependent on the purity of the starting  $O_2$ . While increasing the  $O_2$  concentration in air generally increases  $O_3$  production, for very small (lower ppm) levels of nitrogen in the feed gas and in ultra-pure  $O_2$ , the  $O_3$  generation efficiency either significantly decreases or drops to zero giving rise to the 'ozone-zero' phenomenon [159].

Large-scale application of LTP for the treatment of gaseous contaminants remains limited by the density and the selectivity of plasma-generated radicals and the process efficiency. While some of these challenges can be overcome by combining the plasma with additional processes (e.g. presence of a catalyst), those add to the overall system complexity and require additional research. Many LTP reactors generate RONS in the  $10^1$ – $10^2$  ppm level and these concentrations are sufficiently high for oxidizing similar concentration levels of pollutants in both air and water. The transition from laboratory to industrial scale is expected to be closely linked with this 'flux matching', which may be especially challenging for contaminant concentrations exceeding  $10^2$  ppm [160].

The plasma reactor development for water purification purposes has been and still is largely trial and error driven, due to the lack of knowledge regarding the key physicochemical processes and reactor design elements that control the contaminant removal. As a result, the most effective and efficient benchscale reactors that are concurrently scalable largely remain unidentified.

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Further research directions targeted at overcoming the scientific challenges all necessitate interdisciplinary collaborations among plasma scientists, material scientists, chemists, and engineers, and closing of the gap between fundamental discoveries and engineering solutions. The competitive global market concurrently requires that any new standalone or integrated process, including the plasma, be better, faster and cheaper than any of the existing processes and also scalable.

The development of *in situ* or *operando* measurement techniques to trace the dynamic changes on solid surfaces and liquid interfaces where plasma is impinging will be critical for improving the process efficiency (see also sections 3, 18 and 19). Similar approaches are required to identify, quantify, and differentiate among different plasma agents responsible for various chemical transformations. While some advances have been made in the last decade and pertain mainly to the identification of long-lived species or products, elementary processes that occur on short time scales remain elusive. For gas-liquid applications, visualizing and quantifying the dynamic changes that take place in the bulk liquid will be important for plasma reactor design and scaleup. The final level of process understanding and optimization includes treatment of environmentally relevant streams, identification of the byproducts formed and, where applicable, determination of their toxicity.

The development of cheap, reliable and scalable power supply systems is crucial for nearly all plasma applications (see also section 1). The controlled RONS flux matching required to remove contaminants in gas and liquid phases could be largely achieved with a pulsed power supply capable of delivering narrow pulses (<50 ns) with a high repetition frequency (up to 50 kHz).

The progress in the design, optimization and scaleup of highly efficient plasma reactors could be greatly accelerated if the community collaborated more efficiently to achieve these common goals. To calibrate multiple concurrent research efforts in fundamental science, reactor design and scaleup, the community should agree on using and characterizing a reference plasma treatment system specific for a particular application. The outcomes of fundamental investigations performed on these systems would assist in determining the limitations and the advantages of the technology, its level of performance with respect to the existing technologies, and the key technical challenges that must be overcome before the process can be upscaled.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Results of bench-scale investigations confirm that LTP is a promising technology for a wide range of environmental applications. In fact, for some of those, electrical discharge plasma is the most effective and efficient solution available. Recent scaleup efforts for gas and liquid treatments are encouraging and are a testament that the field is progressing in the right direction. To position LTP at the forefront of environmental remediation, the technology cannot be simply as good as the existing processes but significantly better, faster and cheaper. Concurrently, the process must be scalable.

Plasma research is inherently multidisciplinary and taking the technology to the next level will involve contributions from a range of scientific and engineering disciplines and finding an effective way for the community to work together. Aside from the need for fundamental investigations which are likely identical for all LTP applications, development of highly specialized power supplies and the reactor scaling laws will be critical for the successful scaleup of the technology.

#### 13. Electrification of chemical conversions

#### Annemie Bogaerts<sup>1</sup> and M C M van de Sanden<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> University of Antwerp, Wilrijk-Antwerp, Belgium
 <sup>2</sup> DIFFER/Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven, The Netherlands

#### Status

Electrification of the (petro)chemical industry is one of the greatest challenges of this century. Plasma technology is gaining increasing interest for this, because it is a turnkey process, hence suitable for combination with (fluctuating) renewable electricity. In the 2017 Plasma Roadmap, the focus was mainly on CO<sub>2</sub> splitting, and the role of vibrational excitation. In recent years, we obtained important insights that other aspects are equally important for performance improvement, addressed in this contribution below. Furthermore, the main focus is no longer only CO<sub>2</sub>, but also on CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub> conversion [161–166]. CO<sub>2</sub> splitting leads to CO feedstock that can be combined with H<sub>2</sub> for Fischer-Tropsch synthesis of hydrocarbons or for other chemical feedstocks. CH<sub>4</sub> conversion is of great interest for both H<sub>2</sub> and olefin (mainly ethylene,  $C_2H_4$ ) production, because nowadays  $H_2$ is still mainly formed by steam methane reforming, causing a lot of CO<sub>2</sub> emission, and C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>4</sub> production is also one of the major CO<sub>2</sub> emitters in industry. N<sub>2</sub> fixation is being studied for both  $NH_3$  and  $NO_x$  production, as alternatives for the energy-intensive Haber-Bosch and Ostwald processes. While pioneering work took place in previous century in the Soviet Union [167], renewed interest in the last decade led to significant progress [161–166]. Many types of plasma reactors are being investigated, but most work is performed with DBDs, microwave (MW) and GA plasmas, ns-pulsed plasmas, APGDs and spark plasmas [161-166]. DBDs are characterized by reasonable conversion, but low energy efficiency. The latter is much better in the other plasma types, so-called warm plasmas (operating at several 1000 K). However, there might be advantages for DBD where direct integration with catalysts is more straightforward. In principle, the most energy-efficient conversion proceeds by vibrational excitation of the molecules [167], followed by vibrational ladder climbing up to the dissociation limit, but probably at the cost of conversion efficiency. However, in practice, the conversion proceeds mainly by electron impact dissociation in DBD, and by thermal chemistry in warm plasmas at atmospheric pressure, where it might be possible to obtain 70% conversion efficiency, if so-called super-ideal quenching might be obtained [167, 168]. Only at low pressures, there is significant vibrational overpopulation, i.e. vibrational-translational non-equilibrium.

Figure 22 summarizes the state-of-the-art for  $CO_2$  splitting and  $N_2/O_2$  conversion into  $NO_x$ , for various plasma types, in terms of conversion and energy efficiency [162, 166].

![](_page_30_Figure_8.jpeg)

**Figure 22.** State-of-the-art for  $CO_2$  and  $N_2/O_2$  conversion for various type of plasmas. Reproduced from [162]. CC BY 3.0. Reproduced from [166]. CC BY 3.0.

#### Current and future challenges

Challenges are to further enhance the (a) conversion, (b) energy efficiency (which is defined by the conversion obtained at a certain energy input), and (c) product selectivity, to make plasma technology of practical interest for the chemical industry. In terms of improving energy and conversion efficiency, most efforts so far were devoted to exploiting the vibrational-translational non-equilibrium, albeit with limited success. Novel approaches to reach non-equilibrium, which might promote the vibrational stimulation route, involve pulsed plasma generation or rapid expansion of the plasmatreated gas to freeze the chemical composition. It has been established that the conversion and also energy efficiency are limited by the fraction of gas passing through the plasma in some reactors, and especially by recombination of the products (back-reactions) after the reactor due to the unfavorable temperature trajectory. As it became apparent that thermal processes are often dominant, the challenge is to further enhance the performance above the thermal equilibrium, e.g. by fast quenching and in parallel promote the radicals formed in the high temperature region (e.g. O and N atoms for the case of  $CO_2$  and  $N_2/O_2$ ) to react with unconverted gas, possibly further stimulated by internal excitation of the parent molecules [167, 168]. Hence, efforts are needed for reactor design improvements, with major focus on gas flow dynamics, to make sure that unreacted feed gas is treated by the (hot) plasma (filament) and products are quickly removed and/or cooled directly outside the plasma (or after the reactor) to avoid back-reactions.

Product selectivity is a challenge due to the high reactivity of plasma, producing a plethora of products, and separation would add a major cost. Combination with catalysts should provide this selectivity, but this is not yet so successful. Plasma catalysis is indeed very complicated and far from understood. Studies on simple reactions, such as NH<sub>3</sub> synthesis, have revealed novel insights, e.g. on the role of (vibrationally) excited N<sub>2</sub> and plasma-produced radicals, making other catalysts potentially more interesting than in thermal catalysis [169, 170], and also CO<sub>2</sub> hydrogenation to CH<sub>3</sub>OH or CH<sub>4</sub> (methanation) have received attention [171]. However, when studying dry reforming of methane (DRM), the focus is still mainly on syngas production (CO/H<sub>2</sub>), using similar catalysts as in thermal catalysis.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Clearly more insight is needed to increase the performance of plasma chemical conversion processes in terms of conversion, energy efficiency and product selectivity, not only in the case of plasma catalysis, but also for plasma reactor design improvements. The complexity of using multiple input gases, leading to unwanted side reactions and worse process selectivity, might be circumvented by spatially separating the optimization of radical or internally excited molecule production from the desired product formation. In effect this can be realized in a two-chamber configuration connected by an expanding nozzle (facilitating the rapid quenching), or by a plasma-membrane configuration where the membrane selectively doses the other reactant gas [172] to let them react with a reactive surface which selectively removes one of the reactive products [173] or to use the plasma as an electrode in contact with a liquid surface [174]. The novel electrically stimulated gas conversion routes can be further improved in terms of selectivity by the use of catalysts to steer the desired products [174]. However, designing specific catalysts tailored to the plasma conditions for the selective (one-step) production of the desired products is a holy grail in plasma catalysis.

To guide the plasma reactor design and advance our understanding, detailed space- and time-resolved diagnostics (*in-situ* and *operando*, both for plasma phase and at catalyst surface) are required, as well as improved chemical kinetics and fluid dynamics modeling, cf figure 23. Since high temperatures, steep gradients and highly turbulent conditions in some of the reactors are present, direct numerical simulation

![](_page_31_Figure_7.jpeg)

**Figure 23.** Multiscale aspects of reactor modeling for plasma-chemical conversion, here illustrated for CO<sub>2</sub> conversion in a GA plasma reactor.

of the plasma chemical flow, similar to the efforts in combustion science, need to be explored. Predictive and detailed modeling in this case needs accurate reaction rate constants, often for high temperature regimes and pressure dependences, and including the effects of internal excitation of the reagents (like vibrational modes). In addition, reaction set validation is crucial for predictive modeling. More discussion on reactor design, diagnostics and modeling can be found in sections 1, 17 and 18. If catalyst beds are used to steer selectivity and conversion efficiency, the interaction of excited species, ions and radicals with the catalysts need to be understood in detail (see section 19), for which also rate coefficients (or activation and reaction energies) are needed, as well as the effects of surface charges and local electromagnetic (EM) fields on the catalytic efficacy. Hence, detailed studies need to be executed, possibly exploiting novel catalytic effects.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The role of plasma (catalysis) in the electrification of chemical conversions will depend critically on whether the performance has benefits in terms of conversion, energy efficiency and product selectivity. The plasma should only be a reactor component in the total system for a chemical plant. Therefore, e.g. heat recovery of the hot gas streams might provide easy pathways to increase energy efficiencies.

So far, success stories are ozone production and to a lower extent plasma pyrolysis of methane to produce  $CO_2$ -neutral  $H_2$ . We expect also other processes can become competitive in terms of energy efficiency, with good heat recovery schemes, such as  $NO_x$  production from air,  $CO_2$  conversion and DRM, in GA, MW and APGD plasmas. To have a successful entry, plasma should prove that it can provide the scale needed to replace processes with a high  $CO_2$  footprint in the present chemical industry. Plasma-chemical conversion has obvious advantages compared with electrochemical conversion in terms of adapting to the intermittent nature of renewable energy and the possible smaller footprint, due to the higher power density. However, whether this will be the key determining factor remains to be seen.

#### 14. Plasma propulsion (PP)

#### Eduardo Ahedo<sup>1</sup> and Anne Bourdon<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Universidad Carlos III de Madrid, Leganés, Spain <sup>2</sup> LPP, CNRS, Ecole Polytechnique, Palaiseau, France

#### Status

In the last decade, PP has taken the lead over chemical propulsion for in-space propulsion and has been used on many satellites and space probes. Currently, the research in PP is extremely active to address three very promising trends. Firstly, onboard electric power on large telecommunication satellites has increased to 25–30 kW, fostering the development of high-power thrusters for full propulsion tasks. Secondly, large plasma thrusters, either in single or clustered configurations, are also envisaged for the Lunar Gateway orbit station and Mars-transfer vehicles. Finally, low power (1– 500 W) propulsion systems are needed for the exploding and disruptive market of small-to-nano satellites.

Many PP technologies exist, differing in main physical principles, suitable power range, or development status [1, 2]. The most advanced ones, already with a solid flight heritage since the 1960s, are the gridded ion thruster (GIT) and the Hall effect thruster (HET). GITs may have better performance figures than HETs, but they require more complex and expensive power processing and control subsystems. Thus, except for interplanetary probes, HETs tend to be cost-optimal and cope most of the in-space propulsion market.

Both GITs and HETs use electrodes to establish an energetic plasma discharge and rely on imperfect electrostatic and magnetic confinement of the plasma, thus suffering from material sputtering (limiting their lifetime) and large energy deposition at the walls (affecting their propulsive efficiency). In addition, both include an external hollow cathode to neutralize electrically the high-energy ion beam from the thruster, which adds complexity and criticality to the whole device [175].

As an alternative to GITs and HETs, electrodeless plasma thrusters (EPTs) are under investigation. An EPT is a novel version of electrothermal thrusters, where EM wave energy from an external 'antenna' is absorbed inside a plasma source and a magnetic nozzle guide and accelerates supersonically the plasma beam [176]. EM waves are also used in the operational RF ion thruster.

Finally, as the down-scaling of GIT and HET below 50 W is inefficient, a variety of alternative, simpler devices are being investigated for micropropulsion [177].

#### **Current and future challenges**

The main challenges on PP were already identified in the previous Plasma Roadmaps [1, 2] which can be summarized as follows: improvement of plasma-related performances, wider envelopes of operation (in power and specific impulse), reduction of manufacturing and operation costs, improvements on system complexity and compactness, and drastic reduction in development and certification of new thrusters.

Since the 1960s, extensive experimental and theoretical research has provided much insight in the physics of plasma thrusters. Still, their design and development rely on a semiempirical approach, combined with very long and expensive flight-qualifying tests on endurance, lifetime, and multi-mode characterization. Physics-based predictive engineering models would greatly aid in reducing the costly testing in vacuum chambers and, furthermore, predicting the thruster behavior in space.

The main challenge of understanding the physics of plasma thrusters is the interplay of multiple nonlinear phenomena (ionization, heating, interaction with walls, magnetic confinement, low-divergence acceleration, instabilities, ...) and the associated temporal and spatial scales [178]. In most devices, plasmas are weakly collisional and magnetized, which lead easily to the appearance of (a) non-Maxwellian features and (b) multiple instabilities, both phenomena affecting largely the plasma transport and the thruster performances, and both lacking of well-established models. This is the case of the leading HET, where research on mastering instabilities driving the anomalous electron cross-field transport is the main setback for reaching a predictive model [178].

Two-dimensional or 3D kinetic numerical models (generally based on PIC plus Monte Carlo methods) are necessary to tackle the whole set of coupled phenomena, but they are extremely computationally expensive and, to date, only apt for fundamental studies. Fluid approaches are more suitable for a global understanding of physical phenomena and for engineering purposes, but they require phenomenological closure laws. In between, hybrid approaches solving kinetically the heavy species are used nowadays as a computationally affordable compromise [179, 180].

EPTs present the additional challenges of understanding, first, plasma–wave interaction in a highly inhomogeneous environment, the resulting energy absorption, and the coupling with plasma transport processes, and second, the beam acceleration and detachment in the magnetic nozzle [178].

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The expensive xenon is becoming resource-critical for the large PP implementation, fostering the search of alternative propellants. A close and viable choice is krypton (figure 24). More challenging scientifically and technologically are iod-ine [181] or atmospheric gases [182], bearing more complex plasma chemistry and transport.

Micropropulsion is a fertile area for testing miniaturization and widening the niche of possible space applications [177]. Thruster supplies for mega-constellations require more compact designs and cost-effective manufacturing.

![](_page_33_Picture_1.jpeg)

**Figure 24.** Helicon Thruster breadboard model at 450W, with Krypton (Courtesy of UC3M-SENER).

Magnetically shielded HET designs seem promising in improving plasma confinement and reducing erosion [178]. Nested HETs are being tested for high-power applications [2]. LaB<sub>6</sub> hollow cathodes, less sensitive to oxygen contamination, are being implemented [175]. Direct-drive technologies are meant to simplify the power processing and control subsystem of HETs [183].

Efforts in experiments and diagnostics (section 17) coupled to simulations and theories (section 18) have to be pursued to better understand plasmas in thrusters. Lastly, this has allowed to better characterize the high-frequency (>1 MHz) electron cyclotron drift instability [178, 184], a key mechanism in the anomalous electron transport in HETs.

Two international benchmarks of 2D PIC codes have been successfully carried out for  $E \times B$  discharges [185, 186], providing confidence on the reproducibility of identified instabilities (figure 25). Similar initiatives, adding physical processes and more realistic thruster configurations, are needed along with the development of massively parallel 3D PIC codes.

Fluid and hybrid codes have to be benchmarked with kinetic ones. This includes the derivation from kinetic solutions, of fluid models for low-collisionality, in particular parametric laws for collisional terms, the pressure tensor, the heat flux and the interaction with walls.

The definitive goal is validating simulations with experiments, for phenomena such as anomalous transport, wall losses, and the whole spatial-temporal plasma response. This is the main bottleneck for achieving predictive engineering tools for plasma thrusters. At the same time obtaining accurate space-and-time-resolved quantitative measurements remain challenging. The development of non-intrusive diagnostics including emission spectroscopy [187], laser induced fluorescence and Thomson scattering [178] should be pursued. Finally, data-driven approaches [188] seem promising for thruster optimization (section 21).

For EPTs, advances on the consistent coupling of wave absorption and plasma transport phenomena are in progress [189]. This must be combined with an increased experimental

![](_page_33_Figure_9.jpeg)

**Figure 25.** (a) Two-dimensional axial-azimuthal maps of the azimuthal electric field (top) and ion density (bottom) obtained with the PIC code developed at LPP at  $t = 20 \ \mu$ s. Dashed line corresponds to the position of maximum magnetic field that separates zone (I) and zone (II). Reproduced from [185]. © IOP Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved. (b) Azimuthally and time (between 16 and 20  $\mu$ s) averaged axial profiles of axial electric field obtained by the different 2D PIC codes developed by the international groups who participated to the benchmark with 300 particles per cell at initialization. Reproduced from [185]. © IOP Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved.

effort to understand heating mechanisms better and assess the role of turbulent transport.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Electric propulsion is an extremely active research field which is considered by all space actors as a key and revolutionary technology for the new generations of commercial and scientific satellites and space probes. Currently, engineering developments are still constrained due to the lack of a complete understanding of the plasma physics of thrusters. In coming years, additional efforts on (PIC, fluid and hybrid) code development and benchmarking are needed, together with comparison with dedicated experiments, combining several diagnostics, to reach a better description of plasma properties. This will pave the way to the development of robust engineering models, which can help to improve existing thrusters and design new concepts.

plications of chlorine chemistry.

#### Figure 26. Top: ablative material testing in the plasmatron facility of the von Karman Institute For Fluid Dynamics (16 g s<sup>-1</sup> air mass flow, 10 000 Pa pressure, 2.5 MW m<sup>-2</sup> calorimeter heat flux) for the QARMAN ablative heatshield made of cork P50 from Amorim<sup>TM</sup> Bottom: QARMAN $(34 \times 10 \times 10 \text{ cm}^3)$ platform with INES payload including emission spectrometer and photodiode to measure simultaneously the shock layer radiation and ablative

is quantifying the boundary between (a) prevailing radical recombination/chain termination processes and (b) predominant chain propagation/chain branching reactions. In conventional combustion, this boundary is known to be controlled by temperature, pressure, and equivalence ratio. In the plasma, it is also affected by the concentrations of the primary radicals. Answering this question is critical for understanding the range of applicability and efficiency of plasma-assisted combustion technologies. This would require the time-resolved measurements of temperature and concentrations of low-temperature radicals, such as HO<sub>2</sub>, at well characterized conditions, during and after the plasma excitation (see figure 27 [193]). Another challenge is the use of plasma excitation to obtain new insight into the kinetic mechanism of conventional ignition and fuel reforming. This may include targeting the highly reactive but elusive hydroperoxyalkyl radicals (QOOH), produced by the alkyl radical recombination with molecular oxygen  $(R + O_2 \rightarrow QOOH)$  and isomerization of the alkylperoxy radical (R +  $O_2 \rightarrow RO_2 \rightarrow QOOH$ ), after the alkyl generation in the plasma (e.g. by H atom abstraction from the fuel,  $RH + O \rightarrow R + OH$ ). The QOOH radical was detected by the photoionization mass spectrometry in the oxidation products of 1,3-cycloheptadiene (c-hpd) precursor [194], initiated by

chlorine atoms,  $RH + Cl \rightarrow R + HCl$ . The use of O atoms and

R radicals generated in the plasma may well be an alternative approach to the study of QOOH kinetics, without the com-

High-fidelity databases of cross-sections and rate coef-

ficients are being developed for hypersonic applications

by means of theoretical chemistry calculations (see also

section 20). In particular, rovibrational mechanisms for air

chemistry dissociation and Zeldovich reactions need to be

completed, by adding the associative ionization processes that

material recession. of the challenges in the LTP assisted combustion kinetics

#### 15. Plasma assisted combustion and hypersonics

#### Igor V Adamovich<sup>1</sup> and Thierry E Magin<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Ohio State University, Columbus, United States of America <sup>2</sup> von Karman Institute for Fluid Dynamics, Rhode-St-Genèse, Belgium

#### Status

Plasma assisted ignition, combustion, and fuel reforming is a promising approach to expanding the efficient performance envelope of jet engines, gas turbines, and internal combustion engines. Over the last two decades, remarkable progress has been made in the fundamental and applied studies of these processes [190]. Measurements of the plasma parameters (electric field, electron density, and electron temperature (see also section 17)), as well as key parameters of the reacting mixtures (gas temperature; concentrations of excited species, atoms, and radicals; ignition delay time; and flame blow-off velocity [190]), have formed an extensive database. These data are complemented by kinetic modeling analyses [190, 191], which improved our understanding of the dominant kinetic mechanisms. Most of these measurements and modeling predictions have been made in premixed fuel-oxidizer flows and laminar diffusion flames. More applied studies, focused on the plasmaassisted ignition and flame holding in non-premixed turbulent flows and supersonic flows, highlighted the critical importance of fuel injection dynamics and fuel-air mixing, along with the kinetics of plasma chemical reactions.

Hypersonic flight is generally understood as flight within a planetary atmosphere at speed of Mach 5 and beyond. Plasma generation in high-enthalpy flows, such as behind strong shock waves during atmospheric entry, is well-known to result in radiative heating and communication blackouts. The effect of the plasma enveloping a hypersonic vehicle on the EM wave propagation, as well as means of control using external electric and magnetic fields, has been studied using kinetic modeling but experimental data remain rather scarce. Plasma-surface interactions (also addressed in section 19), such as catalytic recombination of atoms at the wall as well as ablation of thermal protection materials (see figure 26), are key drivers for the heatshield design ensuring the integrity of spacecraft. To date, coupled simulations of hypersonic flow, radiation, and material fields are not predictive yet, while testing in ground facilities can only partially reproduce flight conditions. Beside, blackout and heat management, additional hypersonic applications are the signature of cruise vehicles, re-entry and demise of man-made space debris, and meteors.

#### Current and future challenges

Many challenges of plasma assisted combustion and hypersonics are related to reaction kinetics. The term aerothermochemistry was coined by von Kármán to denote the multidisciplinary field involving physical chemistry in addition to fluid mechanics and thermodynamics [192]. One

![](_page_34_Figure_13.jpeg)

![](_page_34_Figure_15.jpeg)

![](_page_34_Picture_16.jpeg)

![](_page_35_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 27.** Measured HO<sub>2</sub> number density vs modeling predictions. The 2% H<sub>2</sub>-2% O<sub>2</sub>-Ar mixture at T = 600 K, P = 130 Torr, excited by a ns pulse discharge burst. Sustained reactivity due to chain propagation reactions after the burst (at t > 10 ms) is apparent. Reproduced with permission from [193].

dominate the plasma generation behind hypersonic shocks [195] and may be strongly affected by reactions involving electronically excited metastable atoms. However, the rate coefficients of these reactions have never been measured over a wide temperature range. Detailed chemistry is also expected to play a role in the formation of the plasma sheath for disruptive technology applications, such as electron emission for transpiration cooling of hypersonic vehicles [196], for which suitable mechanisms need to be developed. Finally, aerothermochemistry challenges include the reduction of detailed mechanisms and their efficient coupling to flow solvers (see also section 18) for both the rarefied and continuum flow regimes to achieve predictive simulations [197].

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Spectroscopic detection of HO<sub>2</sub> and other peroxy radicals (RO<sub>2</sub>), e.g. by near-IR absorption, is complicated by the spectral interference from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and hydrocarbon species [198]. This difficulty may be circumvented by making the measurements in a supersonic expansion flow at low temperature and pressure, downstream of the plasma flow reactor, which would simplify the isolation and identification of the absorption transitions. This approach has been used recently for cavity ring down spectroscopy (CRDS) measurements of metastable N<sub>2</sub> ( $A^3 \Sigma_u^+$ ) molecules in a Mach 5 flow of nitrogen [199]. An alternative diagnostic technique is Faraday Rotation Spectroscopy, which has been used for HO<sub>2</sub> measurements during dimethyl ether oxidation in a heated, atmospheric pressure, slow flow reactor [200]. Detection of QOOH radicals would require the efficient generation of large amounts of O atoms and alkyl radicals (R) in preheated highpressure ns pulse discharge plasmas, due to the low yield of the QOOH formation reactions [194], as well as isolating the absorption transitions for the CRDS measurements at low pressure and temperature.

Experimental validation is also a crucial step in the development of hypersonic databases. For instance, measurements of the rate coefficients of associative ionization in

collisions of metastable atoms necessitate meeting several technical challenges, (a) measurements of excited atoms, e.g. by tuneable diode laser absorption spectroscopy or atomic resonance absorption spectroscopy; and (b) measurements of the product molecular ions,  $N_2^+$  (by cavity ring-down spectroscopy) and NO<sup>+</sup> (by quantum cascade laser absorption spectroscopy). Perhaps the biggest challenge of these measurements is isolating the associative ionization in atomic collisions from that in collisions of excited molecules, forming complex molecular ions such as  $N_4^+$  and  $(CO)_2^+$ , and from the electron impact ionization. This would require generation of high concentrations of metastable atoms, e.g. by the rapid energy transfer from other long-lived metastables, such as  $N_2(A^3\Sigma_u^+)$  or  $Ar^{(3p^54s)}$  in low-temperature, high-pressure ns pulse discharges [193], or by using thermal excitation in high-temperature, high-pressure inductively-coupled plasmas [201]. A difficulty encountered in the validation and calibration of models by means of experimental data is to consider jointly both experimental and model uncertainties. Bayesian inference is a powerful stochastic technique to extract model parameters, for instance allowing us to reduce the standard deviation on the catalytic efficiency of thermal protection materials [202]. Finally, efficient computational strategies can be used to compute detailed thermochemical effects coupled to flow solvers, such as using a Lagrangian diffusive reactor moving along the streamlines of a steady baseline flow simulation. This technique has been successfully used for the interpretation of meteor trails observations by accounting for aerothermal heating and ablation [203]. It could be applied to the infrared (IR) and radio-frequency signature of space debris, as well as dual applications.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Elucidating the kinetics of low-temperature radicals, over a range of temperatures, pressures, equivalence ratios, and primary radical concentrations (controlled by the discharge waveform and specific energy loading) would map the plasma induced chain propagation/branching region in the desired operation parameter space. Nonintrusive spectroscopic diagnostics of QOOH radicals would provide unique insight into the kinetics of plasma induced oxidation and ignition of complex hydrocarbon species. Both of these goals are critical for the development and wide engineering applications of plasmaassisted combustion and fuel reforming technologies. At this time, the use of plasma-assisted combustion technologies in mass-produced engines remains limited, in spite of recent progress in the development of MW discharge igniters [204].

Understanding and quantifying the role of aerothermochemistry, in particular excited atoms in the plasma generation in hypersonic flows, is essential for the reliable communication with atmospheric entry and cruise vehicles operating in the upper atmosphere, enabling their confident remote control and guidance. Simulating plasma–surface interactions is crucial to thermal management. Multiphysics solvers coupled to detailed chemistry mechanisms requires some validation using uncertainty quantification based on experimental data obtained in ground facilities and in flight.

#### 16. Thermal plasma applications

#### Xingwen Li<sup>1</sup> and Jaco van der Walt<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, People's Republic of China
 <sup>2</sup> The South African Nuclear Energy Corporation SOC Ltd, Pretoria, South Africa

#### Status

Thermal plasma applications are part of our everyday life. Arc welding, plasma cutting, arcs in circuit breakers, light sources and thermal waste treatment are some of the more common applications. Some specialized applications include analytical instrumentation, metal AM [205], nano-particle production, specialized thermal chemistry, plasma spraying [206]. Arc welding, plasma cutting and plasma spraying were discussed in the 2017 Plasma Roadmap as three of the most important applications. Significant advances in the science relating to modeling of various aspects of these applications were made in the past 5 years, largely addressing the challenges identified [207]. In recent years, some thermal plasma applications play more and more important roles in the low-carbon and green growth development worldwide as was also mentioned in the 2017 Plasma Roadmap.

Seeking eco-friendly SF<sub>6</sub>-alternative gases and studying their arc plasma properties and arc-extinguishing mechanism have been a hotspot [208]. Several gases like perfluoroketones  $C_5F_{10}O$  and perfluoronitrile  $C_4F_7N$  have been introduced within the last several years. Based on these gases, the industry has developed gas insulated switchgears. In addition to the technical performances, their fundamental physicochemical properties have been studied [209–211]. Researchers have also tried to build relationships between these intrinsic properties of the gas and their arc-interruption capability [212].

Plasma gasification is a high temperature technology, specifically developed for efficient destruction of the organic content of waste, producing either a safe off gas (nitrogen, carbon dioxide and water) or syngas (nitrogen, carbon monoxide and hydrogen). Due to the high energy density and direct heat transfer of thermal plasma, lower power is needed to supply sufficient energy for the gasification, compared to conventional technologies. Plasma gasification technology is particularly well suited to be applied for destruction of dangerous, unsorted mixed waste streams such as nuclear-, medical-, chemical- and pharmaceutical waste [213].

The increased interest in metal AM (see also section 7) for complex designs places emphasis on spherical powder production. RF induction plasma spheroidization of metals, alloys and ceramics is receiving renewed attention in industry especially relating to *in situ* alloying.

#### Current and future challenges

Even for the up-to-date  $SF_6$  substitutes, their arc-quenching properties are far from well understood. The large current interruption involves multiple decomposition and

![](_page_36_Figure_12.jpeg)

**Figure 28.** (a) LTE composition of pure  $C_4F_7N$  as a function of temperature at 0.1 MPa. (b) Chemical kinetic analysis of the time-dependence of the composition for a non-LCE state  $C_4F_7N$  arc plasma at 2000 K. (a) and (b) Reprinted from [209], with the permission of AIP Publishing.

recombination reactions under high pressure and high temperature, high efficiency energy dissipation under turbulences and controlled flows, as well as electron transport and dielectric strength recovery after current zero. Advanced arc quenching principles should be proposed to match the specific properties of these novel gases, which faces both numerical and experimental challenges.

Due to the irreversibility of the decomposition of the  $SF_6$ -alternative gases, MHD modeling linking chemical kinetics should be developed to better describe the arc behaviors, because most present arc models are based on the local thermodynamic equilibrium (LTE) and local chemical equilibrium (LCE) assumptions. Besides, the interaction between the arc and electrode or nozzle should be studied [214]. The above two challenges are also mentioned for other thermal plasma applications in the 2017 Roadmap and they remain to date. Moreover, the lack of electron-neutral

![](_page_37_Picture_2.jpeg)

Figure 29. Containerized plasma waste to energy system.

scattering cross sections of these new gases and their decomposition species is another challenge. The calculation of the dielectric strength of residual hot gas after arc burning based on particle transport or Boltzmann analysis requires the complete and accurate sets of cross sections of all species present. The question of the accuracy, self-consistency and completeness of datasets for different LTP applications is detailed in section 20.

In the case of the plasma gasification, local supply of specialized parts, like the power supply, is preferable, but in many cases not possible. A high capital cost negatively influences the economical viability of plasma gasification waste treatment systems.

On the scientific side, computational fluid dynamics (CFD) modeling of the gasification reactor could aid the design, taking mass transfer, thermal and dynamic flow characteristic of the plasma tail flame into account.

CFD modeling of the RF induction plasma spheroidization system to predict the optimal particle size and density for a particular plasma power is the current challenge in the market. Especially for specialized metal alloys, and super alloys. Spherical Zr, ZrO<sub>2</sub>, Al and  $U_xAl_y$  particle application in the nuclear industry is also riddled with its own challenges relating to part quality and alloy composition.

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Advanced arc modeling should pay more attention to chemical kinetics while calculating the plasma composition under non-LTE and non-LCE states [209]. A comparison of a  $C_4F_7N$ arc plasma composition under LTE and a non-LTE/LCE state is shown in figure 28. Besides, the dissociated species of SF<sub>6</sub>-alternative gases should be precisely evaluated, to be able to determine an optimal formula of the gas mixture [215] and judge the interruption reliability. Advanced diagnostic tools continue to be of strong interest, including turbulent flow observation with laser probes, post-arc current measurement, and especially optical measurement techniques that do not rely on the LTE assumption. For example, Thomson scattering or wave-front sensors have been used to characterize the electron dynamics during arc decaying [216].

The search for new SF<sub>6</sub>-alternatives continues. In analogy with the material genome approach [217], the discovery, screening, design and optimization of SF<sub>6</sub>-alternatives could benefit from high-throughput computations. The multidimensional structure-activity relationships can be built by machine learning strategies. Meanwhile, high-throughput experiments such as pulsed Townsend experiments and selfconsistent physical models based on the cross sections can provide the validations. Finally, unified methods with high test efficiency for both insulation and arc-extinguishing properties of SF<sub>6</sub>-alternative gases should be established.

The establishment of small, medium and micro enterprises for plasma gasification application in developing countries is beneficial to the local economy. Therefore, starting a local supply chain for specialized plasma equipment, either through local development and manufacturing or a local agency, is a possible solution to the equipment supply limitation.

Optimization of RF induction reactor, the non-transfer arc plasma torch and gasification reactor equipment by CFD modeling, in collaboration with local and international Universities will be needed in order to meet the challenges. Government support in these programs is of utmost importance.

Some developing countries are also starting to implement the 'zero waste to landfill' protocol, forcing local industries to evaluate modern technologies. This opens the door for the market to accept a plasma waste destruction or waste to energy processes as a more efficient alternative to conventional processes. An example of such a system is presented in figure 29.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Tackling climate change is one of the greatest challenges of our generation. Some countries have solemnly promised to take direct and meaningful action to reduce carbon emissions and to develop  $SF_6$ -alternative gas-based power equipment is an important contribution to this task. An efficient way to search for new  $SF_6$  substitutes and more accurate approaches to evaluate the insulation and arc-quenching properties need to be developed.

All the well-known and specialized plasma technologies (including plasma waste gasification and plasma waste to energy technologies) will address several key environmental requirements of the modern world. Although some challenges are experienced in the application of this technology in developing countries, the opportunities outweigh the challenges.

Spheroidization of ceramic, metal alloy and super alloy particles and determining their optimum operational parameters will have far reaching consequences in the nuclear, specialized materials and jewelry industries.

#### 17. Plasma diagnostics

Sedina Tsikata<sup>1</sup> and Peter Bruggeman<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> ICARE, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), Orléans, France
 <sup>2</sup> University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, United States of America

#### Status

Plasma diagnostics remain one of the cornerstones of advances in LTP science. Over the last 20 years, major progress has been enabled by plasma technology in the development of devices for applications in materials synthesis and processing, environmental remediation, space propulsion, and human health. This progress has significantly broadened the range of plasma conditions and parameters to be tackled with diagnostics. While empirical approaches for the optimization of industrial plasma devices are commonplace, the inherently complex nature of plasma devices leads to a growing need for advanced diagnostics and modeling to enable the prediction of device behavior and ideal processing conditions. As illustrated in figure 30, further development and implementation of plasma diagnostics will continue to play a key role in advancing plasma science and its underpinning applications.

In the last few years, there are several areas in which diagnostics have contributed to device optimization and to an improved understanding of the fundamental physics of LTPs. Firstly, the increased availability and reduced costs associated with equipment such as femtosecond and picosecond lasers, high-efficiency detectors (permitting, for example, single photon detection), and narrow band filters [218], have provided opportunities to greatly enhance the capabilities of diagnostics, such as Thomson scattering and laser-induced fluorescence diagnostics. This has been achieved by increasing the detection sensitivity and expanding the implementation to a broader range of plasma conditions previously not readily accessible. A second area of progress (aided also by the availability of new radiation sources and detectors) has been the development of new diagnostics, such as THz-domain spectroscopy [219, 220] and E-FISH [221].

Researchers have also continued to implement established diagnostics to investigate previously unexplored plasma regimes. Examples include the use of coherent Rayleigh Brillouin scattering to probe nanoparticle formation in plasmas [222] and laser induced fluorescence to measure OH densities in discharges in bubbles in liquid [223]. In addition, the implementation of diagnostics well-established in other research areas provides new insights in plasma science, for example, using second harmonic generation (SHG) to probe the plasma– liquid interface and *in situ* Raman spectroscopy to measure plasma-produced liquid phase species during plasma–liquid interactions [224].

The improved coordination of numerical, theoretical and experimental efforts has accelerated advances in plasma science. A notable example can be found in the plasma propulsion community. The lack of understanding of anomalous electron

![](_page_38_Figure_10.jpeg)

**Figure 30.** Schematic representation of the impact of diagnostics on the field of modern plasma science and engineering. The entire spectrum of current plasma studies, spanning fundamental laboratory investigations to industrial plasma-based processes, relies on diagnostics implementations (AMO = atomic, molecular and optical physics).

transport in magnetized plasmas such as Hall thrusters has motivated several research initiatives, including direct comparisons between numerical and experimental findings, and mutual code benchmarking by international teams [185]. Such an integrated approach has ensured that information from diagnostics has contributed to the revision of existing models and the emergence of new fundamental understanding around, for instance, plasma instabilities [225]. Such an integrated collaborative approach might also benefit other areas in LTPs.

#### Current and future challenges

Even with many avenues to progress now available, several challenges and research questions (some longstanding) remain to be fully addressed.

While advances in technology continue to expand the boundaries of current measurement capabilities, it is worth emphasizing the critical importance of building and maintaining core expertize in diagnostics in the research community. Plasma diagnostics are inherently *in situ* tools and often require a coordinated effort between reactor design and diagnostic implementation. The model of diagnostic facilities mainly enabling *ex situ* characterization, which has been proven to be highly successful in material science, is hence not readily transferable to the field of plasma science. Stability and reproducibility requirements on plasma sources for many diagnostics often exceed typical requirements for applications, with many additional source design challenges, as touched upon in section 1. In addition, most advanced diagnostics are not turnkey systems and require a high degree of training for their correct implementation and interpretation to maximize their intrinsic value. This requires investments, not only in equipment, but in the support and creation of dedicated research teams.

As mentioned earlier, significant value can be added to diagnostics when numerical, experimental and theoretical efforts are combined. One important challenge is the recognition and understanding of differences between the information accessed in experiments (often 3D systems) and that available from existing numerical and theoretical models (often 1D and 2D). In many instances where plasma diagnostics are used, parallel efforts in simulation are lacking; where they exist, assumptions and limitations of numerical models may at times be downplayed.

Practical challenges limit the applications of diagnostics, although significant progress has been achieved on some fronts. Measurements near the material boundaries in which plasmas are contained, while exceedingly important for many applications, remain challenging, as do investigations of sheaths (micron-scale in many magnetized LTPs and collisional high-pressure plasmas). This challenge has limited diagnostic insights on aspects such as plasma-wall interaction, which can dictate the operation of many devices. Obtaining diagnostics access within plasmas created in, or interfacing with, liquids remains challenging particularly when extending diagnostics into the liquid phase near the plasma-liquid interface. There is also a general need for highly temporally and spatially resolved diagnostics: this is particularly important given the presence of larger gradients in plasmas near boundaries, the fast dynamics of pulsed discharges, and the presence of non-uniformities and self-organization in many devices [226]. The sheer range of technological applications of LTPs makes diagnostic implementations which permit in situ measurement in industrial devices of high value and could narrow the gap between laboratory and practical source implementations. In particular, in situ surface diagnostics are largely unexplored and are of major importance for advancing our understanding of plasma-surface interactions as described elsewhere in this roadmap (section 19).

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Despite the complexity of the challenges associated with the exploitation of plasma diagnostics, several factors suggest that they will play a sustained, and even amplified, role in research in LTPs. Plasma diagnostics already play an indispensable role in all areas of modern plasma science: the investigation of new physics, the validation of existing and new models for plasma behavior, and the development and optimization of plasma-based applications throughout industry.

With the emergence of more diverse and advanced simulation techniques (such as sparse grid approaches [227] and 3D PIC codes), there is a renewed opportunity to challenge existing and new models with diagnostics measurements, to a degree previously impossible. New simulation approaches should offer the chance to model atmospheric and low-pressure plasma discharges, within shorter time frames and to a higher degree of fidelity. Coupled with diagnostics information, this would represent a leap forward in building predictive capabilities for plasma devices.

As mentioned earlier, advancements in detector and laser technologies also contribute to the diversity of available diagnostics. As an illustration, even in plasmas of very low densities  $(10^{16} \text{ m}^{-3})$ , advancements such as the availability lownoise complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS) detectors used for Thomson scattering place within reach the measurement of electron velocity distribution functions even in the most challenging cases where deviations from Maxwellian behavior have so far proven difficult to measure. Technological advancements, even when not necessarily leading to the creation of entirely new diagnostics, can revolutionize the implementation of existing tools for a broader range of plasma conditions.

The development of new approaches to data handling which have been exploited in other research domains provides new opportunities for progress in how diagnostics are used. Exciting new studies in laser plasma physics and fusion research [228] show how insights into the underlying physics of source operation can be gained using large data sets; LTPs could benefit from seeking inspiration from these areas of research. In LTPs, the array of available diagnostics, upgraded diagnostics approaches, and emergent diagnostics, may all now be used to constitute these data sets. In support of this idea, the standardization of sources for diagnostics observations would not only speed up ongoing investigations and simulation development, but would also promote collaboration between national and international teams. Such efforts, using devices such as the Gaseous Electronics Conference cell [229], applied to the study of plasma processing science, and the COST Reference Microplasma Jet [230], developed to study plasma-bio interactions, have proven to be valuable in developing a clearer understanding of underlying plasma processes in the past. The development of standardized devices for fundamental studies, is also under consideration in other communities [178]. While such devices are often designed to facilitate diagnostics and simulation investigations, their architectures are typically constructed to achieve operation conditions directly relevant to specific applications.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Plasma diagnostics remain at the forefront of efforts to understand the physics of LTP devices. The value of such diagnostics is enhanced by recent progress: in related technologies (detectors, laser sources for non-invasive measurement), in modeling approaches (multidimensional codes), and in data exploitation (machine learning). In the coming years, there will be a need for focused community efforts to take advantage of such progress. The development and maintenance of specific expertize around plasma diagnostics is an important priority; this will not only enable the emergence of new diagnostics ideas but will also ensure that outputs from diagnostics studies can contribute more effectively to advances in plasma science.

#### 18. Theory, modeling and simulations

Miles M Turner<sup>1</sup> and Zoltan Donkó<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dublin City University, Dublin, Ireland

<sup>2</sup> Wigner Research Centre for Physics, Budapest, Hungary

#### Status

Theory, modeling and simulations complement experimental investigations of LTP sources, providing access to quantities that are difficult or impossible to determine experimentally and allowing their knowledge-based optimization. Computational techniques have been applied in LTP science from at least the early 1960s and their importance has been increasing ever since. The most recent decadal study [231] states 'computational modeling capabilities are critically important in advancing LTP science and technologies'. A large fraction of this work is carried out using standard tools, which existed in recognizable form by at least the early 1990s. These tools include solvers for the Boltzmann equation in various formulations, chemical kinetics models ('global models'), 'fluid' models based on moments of the Boltzmann equation (including hybrid models which combine fluid and kinetic elements), and fully kinetic models such as Monte Carlo methods and PIC (PIC/MCC) simulations. There has been considerable evolution in the way these techniques are applied, in response to both changes in the application focus and improvements in computational methods. For instance, increasing emphasis on atmospheric pressure discharges has motivated the introduction of local mesh refinement schemes in fluid and hybrid models, and the increasing availability of high-performance computing (HPC) resources has allowed kinetic simulations to greatly increase in ambition. A variety of other models are commonly linked to these plasma models, treating interactions with solids, liquids, and even biological systems, reflecting the broadening of the field of applications of LTPs in, e.g. material processing, agriculture, and medicine. So, in spite of the stability of the basic techniques used, there has been steady progress in the scope and power of computer simulation of LTPs, and this progress continues. These powerful and evolving techniques have allowed simulation work to play an important and sometimes central role in the remarkable scientific progress that LTP physics has achieved over the last several decades. Besides numerical studies, theory is still a major source of understanding physical effects in plasma sources. In particular, significant achievements were obtained during the past years in various fields, like transport phenomena [184, 232] physics of plasma sheaths [233-235] and of plasma-solid interface [236].

#### **Current and future challenges**

The field faces challenges of several kinds. Some problems appear not accessible with present techniques, e.g. transport in some magnetized plasmas requires 3D kinetic treatment. Such challenges seem likely to be met by expanding the capabilities of the tools mentioned above. Other challenges may require far reaching methodological changes. Reference [231] remarks 'predictive computational modeling capabilities are critically important' and 'models are required that are fully fundamentally physics based, but also have the robustness to be used for design and optimization of devices'. These goals call for a simulation approach with more rigor than is usually seen in studies of LTPs. Experience in other fields, such as CFD, suggest that quantitative prediction is difficult without the formal approach usually called 'verification and validation' or 'V&V' [237]. This approach, however, can greatly increase the cost and complexity of a computational study. Since the traditional approach has proved highly productive, careful navigation is needed between the rapid progress permitted by less formal approaches, and the predictive power promised via the machinery of V&V.

Increasing computer power can broaden the range of challenges that can be addressed, for example by increasing the number of spatial dimensions, extending of the parameter space (uncovering effects under extreme values of operation parameters [238], see figure 31), and/or executing computations based on models with increased complexity. In recent decades, increased computer power has become available mainly by adding various kinds of parallelism, such as vectorisation and multiple execution threads. This is broadly true for both conventional processors (CPUs) and graphical processing units (GPUs). Using these facilities effectively is not at all straightforward and requires a large commitment to specialized software design and implementation. Moreover, the target moves, as computer architecture changes on a timescale often shorter than the lifetime of a particular code (which is often decades). Consequently, developing a code that fully exploits the opportunities offered by modern HPC while satisfying the requirements imposed by formal V&V procedures is extremely difficult, and this difficulty is especially acute for a field like LTP physics which is characterized by rather small research groups with limited resources.

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

So far, most codes developed in the LTP community are CPU based and the diversity of plasma conditions studied has limited collaborative code developments. The transition of these codes to GPU platforms will not be straightforward and could be aided by joint efforts of several research groups [239]. The development of open-source codes could allow the LTP community both to carry out multiscale and multiphysics simulations that are out of reach now and to become more visible among the leading scientific communities using HPC.

In recent years, PIC/MCC models, initially developed for low-pressure plasmas, have been used for a wider range of plasma conditions, e.g. for atmospheric pressure where previously only fluid models were used. This overlap of both

![](_page_41_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 31. GPU-based PIC/MCC simulation results from [238] focusing on the charged particle dynamics in capacitively coupled plasmas operated at etching conditions: at a very low pressure and very high voltage. Identical electrode surface materials (SiO<sub>2</sub>) are assumed at both sides of the plane-parallel discharge arrangement with a gap of L = 5 cm, the argon gas pressure is 1 Pa. (a) Excitation voltage waveform with 400 kHz low-frequency (lf) amplitude of 10 kV and 40 MHz high-frequency (hf) amplitude of 1400 V. The gray shaded time interval is shown magnified in the lower panels. (b) Current density of the electrons reaching the grounded electrode (situated at the position of 5 cm) as a function of time for three selected hf periods as a consequence of the spatio-temporal dynamics of the electric field (the black line indicates the position of the sheath edge). High peaks of the electron current appear at times of strong electric field reversals (shown by green color) created upon the extremely fast decay of the sheath. Such high flux of the electrons has a potential to compensate the positive charge deposited within the trenches during etching processes. Reproduced from [238]. © IOP Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved.

approaches paves the way for the derivation from kinetic solutions of high-order fluid models and their closure terms for example for low-collisionality plasmas or for the modeling of non-local effects. A key point is also related to the use of dedicated numerical schemes for fluid equations. Recent efforts to derive new numerical schemes based on state-of-theart numerical analysis have to be pursued [240].

Code verification and validation are two crucial issues. Recently, 2D benchmarks have been carried out on atmospheric pressure ionization fronts [241] and instabilities in  $E \times B$  discharges [185]. This effort has to be pursued with the definition of benchmarks that allow to verify both different technical aspects of codes and provide confidence and a better understanding of the plasma physics simulated. Code validation by a rigorous comparison of simulation results with experimental results is a key challenge. Plasma simulation codes could be more systematically extended to include modules simulating different plasma diagnostics [242] to help better define the quantities used for code validation. To address these challenges, a regular workshop dedicated to V&V for simulations of LTPs could be very helpful for the community.

Finally, it is also important to underline the need for accurate input data (cross sections, rate coefficients, surface coefficients, etc), see section 20. Efforts to develop a database as LXCAT with standardized input data, accompanied with papers [243] and sessions in conferences have to be pursued.

#### **Concluding remarks**

Computational studies should be based on solid physical models and input data and it should be kept in mind that only the code verification can ensure that the numerical results follow exactly the underlying model. Code-to-code benchmarking can also enhance the credibility of results. At the same time, rigorous comparison of experimental results with simulation data paves the way towards the validation of discharge models. One should note, however, that some discharge characteristics can be determined experimentally with relatively large uncertainty and their computation is also based on models and input data with limited accuracy. This is indeed a difficulty in the experimental benchmarking of computational modeling. Sensitivity analysis could help quantifying the uncertainties of the computational results originating from the errors in the input data (cross sections, rate coefficients, surface coefficients, etc). Such an analysis is, however, a very demanding task especially over a wide domain of operation parameters. Finally, it is noted that robust plasma models may eventually help to determine missing fundamental data.

## 19. Diagnostics and modeling of plasma–surface interactions

#### Sumit Agarwal<sup>1</sup> and Natalia Babaeva<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Colorado School of Mines, Golden, United States of America
 <sup>2</sup> Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow, Russia

#### Status

Plasma is usually produced in bounded volumes, and in many cases is designed for interactions with surfaces, which can be dielectrics, metals, polymers, or even biological matter. The surface material interacts with the ions, radicals, excited neutral species and photons produced in the plasma, which can be utilized for growth, etching, or modification of surfaces or surface reactions in plasma catalysis. Many similarities exist between processes underpinning surface modification in material processing where the plasma is mostly at low pressures and those used for high-pressure plasmas in the context of plasma-catalysis and biomedical applications. Optimization of plasma materials processing relies heavily on trial-and-error experimentation. Often, the observed trends are reactor specific, rarely providing any insight into the microscopic mechanisms. Therefore, in situ plasma and surface diagnostics are required to establish mechanistic relations between fundamental plasma parameters and the processes that occur on surfaces. Ions, electrons, neutrals, and radiation from the plasma lead to modification in the surface composition, bonding, and structure due to chemical reactions, physical sputtering, ioninduced heating, secondary electron emission, and surface charging.

Multiple diagnostic tools exist for measuring fundamental plasma parameters (see section 17) including the electron density, and electron and ion energy distribution functions and absolute densities of neutral species. The determination of the surface composition and bonding in contact with a plasma poses challenges since most surface spectroscopic tools are not compatible with a plasma environment. While the plasmaexposed surfaces can be characterized ex situ using techniques such as photoelectron spectroscopy, the surface bonding and structure can change once removed from the plasma environment even with in vacuo transfer. In that respect, in situ attenuated total reflection Fourier transform IR (FTIR) spectroscopy, SFG and ellipsometry are more robust techniques for surface analysis in a plasma environment (see figure 32) [244]. In recent years, DRIFTS, diffuse reflectance infra-red Fourier transform spectroscopy has been applied to study changes in surface coverages of catalysts during plasmacatalysis in situ. In addition, some efforts on in situ detection in plasma-bio-interactions have been reported using electronspin-resonance and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectroscopy. Nonetheless, these in situ techniques remain the exception rather than the rule to date and most if not, all are not surface specific.

Even if all relevant internal plasma parameters along with the surface composition and structure could be measured and

![](_page_42_Figure_9.jpeg)

**Figure 32.** IR absorbance change obtained from *in situ* ATR–FTIR (attenuated total reflectance FTIR) spectroscopy during one complete plasma ALE cycle. Spectrum in blue corresponds to  $CF_x$  deposited onto SiO<sub>2</sub> from a C<sub>4</sub>F<sub>8</sub>/Ar plasma. The remaining 6 spectra correspond to 10 s increments (dark green to red) of Ar plasma exposure. The reference spectrum for all spectra was recorded prior to the CF<sub>x</sub> deposition half-cycle. Reprinted with permission from [244]. Copyright (2017) American Chemical Society.

identified, the reaction pathways and reaction energetics of the radicals, excited neutral species and ions in the plasma with the surface must be visualized through either fluid, kinetic or hybrid models of the plasma discharge [30, 245, 246]. The coupling between plasma and surfaces in plasma models is often done through the introduction of phenomenological parameters such as sticking coefficients and secondary electron emission coefficients which are often poorly known (and mostly for species in their ground states) and sometimes even used as fitting parameters to match modeling results with experimental data [30]. While models of deposition and etching are relatively common, the introduction of surface reactions in plasma-catalysis only occurred recently. There has been an increasing amount of efforts on MD simulations to study fundamental interactions of plasma-produced reactive species on surfaces which has also been recently extended to biomolecules. Finally, whenever feasible, the energetics of reaction pathways of radicals with surfaces predicted by MD simulations should be validated with electronic structure calculations [247, 248].

#### **Current and future challenges**

PALD and ALE processes are increasingly being adopted in semiconductor manufacturing (see also section 5) [249]. Development of *in situ* surface diagnostic tools to identify the sidewall surface composition versus the planar areas during deposition on and etching of high AR structures will be

![](_page_43_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 33.** (a) Electron density in pore-chains with varying pore-opening sizes (left to right) of 37, 50, 75, 112, and 150  $\mu$ m. Plasma formation becomes surface-discharge dominated as the openings become larger. Reprinted from [255], with the permission of AIP Publishing. (b) Electric field (kV cm<sup>-1</sup>) produced by a plasma jet during its spreading on the target surface. Reproduced from [253]. © IOP Publishing Ltd. All rights reserved.

invaluable. The diagnostics and modeling of plasma–surface interactions will have to also be extended to new materials in semiconductor processing, catalysis, and biomedicine. One such area is the introduction of extreme UV lithography in semiconductor device manufacturing to replace traditional 193 nm UV lithography for pattern transfer where new resist materials will be incorporated including transition metal element-based resists [250]. In plasma-assisted catalysis [251] and in plasma medicine [144], the interaction with the catalytic surfaces or the biological surfaces, respectively, of charged species, radicals and excited neutral species needs to be better understood [144, 251].

One challenge for modeling of plasma surface interactions is the treatment of topographically nonuniform surfaces. For example, in the treatment of biological surfaces by atmospheric pressure plasma, the surface may have convex, concave or sloping topography with deep cracks. Plasma can propagate in a conformal manner along such nonplanar and rough surfaces, penetrate into deep cracks and trenches with high AR (see figure 33(a)). Atmospheric pressure plasma can generate high electric fields (figure 33(b)). These fields also determine the distributions of ion energies arriving to surfaces and the dynamics of surface charging. In plasma medicine they are important for the evaluation of cell electroporation, electrostatic rupture of cell membranes, and many other processes. The fluid or hybrid plasma simulations at atmospheric pressure should go further and evaluate the electric fields at different elevations over the surface and either confirm or correct the experimental measurements [252, 253].

Yet another important challenge is related to the problem of coupling of bulk plasma parameters and their effect on the surface [30, 254]. Furthermore, the properties of the surfaces such as oxidation or coverage by an adsorbate can also have an impact on the plasma. More detailed descriptions might require coupled plasma–solid models and simulations as discussed in a recent review [30].

## Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

The recent development of in situ plasma and surface diagnostic tools should play a key role in coming years to better understand plasma-surface interactions for applications ranging from material processing to plasma catalysis. However, most of these techniques remain difficult to implement in industrial plasma processing tools and the development and implementation of additional complementary techniques might be extremely valuable. To advance emerging applications of plasmas such as plasma medicine, in situ surface spectroscopic tools compatible with biological surfaces [144] should be combined with plasma diagnostics and modeling to obtain mechanistic understanding of the plasma-surface interactions. This fundamental experimental knowledge of plasma interactions with surfaces will then have to be incorporated into multiscale computational models to enable model development of industrial-scale processes.

Some promising steps towards the development of integrated models coupling the processes in the bulk plasma and at the plasma–surface interface have been taken recently ([30] and references therein). Four main approaches have been identified: kinetic Monte Carlo and MD (that are able to treat complex processes on large scales), quantum kinetic methods based on the quantum Boltzmann equation (which give access to a more accurate treatment of surface processes using simplifying models for the solid), ab initio simulations of surface process based on DFT and time-dependent DFT. The fourth method is using non-equilibrium Green functions which can treat correlation effects in the material and at the interface. Still, these four methods indicate only the main directions to follow in order to create a comprehensive picture of individual reactions of neutral species with well-defined surfaces. While efforts to address plasma-specific species in such models is emerging, it remains a challenge particular for excited species.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The improvement and development of the diagnostics capable of measuring surface properties during plasma exposure remains of significant importance. Development of integrated models and codes including the coupling of plasma simulations with surface modeling will help supplementing experiments especially when it is difficult to measure the relevant quantities at surfaces. The knowledge gained through these activities can be combined with development and optimization of new plasma sources and processes for a broad range of applications.

#### 20. Atomic, molecular and transport data

#### Luís Lemos Alves<sup>1</sup> and Annarita Laricchiuta<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Universidade de Lisboa, Lisboa, Portugal
 <sup>2</sup> CNR Institute for Plasma Science and Technology (ISTP) Bari Section, Bari, Italy

#### Status

LTPs are at the basis of key-enabling technologies (e.g. material synthesis and processing and energy and environment), they have been used in biological and medical applications, and they are essential to pave the way to Space exploration. Modeling studies and experimental analyses are extremely sensitive to the quality of data describing the complex physical-chemistry processes sustaining the plasma and enabling its reactivity [2]. Hence, assessing these data is essential from both fundamental and applied perspectives, to identify dynamic paths of operation and to provide effective control on the plasma properties. The roadmap to meet these challenges involves combined experimental and simulation efforts, where reliable data are key to interpret outcomes and define next steps.

The LTP community revealed a grown maturity in the process of curating (i.e. collecting, categorizing, archiving and distributing) dynamical data relevant to the kinetic modeling of LTPs (see section 18), moving from the cold gas approximation to the state-to-state approach, in the perspective of deepening the knowledge on elementary processes involving both electron and heavy species collisions. Examples of these efforts are demonstrated by the design and implementation of several web-access databases for the displaying, downloading and comparing of data, e.g. the LXCat open-access project [243] mainly collecting electron-scattering cross sections relevant for modeling LTPs, validated with swarm data analysis or obtained from quantum calculations; Quantemol-DB [256], mainly intended for the macroscopic collisional-radiative modeling of plasmas, recommending complete chemistries for specific systems of technological interest; Phys4EntryDB [257] including state-resolved dynamical information for elementary processes relevant to the kinetic modeling of planetary-atmosphere entry conditions. It is worth citing also e-science infrastructures developed for easy access to research data and information, e.g. the virtual atomic and molecular data center [258] and INPTDAT The Data Platform for Plasma Technology [259], endorsing the findability, accessibility, interoperability and re-use (FAIR) of data for the LTP community.

#### **Current and future challenges**

The need of datasets for complex molecular and radical species; the scarce information on data for interactions with surfaces; and the lack of reliable data for benchmarking of cross sections and rate constants remain some of the major challenges in the field [2]. In most cases experimental data were

![](_page_44_Figure_10.jpeg)

Figure 34. Data workflow: from collection to distribution in the community.

obtained decades ago and are not easily accessible on databases, where recent data essentially rely on theoretical results. Figure 34 outlines our view of the workflow from the collection of the data needed to their distribution in the community.

Assessing the accuracy of the data and the self-consistency and completeness of datasets, by comparing experimental results with theoretical calculations and simulations, are some of the most outstanding challenges to face. In the last decade, significant advancements have been done in AMO, with the calculation of accurate and state-specific electron-scattering cross sections [260], while polyatomic molecules and excited states are still the object of intense investigation. Modern quantumchemistry approaches, assisted by HPC, allow obtaining highquality electron-scattering data, where the complexity of the dynamics can be untangled by using information obtained with new experimental techniques able to follow transient species [261].

Dataset completeness is key to reliably accounting for the global transfer of momentum and energy in the plasma but should also intertwine with the detailed description of the plasma chemistry, including all relevant processes in a state-to-state approach that resolves the different internal degrees of freedom of the chemical species [259]. The correct inclusion of excited species brings additional complexity to the solution of kinetic schemes, requiring following the collisional dynamics on excited potential-energy surfaces, often non-adiabatically coupled to the ground state, to evaluate changes in the activation-energy barriers.

Future activities should focus on excited states as reactivity enhancers, e.g. the vibrational activation of  $CO_2$  and  $NH_3$ [155, 262], or the excited oxygen species in plasma-assisted combustion [263] (see section 15) and biomedical/agriculture applications [264] (see sections 9 and 11). Some of

![](_page_45_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 35. Conceptual scheme of expected progress in data for molecular plasmas, illustrated through the CO<sub>2</sub> LTP modeling.

these applications depend strongly on the transport of plasma species and their subsequent heterogeneous interaction with the boundaries. However, there is still a soft commitment in detailing and/or agreeing on the models and the data adopted in transport processes (especially in multicomponent scenarios and in the presence of negative ions), and in the plasma– surface interactions (especially when a reactive chemistry is activated).

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

Improving the quality of data requires synergistic interactions between modelers and experimentalists. Dedicated experiments and/or advanced theoretical models can contribute to significantly improve the accuracy and the completeness of datasets: validating state-specific excitation cross sections; characterizing the vibrational excitation of polyatomic molecules; characterizing the channeling in dissociation dynamics; exploiting (surface-hopping) MD techniques to enlighten the role of non-adiabatic coupling; including multipotential approaches for collision integrals and estimating the role of anisotropy in accurate potential surfaces for binary interactions in transport models; consolidating the description of diffusion processes at various gas pressures and plasma electronegativities; obtaining particular data to describe surface mechanisms; assigning uncertainties to data. Figure 35 depicts the progress line envisaged in data for molecular plasmas.

There is increasing awareness about the importance of sensitivity analysis in the assessment of LTP-related data (see [265] and references within), but this analysis is not yet being systematically adopted in the efforts of model validation. Future challenges will probably include the use of machine learning algorithms to ease the computational burden related with sensitivity analysis and the reduction of kinetic schemes (also within real-geometry CFD codes), aiming for the definition of 'reaction mechanisms': sets of reactions and rate coefficients validated against benchmark experiments.

The open-access to data raises additional questions about the need and the choice of a format to standardize their archiving, search and distribution, facilitating the comparison and interchange, also between codes and particularly for complex species and models. So far, the LTP community has not decided the route to follow, and a more systematic discussion about the topic has started only recently [266]. The need for plasma-specific archival systems is not obvious, considering the very different requirements (both in the volume and the complexity of data) claimed by different users, and the existing platforms and codes already available that contributed to disseminate specific data formats. The challenges ahead are in finding the proper balance between methodological prescriptions and concrete steps to facilitate data distribution. The solution might require addressing not only the topic of data format, but also the development of associated tools for data processing.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The progress in obtaining, assessing, and curating AMO data is a key step for the reliable modeling of LTPs, and the time has come for a leapfrog towards the detailed description of the collisional dynamics, allowing to identify reaction mechanisms and, ultimately, to control the plasma. The outlined strategy, from the investigation of theoretical/experimental elementary processes to the recommendation of chemical models, will need the joint effort of the quantum chemistry and the plasma modeling communities.

Overcoming the challenges previously identified can be seriously undermined if a consequent level of funding is not targeted to the deployment of these community efforts. The current public policies worldwide that support the dissemination of data in open-access format often overlook the *a priori* need for obtaining the data, for example using quantum calculations and especially via complex expensive measurements. The calling for this awareness by the funding agencies is also part of our responsibility as a community.

#### 21. Data-driven plasma science and technology

Satoshi Hamaguchi<sup>1</sup> and Jan Trieschmann<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Osaka University, Suita, Japan <sup>2</sup> Kiel University, Kiel, Germany

#### Status

In the standard methodology of natural science, one understands nature first by observing it, second by forming a hypothesis to explain it, and then by testing the hypothesis to confirm that nothing is inconsistent with the observations. We typically use 'theory' to form a hypothesis and use 'experiments' to test the hypothesis. Modern technologies have allowed 'numerical simulation' to embody a theory in the form that can be easily compared with experimental observations (i.e. theory  $\rightarrow$  experiments). Similarly what modern technologies allow to help one form a hypothesis based on the observations (i.e. experiments  $\rightarrow$  theory) may be called 'data science' or 'data-driven science' [267].

Data science has been a subdiscipline of statistics and information science for many decades but recently attracted much attention in our society as a basis for paradigmshifting technologies of handling a large amount of data. This is because the computational power has increased to the extent that those technologies significantly affect our daily lives, including commerce, politics, and culture. In 2011, then US President Barack Obama initiated a national project called the 'Materials Genome Initiative (MGI)', where material data were generated and strategically utilized to design new materials with a minimum number of experimental trials [268]. The success of this project has inspired new approaches in many other scientific disciplines, including plasma science. Existing but not fully exploited data or a large amount of data generated strategically may give us hints on the underlying physical mechanisms of extremely complex systems and allow us to study unchartered territories of science and technology systematically.

Compared with data science application to materials science (which is often called 'materials informatics (MI)') [269], where most data are static, data in plasma science are often dynamic (i.e. time-dependent). Because LTPs are used to process materials, we may want to predict how to make a material with given properties (which may be called 'process informatics'), rather than just to predict what properties a given material would have. In this sense, data science application to plasma science ('plasma informatics') may be far more complex than MI.

#### Current and future challenges

In plasma science, most studies using data-science-based techniques seem to fall into, at least, one of the following four categories; (a) real-time control of systems, (b) data

![](_page_46_Figure_10.jpeg)

**Figure 36.** An example of the predicted sputtering yield (solid curve) of tungsten (W) irradiated by atomic nitrogen ions (N<sup>+</sup>) as a function of incident ion energy. The angle of incidence is normal to the W surface. The experimental data given in [272] are also plotted. The shaded region represents the uncertainty of the prediction, which is based on GRP of all yield data given in [272]. The uncertainty is large for ion energies larger then 10<sup>4</sup> eV because there are not many experimental data in this energy range, whereas it is small even below 100 eV because yield data for other materials similar to W and/or incident ions similar to N<sup>+</sup> exist in this energy range. (Courtesy of Dr K Ikuse.)

analyses to extract desired information, (c) prediction of behaviors of complex systems, and (d) simplification of extensive numerical simulations. For example, as to the first category above, Mesbah et al [84, section 6] proposed a learning-based control of atmospheric-pressure plasmas. Park et al [270] explored techniques of virtual metrology (VM, i.e. inference of physical quantities based on available indirect information) for plasma processing systems. Techniques used in VM can offer complementary approaches to the development of new diagnostics discussed in section 17. For the second category, a study by Stokes et al [271] on the derivation of collision crosssection data may be a good example of raising productivity of data analyses. Automating the data analysis process can make the development of databases discussed in section 20 far more efficient. For the third category, a method to predict sputtering yields was discussed by Kino et al [272], using a regression model of existing experimental data [273]. The sputtering yields predicted by Gaussian process regression are now available on a website [274] and an example of a predicted sputtering yield is given in figure 36. These techniques may be applied to more complex systems of plasma-surface interactions discussed in sections 3, 5, 6 and 19. For the fourth category above, surrogate models, i.e. models that can reproduce the results of far more complex numerical calculations, for sputtering properties of various materials have been proposed

![](_page_47_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Figure 37.** An example of a data-driven sputtering surrogate model. Above: variational autoencoder artificial neural network which reduces a high-dimensional physical parameter space (i.e. sputtered energy distributions) to a low-dimensional latent parameter space *z*. While the encoder and the primary decoder facilitate the dimensionality reduction, the secondary decoder ensures compliance of relevant physical conditions (i.e. projectile energy, material composition). Below: reduced parameter space for argon ions sputtering a titanium–aluminum compound of varying material composition *x*. Colors indicate the interpretation of the secondary decoder (i.e. mean projectile energy, material composition). Reproduced with the permission of the American Vacuum Society, from [276], accepted for publication in the *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology* B.

by Krüger *et al* [275] and Gergs *et al* [276]. Figure 37 shows how such a model was formed with a variational autoencoder artificial neural network. Surrogate models of various plasmas have also been presented in, e.g. [277–279]. These examples are, of course, not meant to be exhaustive. Surrogate models of dynamical (i.e. time-dependent) simulations, as discussed in section 18, may be used to simulate and possibly control the system in real time.

The studies mentioned above typically processed a large amount of data, either existing ones or data the authors generated. However, in general, a shortage of data is a challenge in this field. We shall elaborate on this in the following subsection.

#### Advances in science and technology to meet challenges

A shortage of data, especially experimental data, may have resulted from a soft-if not the lack of-commitment to curate and use them systematically, as discussed in section 20. In MGI/MI, there have been concerted efforts to generate a large amount of data via high-throughput screening [280]. By searching or generating data systematically, one can generate not only a large amount of data but data that cover a large parameter space of the system. Bayesian optimization, one of the well-known techniques in data science, can be used for the design of experiments, which typically allows an efficient search of relevant data in a wide parameter space. The availability of large data sets with well-categorized metadata may be a challenge in plasma science. The diversity of plasma sources and applications may substantially limit the transferability of data. A community-wide effort to archive research data in plasma science and technology-possibly through interdisciplinary research data platforms such as INPTDAT [259, section 20]—should alleviate the problem of data shortage. Standardized metadata and availability of data following the findable, accessible, interoperable, reusable (FAIR) principles is an essential aspect that may facilitate comparable and collaborative scientific advances [281].

A shortage of experimental data may also be mitigated using complementary data obtained from numerical simulations. For example, the study of [271] used simulation data to supplement the available experimental data. The more fundamental advances that should occur in this field are to apply the constraints imposed by the laws of physics to data analyses. For example, physical constraints may be softly enforced during the regression of data by means of regularization or strictly enforced by structural embeddings. Such techniques are called physics-informed machine learning, e.g. as reviewed by Karniadakis *et al* [99, section 7]. Explanatory reasoning and inference of the underlying laws of physics from experimental or simulated data are the subjects of extensive study in the context of explainable artificial intelligence.

#### **Concluding remarks**

The application of data-science-based techniques to plasma science and technology offers novel pathways to a better understanding of the physical mechanisms of extremely complex plasma systems. For such approaches to be successful, the availability of data through various databases is a necessary condition, as discussed in section 20. Furthermore, the data quality and the systematic distribution of data in a given parameter space are important factors to be considered. So far various data-science-based techniques have been applied to characterize or understand complex systems related to plasmas and plasma-material interactions. It is generally believed that embedding physical constraints in data analysis and making the predictions by machine learning more explainable will further strengthen the data-driven analyses of plasma science and technology. How to achieve this is still a subject of ongoing studies.

#### Data availability statement

No new data were created or analyzed in this study.

#### Acknowledgments

The editors of this roadmap *Anne Bourdon* and *Peter J Bruggeman* in developing the 2022 Roadmap were supported by the US Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Fusion Energy Sciences, General Plasma Science program, under Award DE-SC-0020232, the National Science Foundation under Awards PHY 1903151, CBET 1703439 and PHY 2020695, the Army Research Office under Grant W911NF-20-1-0105, ANR (No. ANR-16-CHIN-003–01) and Safran Aircraft Engines within the Project POSEIDON. Anne Bourdon and Peter Bruggeman are thankful to Professors Uwe Czarnetzki and Mark J Kushner for helpful discussions during the preparation of the 2022 Plasma Roadmap.

*Milan Šimek and Mark J Kushner* thanks colleagues who provided input to the survey on research challenges (Z Bonaventura, T Farouk, J Foster, N Garland, A Hamdan, M Hasan, P Lukes, M Shneider, K Stapelmann, K Tachibana, A von Keudell). M J Kushner acknowledges support from the US National Science Foundation (CBET-2032604, PHY-2020010), Department of Energy (DE-SC0020232) and Army Research Office (W911NF-20-1-0105). M Šimek acknowledges support from the Czech Science Foundation (GA 18-04676S).

*Edward Thomas Jr and Gerrit M W Kroesen* thank the following agencies for their continued support of their dusty/complex plasma research. G K thanks the Dutch Foundation for Scientific Research (NWO), and the European Commission. E T thanks the National Science Foundation, Department of Energy, and NASA.

*Cristina Canal* acknowledges PID2019-103892RB-I00/AEI/ 10.13039/501100011033 Project (AEI) and the Generalitat de Catalunya for the ICREA Academia Award and SGR2017-1165. Dirk Hegemann acknowledges financial support by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF Project No. 200021\_169180).

*Eun Ha Choi* has been partially supported by National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF-2016K1A4A3914113). *and Thomas von Woedtke* gratefully acknowledges the financial support by the Federal German Ministry of Education and Research (Grant Nos. 03Z22DN11 and 03Z22DN12).

*Nevena Puač* is supported by MESTD of Republic of Serbia Grant No. 451-03-68/2021-14/200024. *Masaharu Shiratani* is supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Numbers 20H00142 and JSPS Core-to-Core Program JPJSCCA2019002.

Hyun-Ha Kim wishes to acknowledge the support from JST CREST (Grant Number JPMJCR19R3). Selma Mededovic Thagard would like to acknowledge support from the US Department of Energy, Office of Science, Office of Basic Energy Sciences Energy Frontier Research Centers Program (Award Number DE-SC-0001234).

The research by *Annemie Bogaerts* was funded by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (ERC Synergy Grant 810182 SCOPE).

*Eduardo Ahedo* was funded by Spain's Agencia Estatal de Investigación, under Grant No. PID2019-108034RB-I00 (ESPEOS Project).

*Igor V Adamovich* acknowledges the support of US Department of Energy Collaborative Research Center for Studies of Plasma-Assisted Combustion and Plasma Catalysis (Grant DE-SC0020233), and US Air Force Office of Scientific Research Grant FA9550-17-1-0370. The work of *Thierry E Magin* was supported by the European Space Agency (GSTP and TRP programs), European Research Council (Starting Grant #259354) and US Air Force Office of Scientific Research (Grant #FA9550-18-1-0209).

*Xingwen Li* was supported in part by the National Natural Science Foundation of China under Grants 51825702 and 51907154.

*Zoltan Donko* acknowledges the support by the National Office for Research, Development, and Innovation of Hungary (NKFIH) K-134462

The work of *Sumit Agarwal* was supported by Lam Research Corporation. The work of *Natalia Babaeva* was supported by RFBR Grant 20-02-00320.

*Luís Lemos Alves* was partially funded by the Portuguese 'FCT-Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia', under Projects UIDB/50010/2020 and UIDP/50010/2020.

Satoshi Hamaguchi thanks Dr Kazumasa Ikuse of Osaka University for helpful discussion as well as for providing figure 36. He is also grateful for the funding support by the Japan Society of the Promotion of Science (JSPS) Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) 21H04453, (S) 15H05736, Grant-in-Aid for Exploratory Research 18K18753, and JSPS Core-to-Core Program JPJSCCA2019002. Jan Trieschmann thanks Tobias Gergs and Professor Thomas Mussenbrock of Ruhr University Bochum for helpful discussions and continuous support. He acknowledges funding by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation)—Project-ID 138690629—TRR 87 and—Project-ID 434434223—SFB 1461.

#### **ORCID iDs**

I Adamovich b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6311-3940 E Ahedo b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2148-4553 L L Alves b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2677-574X

S Baalrud ( https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9641-2605

N Babaeva () https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3762-8542 A Bogaerts () https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9875-6460 A Bourdon ( https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3662-4651 P J Bruggeman ( https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3346-7275 S Coulombe D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9521-181X Z Donkó 💿 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1369-6150 D B Graves ( https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2288-6768 S Hamaguchi D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6580-8797 D Hegemann () https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4226-9326 H-H Kim D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4641-524X M J Kushner () https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7437-8573 A Laricchiuta D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6752-7419 X Li D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6823-3335 A B Murphy (b) https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2820-2304 G S Oehrlein D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6693-4274 S Samukawa b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4971-3290 M Shiratani D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4103-3939 M Šimek b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1730-8493 N Tarasenko D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2222-9389 K Terashima () https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2283-2396 E Thomas Jr ( https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7747-0284 J Trieschmann D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9136-8019 S Tsikata D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5104-0676 M M Turner () https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9713-6198 T von Woedtke D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1097-4832

#### References

- Samukawa S *et al* 2012 The 2012 Plasma Roadmap J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 45 253001
- [2] Adamovich I *et al* 2017 The 2017 Plasma Roadmap: low temperature plasma science and technology *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.* **50** 323001
- [3] Huiskamp T 2020 Nanosecond pulsed streamer discharges part I: generation, source-plasma interaction and energy-efficiency optimization *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 29 023002
- [4] Diono W, Machmudah S, Kanda H, Zhao Y and Goto M 2021 Pulsed discharge plasma in high-pressure environment for water pollutant degradation and nanoparticle synthesis *Plasma* 4 309–31
- [5] Tarasenka N et al 2020 Synergistic effect of plasma and laser processes in liquid for alloyed-nanoparticle synthesis *Phys. Rev. Appl.* 13 014021
- [6] Kanitz A, Kalus M-R, Gurevich E L, Ostendorf A, Barcikowski S and Amans D 2019 Review on experimental and theoretical investigations of the early stage, femtoseconds to microseconds processes during laser ablation in liquid-phase for the synthesis of colloidal nanoparticles *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 28 103001
- [7] Ahr P, Tsankov T V, Kuhfeld J and Czarnetzki U 2018 Inductively coupled array (INCA) discharge *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 27 105010
- [8] Gulko I, Jans E R, Richards C, Raskar S, Yang X, van den Bekerom D C M and Adamovich I V 2020 Selective generation of excited species in ns pulse/RF hybrid plasmas for plasma chemistry applications *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 29 104002
- [9] Holste K et al 2020 Ion thrusters for electric propulsion: scientific issues developing a niche technology into a game changer Rev. Sci. Instrum. 91 061101

Roadmap

- [10] Chen H, Yuan D, Wu A, Lin X and Li X 2021 Review of low-temperature plasma nitrogen fixation technology *Waste Dispos. Sustain. Energy* 3 201–17
- [11] Nau-Hix C, Multari N, Singh R K, Richardson S, Kulkarni P, Anderson R H, Holsen T and Mededovic Thagard S 2021 Field demonstration of a pilot-scale plasma reactor for the rapid removal of poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in groundwater ACS ES&T Water 1 680–7
- Trenchev G and Bogaerts A 2020 Dual-vortex plasmatron: a novel plasma source for CO<sub>2</sub> conversion *J. CO2 Util.* 39 101152
- [13] Krcma F, Kozáková Z Z, Mazánková V, Horák J, Dostál L, Obradović B, Nikiforov A and Belmonte T 2018 Characterization of novel pin-hole based plasma source for generation of discharge in liquids supplied by DC non-pulsing voltage *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 27 065001
- [14] Moldgy A, Nayak G, Aboubakr H A, Goyal S M and Bruggeman P J 2020 Inactivation of virus and bacteria using cold atmospheric pressure air plasmas and the role of reactive nitrogen species *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.* 53 434004
- [15] Hall T and Thomas E 2020 Dynamics of dust particles confined in imposed potential structures in strongly magnetized, low-temperature plasmas *Phys. Rev.* E 102 023208
- [16] Minesi N, Stepanyan S, Mariotto P, Stancu G D and Laux C O 2020 Fully ionized nanosecond discharges in air: the thermal spark *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 29 085003
- [17] Ono R and Komuro A 2020 Generation of the single-filament pulsed positive streamer discharge in atmospheric-pressure air and its comparison with two-dimensional simulation *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.* **53** 035202
- [18] Stauss S, Muneoka H and Terashima K 2018 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 27 023003
- [19] Parkevich E V, Medvedev M A, Ivanenkov G V, Khirianova A I, Selyukov A S, Agafonov A V, Korneev P A, Gus'kov S Y and Mingaleev A R 2019 *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 28 095003
- [20] Bataller A, Latshaw A, Koulakis J P and Putterman S 2019 Opt. Lett. 44 5832
- [21] Foster J E, Kovach Y E, Lai J and Garcia M C 2020 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 29 034004
- [22] Tang X and Staack D 2019 Sci. Adv. 5 7765
- [23] Stauss S and Terashima K 2017 Diamodoids: Synthesis, Properties, and Applications (New York: Jenny Stanford Publishing)
- [24] Sakakibara N, Yu PY, Ito T and Terashima T 2020 Astrophys. J. Lett. 891 L41
- [25] Bergeson S D, Baalrud S D, Ellison C L, Grant E, Graziani F R, Killian T C, Murillo M S, Roberts J L and Stanton L G 2019 Phys. Plasmas 26 100501
- [26] Hagelaar G J M, Donko Z and Dyatko N 2019 Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 025004
- [27] Baalrud S D and Daligault J 2019 Phys. Plasmas 26 082106
- [28] Scheiner B and Yoon T J 2021 J. Chem. Phys. 154 134101
- [29] Vanraes P and Bogaerts A 2021 J. Appl. Phys. 129 220901
- [30] Bonitz M et al 2019 Towards an integrated modeling of the plasma-solid interface Front. Chem. Sci. Eng. 13 201
- [31] Donko Z, Hamaguchi S and Gans T 2019 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 28 075004
- [32] Fierro A, Lehr J, Yee B, Barnat E, Moore C, Hopkins M and Clem P 2021 J. Appl. Phys. 129 073302
- [33] Dobrynin D, Rakhmanov R and Fridman A 2019 J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 52 39LT01
- [34] Šimek M, Hoffer P, Prukner V and Schmidt J 2020 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 29 095001

- [35] Bonaventura Z, Tungli J, Bílek P and Šimek M 2021 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 30 065023
- [36] Rumbach P, Bartels D M and Go D B 2018 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 27 115013
- [37] Benedikt J, Mokhtar Hefny M, Shaw A, Buckley B R, Iza F, Schäkermann S and Bandow J E 2018 Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 20 12037
- [38] Jirásek V and Lukes P 2019 Formation of reactive chlorine species in saline solution treated by non-equilibrium atmospheric pressure He/O<sub>2</sub> plasma jet *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 28 035015
- [39] Ranieri P, Mohamed H, Myers B, Dobossy L, Beyries K, Trosan D, Krebs F C, Miller V and Stapelmann K 2020 *Appl. Sci.* 10 2025
- [40] Kusaka R, Nihonyanagi S and Tahara T 2021 Nat. Chem. 13 306
- [41] Sakakura T, Murakami N, Takatsuji Y, Morimoto M and Haruyama T 2019 ChemPhysChem 20 cphc. 201900212
- [42] Bruggeman P J et al 2021 J. Appl. Phys. 129 200902
- [43] McGlynn R, Chakrabarti S, Alessi B, Moghaieb H S, Maguire P, Singh H and Mariotti D 2020 Sol. Energy 203 37
- [44] Martin D C, Bartels D M, Rumbach P and Go D B 2021 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 30 03LT01
- [45] Kruszelnicki J, Lietz A M and Kushner M J 2019 J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 52 355207
- [46] Toth J R, Abuyazid N H, Lacks D J, Renner J N and Sankaran R M 2020 ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 8 14845
- [47] Goertz C 1989 Dusty plasmas in the solar system *Rev. Geophys. Space Phys.* 27 271
- [48] Mann I et al 2011 Dusty plasma effects in near Earth space and interplanetary medium Space Sci. Rev. 161 1–47
- [49] Kramer N J, Aydil E S and Kortshagen U R 2015 Requirements for plasma synthesis of nanocrystals at atmospheric pressures J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 48 035205
- [50] Block D and Melzer A 2019 Dusty (complex) plasmas—routes towards magnetized and polydisperse systems J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 52 063001
- [51] Nosenko V, Meyer J, Zhdanov S K and Thomas H M 2018 New radio-frequency setup for studying large 2D complex plasma crystals AIP Adv. 8 125303
- [52] Haralson Z, Goree J and Belousov R 2018 Dusty plasma experiment to confirm an expression for the decay of autocorrelation functions *Phys. Rev. E* 98 023201
- [53] Kharchenko A V, Ouaras K, Suendo V, Ebothé J and Roca I Cabarrocas P 2019 Influence of p- and n-type doping gases on nanoparticle formation in SiH<sub>4</sub>/H<sub>2</sub> radio frequency plasma discharges used for polymorphous silicon thin film deposition J. Appl. Phys. **125** 163307
- [54] Miller K K, Gottfried J L, Walck S D, Pantoya M L and Wu C-C 2019 Plasma surface treatment of aluminum nanoparticles for energetic material applications *Combust. Flame* 206 211
- [55] Fermi Y, Kihel M, Sahli S and Raynaud P 2020 Synthesis of nanopowders in a PECVD reactor from organosilicon precursor *Phosphorus Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem.* **194** 978
- [56] van Minderhout B, van Huijstee J C A, Rompelberg R M H, Post A, Peijnenburg A T A, Blom P and Beckers J 2021 Charge of clustered microparticles measured in spatial plasma afterglows follows the smallest enclosing sphere model *Nat. Commun.* **12** 4692
- [57] Pustylnik M Y et al 2016 Plasmakristall-4: new complex (dusty) plasma laboratory on board the International Space Station Rev. Sci. Instrum. 87 093505
- [58] Holgate J T and Coppins M 2020 Enhancement of droplet ejection from molten and liquid plasma-facing surfaces by the electric field of the sheath J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 53 105204

- [59] Nosenko V, Luoni F, Kaouk A, Rubin-Zuzic M and Thomas H 2020 Active Janus particles in a complex plasma Phys. Rev. Res. 2 033226
- [60] Gao H, Wang G, Chen B, Zhang Y, Liu D, Lu X, He G and Ostrikov K 2021 Atmospheric-pressure non-equilibrium plasmas for effective abatement of pathogenic biological aerosols *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* **30** 053001
- [61] Kanarik K J, Lill T, Hudson E A, Sriraman S, Tan S, Marks J, Vahedi V and Gottscho R A 2015 Overview of atomic layer etching in the semiconductor industry J. Vacuum Sci. Technol. A 33 020802
- [62] Oehrlein G S, Metzler D and Li C 2015 Atomic layer etching at the tipping point: an overview ECS J. Solid State Sci. Technol. 4 N5041–53
- [63] Knoops H C M, Faraz T, Arts K and Kessels W M M 2019 Status and prospects of plasma-assisted atomic layer deposition J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A 37 030902
- [64] George S M 2010 Atomic layer deposition: an overview *Chem. Rev.* **110** 111–31
- [65] Lee Y-J et al 2016 High performance complementary Ge peaking FinFETs by room temperature neutral beam oxidation for sub-7 nm technology node applications IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting, 33.5 (San Francisco, 7 December 2016)
- [66] Hong T-Z et al 2020 First demonstration of heterogenous complementary FETs utilizing low-temperature (200 °C) hetero-layers bonding technique (LT-HBT) IEEE 2020 Int. Electron Device Meeting, 15.5 (Virtual Meeting, 4 December 2020)
- [67] Mackus A J M, Merkx M J M and Kessels W M M 2019 From the bottom-up: toward area-selective atomic layer deposition with high selectivity *Chem. Mater.* 31 2–12
- [68] Parsons G N and Clark R D 2020 Area-selective deposition: fundamentals, applications, and future outlook *Chem. Mater.* 32 4920–53
- [69] Merkx M J M, Vlaanderen S, Faraz T, Verheijen M A, Kessels W M M and Mackus A J M 2020 Area-selective atomic layer deposition of TiN using aromatic inhibitor molecules for metal/dielectric selectivity *Chem. Mater.* 32 7788–95
- [70] Wang S-B and Wendt A E 2000 Control of ion energy distribution at substrates during plasma processing J. Appl. Phys. 88 643–6
- [71] Huang S, Shim S, Nam S K and Kushner M J 2020 Pattern dependent profile distortion during plasma etching of high aspect ratio features in SiO<sub>2</sub> J. Vacuum Sci. Technol. A 38 023001
- [72] Yun S, Tom M, Luo J, Orkoulas G and Christofides P D 2022 Microscopic and data-driven modeling and operation of thermal atomic layer etching of aluminum oxide thin films *Chem. Eng. Res. Des.* **177** 96–107
- [73] Lin K-Y, Li C, Engelmann S, Bruce R L, Joseph E A, Metzler D and Oehrlein G S 2018 Achieving ultrahigh etching selectivity of SiO<sub>2</sub> over Si<sub>3</sub>N<sub>4</sub> and Si in atomic layer etching by exploiting chemistry of complex hydrofluorocarbon precursors J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A 36 040601
- [74] Kortshagen U and Favia P 2017 Plasma synthesis of nanomaterials and nanostructured materials J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 50 323001
- [75] Faraz T, Arts K, Karwal S, Knoops H C M and Kessels W M M 2019 Energetic ions during plasma-enhanced atomic layer deposition and their role in tailoring material properties *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 28 024002
- [76] Vallee C et al 2020 Plasma deposition—impact of ions in plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition, plasma

enhanced atomic layer deposition, and applications to area selective deposition *J. Vac. Sci. Technol.* A **38** 033007

- [77] Hirsch E W, Du L, Economou D J and Donnelly V M 2020 Evidence for anti-synergism between ion-assisted etching and in-plasma photoassisted etching of silicon in a high-density chlorine plasma J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A 38 023009
- [78] Boris D R, Wheeler V D, Nepal N, Qadri S B, Walton S G and Eddy C R (Chip) 2020 The role of plasma in plasma-enhanced atomic layer deposition of crystalline films J. Vac. Sci. Technol. A 38 040801
- [79] Bazaka K, Levchenko I, Lim J W M, Baranov O, Corbella C, Xu S and Keidar M 2019 MoS<sub>2</sub>-based nanostructures: synthesis and applications in medicine J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 52 183001
- [80] Tanaka Y 2018 Synthesis of nanosize particles in thermal plasmas Handbook of Thermal Science and Engineering ed F Kulacki (Berlin: Springer) pp 2791–828
- [81] Choukourov A and Mangolini L 2020 Special issue: plasma synthesis of nanoparticles and nanocomposite coatings *Plasma Process. Polym.* 17 e2090003
- [82] Zhang D, Li Z and Sugioka K 2021 Laser ablation in liquids for nanomaterial synthesis: diversities of targets and liquids *J. Phys. Photon.* **3** 042002
- [83] Pajootan E, Omanovic S and Coulombe S 2021 Controllable dry synthesis of binder-free nanostructured platinum electrocatalysts on multi-walled carbon nanotubes and their performance in the oxygen reduction reaction *Chem. Eng. J.* **426** 131706
- [84] Mesbah A and Graves D B 2019 Machine learning for modeling, diagnostics, and control of non-equilibrium plasmas J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 52 30LT02
- [85] Barboun P M and Hicks J C 2020 Unconventional catalytic approaches to ammonia synthesis Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng. 11 5.1–5.19
- [86] Stere C, Chansai S, Gholami R, Wangkawong K, Singhania A, Goguet A, Inceesungvorn B and Hardacre C 2020 A design of a fixed bed plasma DRIFTS cell for studying the NTP-assisted heterogeneously catalysed reactions *Catal. Sci. Technol.* **10** 1458–66
- [87] Constable D J C, Gonzalez M and Morton S A 2016 Towards more sustainable chemical engineering processes: integrating sustainable and green chemistry into the engineering design process Sustainability in the Design, Synthesis and Analysis of Chemical Engineering Processes (Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann) ed G Ruiz-Mercado and H Cabezas pp 1–34
- [88] Oehrlein G S and Hamaguchi S 2018 Foundations of low-temperature plasma enhanced materials synthesis and etching *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 27 023001
- [89] Anders A 2017 Tutorial: reactive high power impulse magnetron sputtering (R-HiPIMS) J. Appl. Phys. 2017 171101
- [90] Vardelle A, Moreau C, Themelis N J and Chazelas C 2015 A perspective on plasma spray technology *Plasma Chem. Plasma Process.* 35 491–509
- [91] Mariotti D and Sankaran R M 2011 Perspectives on atmospheric-pressure plasmas for nanofabrication J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 44 174023
- [92] ASTM International 2015 Standard Terminology for Additive Manufacturing—General Principles—Terminology (West Conshohocken: ASTM International)
- [93] Sui Y, Zorman C A and Sankaran R M 2020 Plasmas for additive manufacturing *Plasma Process. Polym.* 17 2000009
- [94] Hong J, Murphy A B, Ashford B, Cullen P J, Belmonte T and Ostrikov K 2020 Plasma-digital nexus: plasma nanotechnology for the digital manufacturing age *Rev. Mod. Plasma Phys.* 4 1

- [95] Maguire P, Rutherford D, Macias-Montero M, Mahony C, Kelsey C, Tweedie M, Perez-Martin F, McQuaid H, Diver D and Mariotti D 2017 Continuous in-flight synthesis for on-demand delivery of ligand-free colloidal gold nanoparticles *Nano Lett.* **17** 1336–43
- [96] Boulos M I 2016 The role of transport phenomena and modeling in the development of thermal plasma technology *Plasma Chem. Plasma Process.* 36 3–28
- [97] Norrish J, Polden J and Richardson I 2021 A review of wire arc additive manufacturing: development, principles, process physics, implementation and current status J. Appl. Phys. 54 473001
- [98] Song L, Huang W, Han X and Mazumder J 2017 Real-time composition monitoring using support vector regression of laser-induced plasma for laser additive manufacturing *IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron.* 64 633–42
- [99] Karniadakis G E, Kevrekidis I G, Lu L, Perdikaris P, Wang S and Yang L 2021 Physics-informed machine learning *Nat. Rev. Phys.* 3 422–40
- [100] Gunasegaram D R, Murphy A B, Barnard A, DebRoy T, Matthews M J, Ladani L and Gu D 2021 Towards developing multiscale-multiphysics models and their surrogates for digital twins of metal additive manufacturing Addit. Manuf. 46 102089
- [101] Sui Y K, Dai Y F, Liu C C, Sankaran R M and Zorman C A 2019 A new class of low-temperature plasma-activated, inorganic salt-based particle-free inks for inkjet printing metals Adv. Mater. Technol. 4 1900119
- [102] Farraj Y, Smooha A, Kamyshny A and Magdassi S 2017 Plasma-induced decomposition of copper complex ink for the formation of highly conductive copper tracks on heat-sensitive substrates ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9 8766–73
- [103] Minati L, Migliaresi C, Lunelli L, Viero G, Dalla Serra M and Speranza G 2017 *Biophys. Chem.* 229 151
- [104] Fridman G, Friedman G, Gutsol A, Shekhter A B, Vasilets V N and Fridman A 2008 *Plasma Process. Polym.* 5 503–33
- [105] Keidar M 2015 *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 24 033001
- [106] Tornin J, Labay C, Tampieri F, Ginebra M-P and Canal C 2021 Nat. Protocols 16 2826–50
- [107] Ratner B D and Latour R A 2020 *Biomaterials Science* 4th edn, ed W Wagner *et al* (New York: Academic) pp 77–82
- [108] Szili E J, Hong S-H, Oh J-S, Gaur N and Short R D 2018 Trends Biotechnol. 36 594–602
- [109] Labay C, Roldán M, Tampieri F, Stancampiano A, Escot Bocanegra P, Ginebra M-P and Canal C 2020 ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 12 47256–69
- [110] Misra N, Bhatt S, Arefi-Khonsari F and Kumar V 2021 Plasma Process. Polym. 18 e2000215
- [111] Ma C, Nikiforov A, de Geyter N, Dai X, Morent R and Ostrikov K 2021 Prog. Polym. Sci. 118 101410
- [112] Hegemann D and Gaiser S 2022 J. Appl. Phys. 55 173002
- [113] Askew H J, Jarvis K L, Jones R T and McArthur S L 2021 Macromol. Chem. Phys. 222 2100026
- [114] Alcaire M et al 2019 Langmuir 35 16876
- [115] Bülbül E, Hegemann D, Ataka K, Lehner S, Heberle J and Heuberger M 2021 *Surf. Interfaces* **23** 100922
- [116] Bekeschus S, von Woedtke T, Emmert S and Schmidt A 2021 Medical gas plasma-stimulated wound healing: evidence and mechanisms *Redox Biol.* 46 102116
- [117] von Woedtke T, Schmidt A, Bekeschus S, Wende K and Weltmann K-D 2019 Plasma medicine: a field of applied redox biology *In Vivo* 33 1011–26
- [118] Ghimire B, Szili E J, Lamichhane P, Short R D, Lim J S, Attri P, Masur K, Weltmann K-D, Hong S-H and Choi E H 2019 The role of UV photolysis and molecular transport in

the generation of reactive species in a tissue model with a cold atmospheric pressure plasma jet *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **114** 093701

- [119] Dubuc A, Monsarrat P, Virard F, Merbahi N, Sarrette J-P J-P, Laurencin-Dalicieux S and Cousty S 2018 Use of cold-atmospheric plasma in oncology: a concise systematic review *Ther. Adv. Med. Oncol.* 10 1–12
- [120] Simoncelli E, Stancampiano A, Boselli M, Gherardi M and Colombo V 2019 Experimental investigation on the influence of target physical properties on an impinging plasma jet *Plasma* 2 369–79
- [121] Robert E et al 2013 Perspectives of endoscopic plasma applications Clin. Plasma Med. 1 8–16
- [122] Smolková B, Frtús A, Uzhytchak M, Lunova M, Kubinová Š, Dejneka A and Lunov O 2020 Critical analysis of non-thermal plasma-driven modulation of immune cells from clinical perspective *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21 6226
- [123] Mohamed H, Esposito R A, Kutzler M A, Wigdahl B, Krebs F C and Miller V 2020 Nonthermal plasma as part of a novel strategy for vaccination *Plasma Process. Polym.* 17 e2000051
- [124] Song C, Attri P, Ku S, Han I, Bogaerts A and Choi E H 2021 Cocktail of reactive species generated by cold atmospheric plasma: oral administration induces non-small cell lung cancer cell death J. Appl. Phys. 54 185202
- [125] Tanaka H, Bekeschus S, Yan D, Hori M, Keidar M and Laroussi M 2021 Plasma-treated solutions (PTS) in cancer therapy *Cancers* 13 1737
- [126] Bogaerts A, Khosravian N, van der Paal J, Verlackt C C W, Yusupov M, Kamaraj B and Neyts E C 2016 Multi-level molecular modelling for plasma medicine J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 49 054002
- [127] Lin L and Keidar M 2021 A map of control for cold atmospheric plasma jets: from physical mechanisms to optimizations *Appl. Phys. Rev.* 8 011306
- [128] Bonzanini A D, Shao K, Stancampiano A, Graves D B and Mesbah A 2021 Perspectives on machine learning-assisted plasma medicine: towards automated plasma treatment *IEEE Trans. Radiat. Plasma Med. Sci.* 6 16–32
- [129] Arumugam R 2020 Electrochemical sensors and biosensors for redox analytes implicated in oxidative stress: review *Int. J. Electrochem. Sci.* 15 7064–81
- [130] Worldometers.info 2021 Dover, DE (available at: www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/) (Accessed 11 August 2021)
- [131] Zhou F et al 2020 Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study Lancet 395 1054–62
- [132] Block S S 2001 *Disinfection, Sterilization, and Preservation* (Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins)
- [133] Sakudo S 2011 Fundamentals of prions and their inactivation (review) Int. J. Mol. Med. 27 483–9
- [134] Sakudo A, Shimizu N, Imanishi Y and Ikuta K 2013 N<sub>2</sub> gas plasma inactivates influenza virus by inducing changes in viral surface morphology, protein, and genomic RNA *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2013 694269
- [135] Chen Z, Garcia G, Arumugaswami V and Wirz R E 2020 Cold atmospheric plasma for SARS-CoV-2 inactivation *Phys. Fluids* **32** 111702
- [136] Bisag A et al 2020 Cold atmospheric plasma inactivation of aerosolized microdroplets containing bacteria and purified SARS-CoV-2 RNA to contrast airborne indoor transmission Plasma Process. Polym. 17 2000154
- [137] Nayak G, Andrews A J, Marabella I, Aboubakr H A, Goyal S M, Olson B A, Torremorell M and Bruggeman P J 2020 Rapid inactivation of airborne porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus using an atmospheric pressure air plasma *Plasma Process. Polym.* 17 1900269

- [138] Mohamed H, Nayak G, Rendine N, Wigdahl B, Krebs F C, Bruggeman P J and Miller V 2021 Non-thermal plasma as a novel strategy for treating or preventing viral infection and associated disease *Front. Phys.* 9 683118
- [139] Filatova I, Lyushkevich V, Goncharik S, Zhukovsky A, Krupenko N and Kalatskaja J 2020 The effect of low-pressure plasma treatment of seeds on the plant resistance to pathogens and crop yields *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.* 53 244001
- [140] Ivankov A *et al* 2021 Changes in agricultural performance of common buckwheat induced by seed treatment with cold plasma and electromagnetic field *Appl. Sci.* 11 4391
- [141] Puač N, Škoro N, Spasić K, Živković S, Milutinović M, Malović G and Petrović Z L 2018 Activity of catalase enzyme in *Paulownia tomentosa* seeds during the process of germination after treatments with low pressure plasma and plasma activated water *Plasma Process. Polym.* 15 e1700082
- [142] Puač N, Gherardi M and Shiratani M 2018 Plasma agriculture: a rapidly emerging field *Plasma Process*. *Polym.* 15 1700174
- [143] Ito M, Oh J-S, Ohta T, Shiratani M and Hori M 2018 Current status and future prospects of agricultural applications using atmospheric-pressure plasma technologies *Plasma Process. Polym.* **15** 1700073
- [144] Laroussi M, Lu X and Keidar M 2017 Perspective: the physics, diagnostics, and applications of atmospheric pressure low temperature plasma sources used in plasma medicine J. Appl. Phys. 122 020901
- [145] Hu X, Zhang Y, Wu R A, Liao X Y, Liu D H, Cullen P J, Zhou R-W and Ding T 2022 Diagnostic analysis of reactive species in plasma-activated water (PAW): current advances and outlooks J. Appl. Phys. 55 023002
- [146] Guo D M, Liu H X, Zhou L, Xie J Z and He C 2021
   Plasma-activated water production and its application in agriculture J. Sci. Food Agric. 101 4891–9
- [147] Moldgy A, Aboubakr H, Nayak G, Goyal S and Bruggeman P 2020 Comparative evaluation of the virucidal effect of remote and direct cold air plasmas with UV-C Plasma Process. Polym. 17 e1900234
- [148] Misra N N, Yadav B, Roopesh M S and Jo C 2019 Cold plasma for effective fungal and mycotoxin control in foods: mechanisms, inactivation effects, and applications *Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf.* 18 106–20
- [149] Cherkasov N, Ibhadon A O and Fitzpatrick P 2015 A review of the existing and alternative methods for greener nitrogen fixation *Chem. Eng. Process.* **90** 24–33
- [150] Britun N, Gamaleev V and Hori M 2021 Evidence of near-the-limit energy cost NO formation in atmospheric spark discharge *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* **30** 08LT02
- [151] Suriyasak C, Hatanaka K, Tanaka H, Okumura T, Yamashita D, Attri P, Koga K, Shiratani M, Hamaoka N and Ishibashi Y 2021 Alterations of DNA methylation caused by cold plasma treatment restore delayed germination of heat-stressed rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) seeds J. Agric. Sci. Technol. 1 5–10
- [152] Teng C and Li J 2020 Experimental study on particle removal of a wet electrostatic precipitator with atomization of charged water drops *Energy Fuels* 34 7257–68
- [153] Buggisch J R, Göhler D, Le Pape A, Roger S, Ouaissi M, Stintz M, Rudolph A and Giger-Pabst U 2020 Experimental model to test electrostatic precipitation technology in the COVID-19 era: a pilot study J. Am. Coll. Surg. 231 704–12
- [154] Homola T, Pongrác B, Zemánek M and Šimek M 2019 Efficiency of ozone production in coplanar dielectric barrier discharge *Plasma Chem. Plasma Process.* 39 1227–42

- [155] Bogaerts A et al 2020 The 2020 plasma catalysis roadmap J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 53 443001
- [156] Byeon Y-S, Hong E J, Yoo S, Lho T, Yoon S-Y, Kim S B, Yoo S J and Ryu S 2017 Ballast water treatment test at pilot-scale using an underwater capillary discharge device *Plasma Chem. Plasma Process.* 37 1405–16
- [157] Montazersadgh F, Wright A, Ren J, Shaw A, Neretti G, Bandulasena H and Iza F 2019 Influence of the on-time on the ozone production in pulsed dielectric barrier discharges *Plasma* 2 39–50
- [158] Park S, Kim J, Lee H, Han D, Park S, Kim S B and Choe W 2021 Nonheating ozone suppression in pulsed air discharges: role of pulse duration and repetition rate J. Appl. Phys. 54 394003–11
- [159] Seyrling S, Reisch E and Ramoino L 2018 Characterization of the ozone zero phenomenon by infrared spectroscopy *Ozone: Sci. Eng.* 40 356–60
- [160] Kim H H et al 2021 Interim report of plasma catalysis: footprints in the past and blueprints for the future Int. J. Plasma Environ. Sci. Technol. 15 e01004
- [161] Scapinello M, Delikonstantis E and Stefanidis G D 2017 The panorama of plasma-assisted non-oxidative methane reforming *Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif.* 117 120
- [162] Snoeckx R and Bogaerts A 2017 Plasma technology—a novel solution for CO<sub>2</sub> conversion? *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 46 5805–63
- [163] Hong J, Prawer S and Murphy A B 2018 Plasma catalysis as an alternative route for ammonia production: status, mechanisms, and prospects for progress ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 6 15–31
- [164] Mehta P, Barboun P, Go D B, Hicks J C and Schneider W F 2019 Catalysis enabled by plasma activation of strong chemical bonds: a review ACS Energy Lett. 4 1115–33
- [165] Winter L R and Chen J G 2021 N<sub>2</sub> fixation by plasma-activated processes *Joule* 5 1–16
- [166] Rouwenhorst K H R, Jardali F, Bogaerts A and Lefferts L 2021 From the Birkeland-Eyde process towards energy-efficient plasma-based NO<sub>x</sub> synthesis: a techno-economic analysis *Energy Environ. Sci.* 14 2520–34
- [167] Fridman A 2008 Plasma Chemistry (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press)
- [168] van de Steeg A W, Viegas P, Silva A, Butterworth T, van Bavel A P, Smits J, Diomede P, van de Sanden M C M and van Rooij G J 2021 Redefining the microwave plasma-mediated CO<sub>2</sub> reduction efficiency limit: the role of O–CO<sub>2</sub> association ACS Energy Lett.
  6 2876–81
- [169] Mehta P, Barboun P, Herrera F A, Kim J, Rumbach P, Go D B, Hicks J C and Schneider W F 2018 Overcoming ammonia synthesis scaling relations with plasma-enabled catalysis *Nat. Catal.* 1 269
- [170] Rouwenhorst K H R, Kim H-H and Lefferts L 2019 Vibrationally excited activation of N<sub>2</sub> in plasma-enhanced catalytic ammonia synthesis: a kinetic analysis ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 7 17515–22
- [171] Ronda-Lloret M, Wang Y, Oulego P, Rothenberg G, Tu X and Raveendran Shiju N 2020 CO<sub>2</sub> hydrogenation at atmospheric pressure and low temperature using plasma-enhanced catalysis over supported cobalt oxide catalysts ACS Sustain. Chem. Eng. 8 17397–407
- [172] Patel H, Sharma R K, Kyriakou V, Pandiyan A, Welzel S, van de Sanden M C M and Tsampas M N 2019 Plasma activated electrolysis for cogeneration of nitric oxide and hydrogen from water and nitrogen ACS Energy Lett. 4 2091–5
- [173] Liu P, Liu X, Shen J, Yin Y, Yang T, Huang Q, Auerbach D and Kleiyn A 2019 CO<sub>2</sub> conversion by thermal plasma

with carbon as reducing agent: high CO yield and energy efficiency *Plasma Sci. Technol.* **21** 012001

- [174] Hawtof R, Ghosh S, Guarr E, Xu C, Sankaran R M and Renner J N 2019 Sci. Adv. 5 eaat5778
- [175] Lev D R, Mikellides I G, Pedrini D, Goebel D M, Jorns B A and McDonald M S 2019 Recent progress in research and development of hollow cathodes for electric propulsion *Rev. Mod. Plasma Phys.* 3 6
- [176] Vialis T, Jarrige J, Aanesland A and Packan D 2018 Direct thrust measurement of an electron cyclotron resonance plasma thruster J. Propuls. Power 34 1323
- [177] Levchenko I, Xu S, Mazouffre S, Lev D, Pedrini D, Goebel D, Garrigues L, Taccogna F and Bazaka K 2020 Perspectives, frontiers, and new horizons for plasma-based space electric propulsion *Phys. Plasmas* 27 020601
- [178] Kaganovich I *et al* 2020 Physics of E × B discharges relevant to plasma propulsion and similar technologies *Phys. Plasmas* 27 120601
- [179] Hara K 2019 An overview of discharge plasma modeling for Hall effect thrusters *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 28 044001
- [180] Taccogna F and Garrigues L 2019 Latest progress in Hall thrusters plasma modelling *Rev. Mod. Plasma Phys.* 3 12
- [181] Dietz P, Gärtner W, Koch Q, Köhler P E, Teng Y, Schreiner P R, Holste K and Klar P J 2019 Molecular propellants for ion thrusters *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 28 084001
- [182] Schonherr T, Kimiya Komurasaki K, Romano F, Massuti-Ballester B and Georg Herdrich G 2015 Analysis of atmosphere-breathing electric propulsion *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* **43** 287
- [183] Reza M, Faraji F and Andreussi T 2021 Characterization of a high-power Hall thruster operation in direct-drive Acta Astronaut. 178 392
- [184] Lafleur T, Baalrud S D and Chabert P 2016 Theory for the anomalous electron transport in Hall effect thrusters. II. Kinetic model *Phys. Plasmas* 23 053503
- [185] Charoy T et al 2019 Axial-azimuthal particle-in-cell benchmark for low-temperature partially magnetized plasmas Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 28 105010
- [186] Villafana W *et al* 2021 2D radial-azimuthal particle-in-cell benchmark for E×B discharges *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* **30** 075002
- [187] Wei L-Q, Li W-B, Ding Y-J, Zhu X-M, Wang Y-F, Hu J-F, Yan S-L and Yu D-R 2018 A photographic method for in-orbit measurement of electron temperature distribution in the plume of Hall thrusters *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 27 084002
- [188] Jorns B 2018 Predictive, data-driven model for the anomalous electron collision frequency in a Hall effect thruster *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 27 104007
- [189] Sánchez-Villar Á, Zhou J, Ahedo E and Merino M 2021 Coupled plasma transport and electromagnetic wave simulation of an ECR thruster *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* **30** 045005
- [190] Ju Y and Sun W 2015 Plasma assisted combustion: dynamics and chemistry Prog. Energy Combust. Sci. 48 21
- [191] Popov N A 2016 Kinetics of plasma-assisted combustion: effect of non-equilibrium excitation on the ignition and oxidation of combustible mixtures *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* **31** 043002
- [192] von Kármán T 1953 Aerothermodynamics and combustion theory L'Aerotecnica 33 80–86
- [193] Jans E R, Yang X, Jones I W, Miller T A, Stanton J F and Adamovich I V 2022 Time-Resolved measurements of HO<sub>2</sub> radical in a heated plasma flow reactor *Combustion* and Flame 214 112097
- [194] Savee J D, Papajak E, Rotavera B, Huang H F, Eskola A J, Welz O, Sheps L, Taatjes C A, Zador J and Osborn D L

2015 Direct observation and kinetics of a

hydroperoxyalkyl radical (QOOH) Science 347 643

- [195] Boyd I D and Josyula E 2021 Analysis of associative ionization rates for hypersonic flows J. Thermophys. Heat Transfer 35 484
- [196] Hanquist K M, Hara K and Boyd I D 2017 Detailed modeling of electron emission for transpiration cooling of hypersonic vehicles J. Appl. Phys. 121 053302
- [197] Valentini P, Schwartzentruber T E, Bender J D, Nompelis I and Candler G V 2015 Direct molecular simulation of nitrogen dissociation based on an *ab initio* potential energy surface *Phys. Fluids* 27 086102
- [198] Bahrini C, Morajkar P, Schoemaecker C, Frottier O, Herbinet O, Glaude P-A, Battin-Leclerc F and Fittschen C 2013 Experimental and modeling study of the oxidation of n-butane in a jet stirred reactor using cw-CRDS measurements *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* **15** 19686
- [199] Jans E R, Gulko I, van den Bekerom D C M, Miller T A and Adamovich I V 2022 Measurements of metastable  $N_2(A^3\Sigma_u^+,v)$  molecules in nonequilibrium supersonic flows J. Thermophys. Heat Transfer **36** 196
- [200] Kurimoto N, Brumfield B, Yang X, Wada T, Dievart P, Wysocki G and Ju Y 2015 Quantitative measurements of HO<sub>2</sub>/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and intermediate species in low and intermediate temperature oxidation of dimethyl ether *Proc. Combust. Inst.* **35** 457
- [201] Tibère-Inglesse A C, McGuire S D, Mariotto P and Laux C O 2021 Experimental study of recombining nitrogen plasmas. Part II: electronic population distributions and nonequilibrium radiation of atoms *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* **30** 125020
- [202] del Val A, Le Maître O, Magin T, Chazot O and Congedo P 2022 A surrogate-based optimal likelihood function for the Bayesian calibration of catalytic recombination in atmospheric entry protection materials *Appl. Math. Modelling* **101** 791
- [203] Bariselli F, Frezzotti A, Hubin A and Magin T E 2020 Aerothermodynamic modelling of meteor entry flows Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 492 2308–25
- [204] Ikeda Y 2020 Plasma-assisted combustion in automobile engines using semiconductor-oscillated microwave discharge igniters *RF Power Semiconductor Generator Application in Heating and Energy Utilization* ed S Horikoshi and N Serpone (Singapore: Springer Nature) pp 195–216
- [205] Sreenivasan M, Krishna R, Skulskyi M and Lyutyk M 2020 Opportunities and challenges for radio frequency plasma spheroidized nanocrystalline powders in additive manufacturing *Mater. Today: Proc.* 33 1021–5
- [206] Ponelis A A and van der Walt I J 2003 Plasma conversion of fluorocarbon waste materials to useful products *Int. Symp. Plasma Chemistry, Proc.* vol 16
- [207] Komen H, Shigeta M, Tanaka M, Abe Y, Fujimoto T, Nakatani M and Murphy A B 2021 Numerical investigation of heat transfer during submerged arc welding phenomena by coupled DEM-ISPH simulation *Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer* 171 121062
- [208] Zhang B, Xiong J, Chen L, Li X and Murphy A B 2020 Fundamental physicochemical properties of SF<sub>6</sub>-alternative gases: a review of recent progress J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 53 173001
- [209] Chen L, Zhang B, Xiong J, Li X and Murphy A B 2019 Decomposition mechanism and kinetics of iso-C4 perfluoronitrile (C<sub>4</sub>F<sub>7</sub>N) plasmas J. Appl. Phys. 126 163303
- [210] Chachereau A, Hösl A and Franck C M 2018 Electrical insulation properties of the perfluoronitrile C<sub>4</sub>F<sub>7</sub>N J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. **51** 495201

- [211] Ranković M, Chalabala J, Zawadzki M, Kočišek J, Slavíček P and Fedor J 2019 Dissociative ionization dynamics of dielectric gas C<sub>3</sub>F<sub>7</sub>CN *Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys.* 21 16451
- [212] Liu J, Zhang Q, Yan J D, Zhong J and Fang M T C 2016 Analysis of the characteristics of DC nozzle arcs in air and guidance for the search of SF<sub>6</sub> replacement gas *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.* **49** 43520
- [213] Hrabovsky M and van der Walt I J 2017 Plasma waste destruction *Handbook of Thermal Science and Engineering* ed F A Kulacki (Cham: Springer International Publishing AG) pp 2829–84
- [214] Tanaka Y, Fujino T and Iwao T 2019 Review of thermal plasma simulation technique *IEEJ Trans. Elect. Electron. Eng.* 14 1582–94
- [215] Yokomizu Y, Sato M, Kodama N, Edo T and Kokura K 2020 Chemical species produced in arc quenching gas CO<sub>2</sub>/O<sub>2</sub> mixed with C<sub>3</sub>H<sub>2</sub>F<sub>4</sub>, C4-FN or C5-FK: prevention of condensed phase carbon formation and its formulation *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.* **53** 145202
- [216] Tomita K, Gojima D, Shimizu T, Uchino K, Nakano T, Tanaka Y, Suzuki K, Iijima T and Shinkai T 2015 Thomson scattering diagnostics of SF<sub>6</sub> gas-blasted arcs confined by a nozzle under free-recovery conditions *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.* 48 265201
- [217] Jain A *et al* 2013 Commentary: the materials project: a materials genome approach to accelerating materials innovation *APL Mater.* **1** 011002
- [218] Glebov A L, Mokhuna O, Rapaport A, Vergnole S, Smirnov V and Glebov L B 2012 Proc. SPIE 8428 84280C
- [219] Ando A, Kitahara H, Kurose T, Kitano K, Takano K, Tani M, Hangyo M and Hamaguchi S 2010 J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 227 012016
- [220] Meier S M, Hecimovic A, Tsankov T V, Luggenhölscher D and Czarnetzki U 2018 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 27 035006
- [221] Dogariu A, Goldberg B M, O'Byrne S and Miles R B 2017 Phys. Rev. Appl. 7 024024
- [222] Gerakis A, Yeh Y-W, Shneider M N, Mitrani J M, Stratton B C and Raitses Y 2018 Phys. Rev. Appl. 9 014031
- [223] Wang J, Simeni M S, Rong M and Bruggeman P J 2021 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 30 075016
- [224] Pai D Z 2021 J. Appl. Phys. 54 355201
- [225] Hara K and Tsikata S 2020 Phys. Rev. E 102 023202
- [226] Anders A 2012 Appl. Phys. Lett. 100 224104
- [227] Garrigues L, Tezenas du Montcel B, Fubiani G, Bertomeu F, Deluzet F and Narski J 2021 J. Appl. Phys. 129 153303
- [228] Kates-Harbeck J, Svyatkovskiy A and Tang W 2019 Nature 568 526
- [229] Hargis P J Jr. et al 1994 Rev. Sci. Instrum. 65 140
- [230] Golda J et al 2016 J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 49 084003
- [231] National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2021 Plasma Science: Enabling Technology, Sustainability, Security, and Exploration (Washington, DC: The National Academies Press) (https://doi.org/ 10.17226/25802)
- [232] Stokes P W, Simonović I, Philippa B, Cocks D, Dujko S and White R D 2018 Third-order transport coefficients for localised and delocalised charged-particle transport Sci. Rep. 8 2226
- [233] Baalrud S D, Scheiner B, Yee B, Hopkins M M and Barnat E 2020 Interaction of biased electrodes and plasmas: sheaths, double layers, and fireballs *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 29 053001
- [234] Czarnetzki U 2013 Analytical model for the radio-frequency sheath Phys. Rev. E 88 063101

- [235] Brinkmann R P 2016 Electron heating in capacitively coupled RF plasmas: a unified scenario *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 25 014001
- [236] Bronold F X, Rasek K and Fehske H 2020 Electron microphysics at plasma–solid interfaces J. Appl. Phys. 128 180908
- [237] Turner M M 2017 Computer simulation in low-temperature plasma physics: future challenges *Plasma Process. Polym.* 14 1600121
- [238] Hartmann P et al 2020 Charged particle dynamics and distribution functions in low pressure dual-frequency capacitively coupled plasmas operated at low frequencies and high voltages Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 29 075014
- [239] Juhasz Z, Durian J, Derzsi A, Matejcik Š, Donkó Z and Hartmann: P 2021 Efficient GPU implementation of the particle-in-cell/Monte-Carlo collisions method for 1D simulation of low-pressure capacitively coupled plasmas *Comput. Phys. Commun.* 263 107913
- [240] Alvarez Laguna A, Pichard T, Magin T, Chabert P, Bourdon A and Massot M 2020 An asymptotic preserving well-balanced scheme for the isothermal fluid equations in low-temperature plasmas at low-pressure J. Comput. Phys. 419 109634
- [241] Bagheri B *et al* 2018 Comparison of six simulation codes for positive streamers in air *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 27 095002
- [242] Powis A T and Shneider M N 2018 Particle-in-cell modeling of laser Thomson scattering in low-density plasmas at elevated laser intensities *Phys. Plasmas* 25 053513
- [243] Carbone E, Graef W, Hagelaar G, Boer D, Hopkins M M, Stephens J C, Yee B T, Pancheshnyi S, van Dijk J and Pitchford L 2021 Data needs for modeling low-temperature non-equilibrium plasmas: the LXCat project, history, perspectives and a tutorial Atoms 9 16
- [244] Gasvoda R J, van de Steeg A W, Bhowmick R, Hudson E A and Agarwal S 2017 Surface phenomena during plasma-assisted atomic layer etching of SiO<sub>2</sub> ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 9 31067
- [245] Neyts E C and Bogaerts A 2014 Understanding plasma catalysis through modelling and simulation—a review J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 47 224010
- [246] Kushner M J 2009 Hybrid modelling of low temperature plasmas for fundamental investigations and equipment design J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 42 194013
- [247] Ramalingam S, Sriraman S, Aydil E S and Maroudas D 2001 Evolution of structure, morphology, and reactivity of hydrogenated amorphous silicon film surfaces grown by molecular-dynamics simulation Appl. Phys. Lett. 78 2685
- [248] Walch S P, Ramalingam S, Sriraman S, Aydil E S and Maroudas D 2001 Mechanism and energetics of SiH<sub>3</sub> adsorption on the pristine Si(001) - (2  $\times$  1) surface *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **344** 249
- [249] Ovanesyan R A, Filatova E A, Elliott S D, Hausmann D M, Smith D C and Agarwal S 2019 Atomic layer deposition of silicon-based dielectrics for semiconductor manufacturing: current status and future outlook J. Vacuum Sci. Technol. A 37 22
- [250] Li L, Liu X, Pal S, Wang S L, Ober C K and Giannelis E P 2017 Extreme ultraviolet resist materials for sub-7 nm patterning *Chem. Soc. Rev.* 46 4855
- [251] Neyts E C, Ostrikov K, Sunkara M K and Bogaerts A 2015 Plasma catalysis: synergistic effects at the nanoscale *Chem. Rev.* 115 13408
- [252] Simeni M S, Baratte E, Zhang C, Frederickson K and Adamovich I V 2018 Electric field measurements in nanosecond pulse discharges in air over liquid water surface *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 27 015011
- [253] Viegas P, Slikboer E, Obrusnik A, Bonaventura Z, Sobota A, Garcia-Caurel E, Guaitella O and Bourdon A 2018 Investigation of a plasma-target interaction through

electric field characterization examining surface and volume charge contributions: modeling and experiment *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* **27** 094002

- [254] Gibson A R, Foucher M, Marinov D, Chabert P, Gans T, Kushner M J and Booth J-P 2017 The role of thermal energy accommodation and atomic recombination probabilities in low pressure oxygen plasmas *Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion* **59** 024004
- [255] Kruszelnicki J, Ma R and Kushner M J 2021 Propagation of atmospheric pressure plasmas through interconnected pores in dielectric materials J. Appl. Phys. 129 143302
- [256] Tennyson J et al 2017 QDB: a new database of plasma chemistries and reactions Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 26 055014
- [257] Celiberto R *et al* 2016 Atomic and molecular data for spacecraft re-entry plasmas *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 25 033004
- [258] Albert D et al 2020 A decade with VAMDC: results and ambitions Atoms 8 76
- [259] INPTDAT The Data Platform for Plasma Technology 2021 (available at: www.inptdat.de/)
- [260] Bartschat K 2018 Electron collisions—experiment, theory, and applications J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 51 132001
- [261] Slaughter D S, Belkacem A, McCurdy C W, Rescigno T N and Haxton D J 2016 Ion-momentum imaging of dissociative attachment of electrons to molecules J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys. 49 222001
- [262] Pietanza L D et al 2021 Advances in non-equilibrium CO<sub>2</sub> plasma kinetics: a theoretical and experimental review Eur. Phys. J. D 75 237
- [263] Starikovskaia S, Lacoste D A and Colonna G 2021 Non-equilibrium plasma for ignition and combustion enhancement *Eur. Phys. J.* D 75 231
- [264] Šimek M and Homola T 2021 Plasma-assisted agriculture: history, presence, and prospects—a review *Eur. Phys. J.* D 75 210
- [265] Koelman P, Yordanova D, Graef W, Mousavi S T and van Dijk J 2019 Uncertainty analysis with a reduced set of input uncertainties selected using pathway analysis *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 28 075009
- [266] Kushner M J *et al* 2022 Foundations on plasma standards *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* (in preparation)
- [267] Hey T, Tansley S and Tolle K 2009 The Fourth Paradigm Data-Intensive Scientific Discovery (Redmond, WA: Microsoft Research)
- [268] Green M L et al 2017 Appl. Phys. Rev. 4 011105
- [269] Ramprasad R, Batra R, Pilania G, Mannodi-Kanakkithodi A and Kim C 2017 npj Comput. Mater. 3 54
- [270] Park S et al 2020 Phys. Plasmas 27 083507
- [271] Stokes P W, Cocks D G, Brunger M J and White R D 2020 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 29 055009
- [272] Kino H, Ikuse K, Dam H-C and Hamaguchi S 2021 Phys. Plasmas 28 013504
- [273] Yamamura Y and Tawara H 1996 At. Data Nucl. Data Tables 62 149
- [274] GPR-based Sputtering Yield Prediction 2021 (available at: www.camt.eng.osaka-u.ac.jp/hamaguchi/SY/)
- [275] Krüger F, Gergs T and Trieschmann J 2019 Plasma Sources Sci. Technol. 28 035002
- [276] Gergs T, Borislavov B and Trieschmann J 2022 J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B 40 012802
- [277] Diaw A et al 2020 Phys. Rev. E 102 023310
- [278] van de Plassche K L, Citrin J, Bourdelle C, Camenen Y, Casson F J, Dagnelie V I, Felici F, Ho A and van Mulders S 2020 Phys. Plasmas 27 022310
- [279] Zhong L, Gu Q and Wu B 2020 Comput. Phys. Commun. 257 107496
- [280] Ludwig A 2019 npj Comput. Mater. 5 70
- [281] Franke S, Paulet L, Schäfer J, O'Connell D and Becker M M 2020 Sci. Data 7 1